# Fighting Stress With AI, Positive Psychology, and Persuasive Technology

By

Joseph Ufiem Orji

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Computer Science

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia July 2023

© Copyright by Joseph Ufiem Orji, 2023

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTSi
LIST OF TABLESv
LIST OF FIGURESi
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED xi
ABSTRACTxii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
Chapter 1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 The Problem
1.2 Motivation
1.3 Solution
1.4 Contribution
1.5 Overview of Thesis
Chapter 2 : BACKGROUND AND LITERATURE REVIEW10
2.1 Persuasive Strategies
2.2 Technologies
2.3 Approach employed to promote positive feeling14
2.3.1 Diagnosis15
2.3.2 Educating Users
2.3.3 Gamification22
2.3.4 Guided Meditation23
2.3.5 Journaling/Mood Tracking2
2.3.6 Social Support27
Chapter 3 : SMILEAPP DESIGN METHODOLOGY
3.1 Underlying Theories and Models
3.1.1 Flow Theory
3.1.2 PERMA Model
3.1.3 PSD model

3.2 Intervention Design and Implementation	
3.2.1 SmileApp Design Considerations	32
3.2.2 SmileApp Development Tools	33
3.3 SmileApp Architecture	34
3.3.1 Backend Architecture	35
3.3.2 Frontend Architecture	37
3.4 Deconstructing the SmileApp Functionalities	
3.4.1 SmileApp Persuasive Strategies	40
3.4.2 SmileApp Features	41
Chapter 4 : SMILEAPP EVALUATION	51
4.1 Materials and Procedures	51
4.1.1 The Pilot Study	51
4.1.2 The Main Study	53
4.2 Participant Recruitment	53
4.2.1 Participants onboarding	54
4.2.2 Participants Activities	55
4.3 Research Questions and Measures	58
4.3.1 Dependent Variables	59
4.3.2 Data Analysis	62
Chapter 5 : STUDY RESULTS	65
5.1 Demographics	66
5.2 Quantitative Analysis	67
5.2.1 Perceived Happiness Level	69
5.2.2 Perceived Social Connectedness	73
5.2.3 SmileApp Effect on Participant's Negative and Positive Affect	77
5.2.4 Perceived Usability, Engagement and Aesthetic Appeal of the SmileApp	83
5.2.5 Motivation for prolonged use of the SmileApp	86

5.2.6 Perceived Persuasiveness of the SmileApp	88
5.2.7 Impact and Usage of SmileApp across demographic factors	90
5.3 Qualitative Analysis	96
5.3.1 SmileApp: An Innovative and Interesting Way to Make People Smile	97
5.3.2 Stress-Relieving Source	99
5.3.3 Mood Enhancement and Motivation to Smile	100
5.3.4 SmileApp was Intuitive and Aesthetically Appealing	102
5.3.5 Enduring Engagement: A Long-Term Connection with the App Beyond Study	104
5.3.6 Suggested Improvement	105
Chapter 6 : DISCUSSION	107
6.1 The SmileApp design and evaluation	107
6.2 Insights from SmileApp evaluation: Key Findings and Implications	
6.2.1 Impact of SmileApp on eliciting positive mood	108
6.2.2 The Usability of SmileApp in Fostering Positive Mood	109
6.2.3 Impact of SmileApp in Promoting Social Connectivity	110
6.2.4 Continued use of the SmileApp	110
6.2.5 Persuasiveness of SmileApp.	111
6.2.6 Summary	112
6.3 Research Contributions and Recommendations	
6.4 Recommendations	114
Chapter 7 : LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE WORK	118
7.1 Future Work	
Chapter 8 : CONCLUSION	122
REFERENCES	124
APPENDICES	
Appendix A: Recruitment Notice	
APPENDIX B - Consent Form for the Survey	

Signature	145
APPENDIX C: Consent Form For The Optional One-On-One Interview	146
Participant	
Appendix D : Demographic Questionnaire	150
Appendix E: Oxford Happiness Questionnaire (OHQ) [145] (Happiness measurement scale)	151
Appendix F: Social Connectedness Scale [146]	154
Appendix G: Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS-SF) [147]	
Appendix H: System Usability Scale (SUS) [139]	156
Appendix I: User Engagement Scale (UES-SF) Short form [148]	
Appendix J: Intrinsic Motivation Inventory (Value/Usefulness) [149]	
Appendix K : Future intention questionnaire [193]	
Appendix L: Persuasive Scale [194]	
Appendix M: Interview Questions Guide	
Appendix N: Brief Mood Introspection Scale. [150]	
Appendix O: Social Media recruitment Material	
Appendix P: Screening Questions	
Appendix Q: MyTribe Feature	
Appendix R: SmileGram Feature	
Appendix S: PocketBuddy Feature	
Appendix T: Feature Rating	
Appendix U: Features Instructions	
Appendix V: Ethics Approval	174

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Summary of Gamified Interventions. 22
Table 4.1 Instruments used. 58
Table 4.2 Instrument used and analyses conducted. 63
Table 5.1 Cronbach's alpha for all scales used in the study. 65
Table 5.2 Frequency and percentage of the demographics of the study population
Table 5.3 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Shapiro-Wilk test (M= Mean,
SD= Standard 83 Deviation, W= Statistics, df = degrees of freedom, p = Significant value), N=
101, 87(for BMIS) for OHQ, SCS, PANAS-SF and BMIS
Table 5.4 Summary results of the descriptive statistics of the One-sample t-test (N= Sample Size,
SD= Standard Deviation) for SUS, UES-SF, IMI, FIS, PS
Table 5.5 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD=
Standard Deviation) for OHQ Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who spent more than
the average time on the SmileApp71
Table 5.6 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-ranked test (SD
= Standard Deviation) for OHQ Pre - and Post-intervention for participants who spent less than
the average time on the SmileApp71
Table 5.7 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD=
Standard Deviation) for OHQ Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who smiled more than
the average Smile duration of all participants72
Table 5.8 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD=
Standard Deviation) for OHQ Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who smiled less than
the average Smile duration of all participants72
Table 5.9 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD=
Standard Deviation) for SCS Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who spent more than
the average time on the SmileApp75
Table 5.10 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD=
Standard Deviation) for SCS Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who spent less than the
average time on the SmileApp

Table 5.11 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD=
Standard Deviation) for SCS Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who smiled more than
the average Smile duration
Table 5.12 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD=
Standard Deviation) for SCS Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who smiled less than
the average Smile duration
Table 5.13 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD=
Standard Deviation) for PANAS-SF Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who spent more
than the average time on the SmileApp
Table 5.14 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD=
Standard Deviation) for PANAS-SF Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who spent less
than the average time on the SmileApp
Table 5.15 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD=
Standard Deviation) for PANAS-SF Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who smiled
more than the average Smile duration
Table 5.16 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD=
Standard Deviation) for PANAS-SF Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who smiled less
than the average Smile duration
Table 5.17 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD=
Standard Deviation) for BMIS Pre - and -Post-intervention
Table 5.18 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and one-sample t-test (SD= Standard
Deviation) for SUS
Table 5.19 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and one-sample t-test (SD= Standard
Deviation) for UEQ
Table 5.20 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and one-sample t-test (SD= Standard
Deviation) for FIS and IMI
Table 5.21 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and one-sample t-test (SD= Standard
Deviation) for persuasive scale
Table 5.22 RM-ANOVA table (a within – and between-subject design) for persuasiveness and
demographic factors

Table 5.23 Repeated measure ANOVA results for subjective measures and demographic	
characteristics	93
Table 5.24 Descriptive statistics of the level of education before and after the intervention	95
Table 5.25 Descriptive statistics for demographic characteristics with respect to mood as	
evaluated by the PANAS and BMIS	96

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Study Identification Papers	. 11
Figure 2.2 Percentage of Persuasive Strategies employed in mood regulation studies from the	
literature reviewed (N =37)	. 13
Figure 2.3Percentage of technology used from the literature reviewed ( $N = 37$ )	. 14
Figure 3.1 High-level System Architecture of SmileApp	. 35
Figure 3.2 SmileApp Frontend Components.	. 38
Figure 3.3 SmileApp Home Screen	. 39
Figure 3.4 The SmileGram Feature: Letters A-G represent components of this feature	. 42
Figure 3.5 Pocket Buddy	. 44
Figure 3.6 MyTribe Feature logic flow diagram.	. 46
Figure 3.7 MyTribe Feature Screenshots: Letters A-G represent each step in this feature	. 46
Figure 3.8 Leaderboard	. 48
Figure 3.9 SmileMap	. 49
Figure 3.10 Smile Fun-Facts	. 50
Figure 4.1 Pilot study SUS score. (M = 82.1, SD = 10.6)	. 52
Figure 4.2 Participants' onboarding process.	. 57
Figure 5.1 Overview of the demographics of the study population	. 67
Figure 5.2 A bar chart showing the frequency of distribution of participants' responses to the	
Happiness level before and after the intervention on a scale ranging from 1 to 6 ( ranging from	n 1
= Strongly Disagree to 6 = Strongly Agree).	. 70
Figure 5.3 A bar chart showing participants' average level of Happiness before and after the	
intervention on a scale ranging from 1 to 6. The horizontal line indicates a neutral score of 3.5	5.
Wilcoxon signed-rank test of $p = 0.35$	. 70
Figure 5.4 A bar chart showing the participants' level of Happiness before and after the	
intervention categorized by the Mean of the total time spent with Wilcoxon signed-rank test	
result	. 72
Figure 5.5 A bar chart showing the participant's level of Happiness before and after the	
intervention categorized by the Mean of the total smile duration with Wilcoxon signed-rank te	est
result	. 73

Figure 5.6 A Bar chart showing the level of agreement to social connectedness before and after
the intervention on a scale ranging from 1 to 6 ( $1 =$ Strongly Agree, $6 =$ Strongly Disagree)74
Figure 5.7 A bar chart showing the participants' average social connectedness score before and
after the intervention on a scale ranging from 1 to $6 (1 = \text{Strongly Agree}, 6 = \text{Strongly Disagree})$
with Wilcoxon signed-rank test result
Figure 5.8 A bar chart showing the participant's level of social connectedness Pre and Post-
intervention categorized by the average of the total time spent with Wilcoxon signed-rank test
result
Figure 5.9 A bar chart showing the participant's level of social connectedness Pre and Post-
intervention categorized by the mean of the total smile duration with Wilcoxon signed-rank test
result
Figure 5.10 A Bar chart for the frequency of positive and negative affect schedule before and
after the intervention on a scale ranging from 1 to 5 ( $1 = Very slightly and 5 = Extremely$ ) 78
Figure 5.11 A bar chart showing PANAS-SF score and sub-scales before and after the
intervention with Wilcoxon signed-rank test result
Figure 5.12 A bar chart showing participants' PANAS-SF scores before and after the
intervention categorized by the mean of the total time spent on SmileApp with Wilcoxon signed-
rank test result
Figure 5.13 A bar chart showing the participants' PANAS-SF score Pre and Post-intervention
categorized by the mean of the total Smile duration on SmileApp with Wilcoxon signed-rank test
result
Figure 5.14 A bar chart showing BMIS score and sub-scales before and after the intervention
with Wilcoxon signed-rank test
Figure 5.15 A bar chart showing the frequency distribution of the level of Agreement to the SUS
questions
Figure 5.16 A bar chart showing the frequency distribution of level of Agreement to the UEQ
questions 85
Figure 5.17 A bar chart showing Average UEQ scores and subscale scores
Figure 5.17 A bar chart showing Average UEQ scores and subscale scores

Figure 5.19 A bar chart showing the frequency distribution of the level of agreement evaluated	
by the IMI questions using the value/usefulness subscale	7
Figure 5.20 A bar chart showing the persuasive score of each feature and the overall	
persuasiveness of the app in general	8
Figure 5.21 Bar chart of average time spent on each feature by participants in the 2 weeks study	
duration	0
Figure 5.22 Bar chart of SmileApp use count for every day of the week	1
Figure 5.23 Bar chart of SmileApp use count for the hour of the day9	1
Figure 5.24 Bar chart showing daily percentage use of SmileApp by Male and Female	
participants9	2
Figure 5.25 Bar chart showing hourly percentage use of SmileApp by Male and Female	
participants	3

## LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED

AI	artificial intelligence
BMIS	Brief Mood Introspection Scale
CBT	Cognitive behavioural therapy
FIS	Future intention scale
HCI	Human-Computer Interaction
IDE	integrated development environment
IMI	Intrinsic Motivation Inventory
mHealth	Mobile Health
MIT	mentalization image therapy
OHQ	Oxford Happiness Scale
PANAS-SF	Positive and Negative Affect Schedule short form
PS	Persuasive Scale
PSD	persuasive system design
Q&A	question-and-answer
RQ	Research Question
SCS	Social Connectedness Scale
SD	Standard Deviation
SUS	system usability scale
UES-SF	User Engagement Scale
UI	user interface
UT	usability testing
WHO	World Health Organization

### ABSTRACT

Over the past years, researchers in the field of Human-Computer Interaction (HCI) have dedicated their efforts to designing interactive systems that are both useful and usable across various domains. The health domain, in particular, has witnessed significant attention, leading to extensive research in Mobile Health (mHealth) and the development of diverse mHealth applications targeting various needs, such as stress management and the promotion of positive health habits, including smoking cessation.

Stress, being a universal problem, has prompted the development of various approaches aimed at managing and mitigating its effects. In this thesis, we designed, developed, and evaluated a mHealth mobile application called SmileApp to promote positive mood as a means of addressing stress. The application leverages artificial intelligence (AI) and persuasive technology, incorporating underlying psychological theories and models such as the Flow theory, PERMA Model, and PSD Model.

To evaluate the SmileApp, a two-week within-subject study involving 101 participants who utilized the app during the study period was conducted in a natural environment. Participants' emotional states and feelings of social connectedness were measured before and after the intervention. We determined this population based on other studies that promote positive behaviour change. Previous studies recruited 136 [1], 31 [2], and 84 [3]. This supports that a population size of 100 participants will be enough to achieve a reasonable result in our study.

The findings of this study reveal the effectiveness of SmileApp in positively impacting users' emotional well-being by fostering positive moods. These results offer valuable insights into innovative approaches for designing mHealth applications that promote positive mood. Moreover, the findings underscore the importance of utilizing technology to support individuals on their emotional well-being journey and lay the groundwork for further research and development in this area. The implications of this study mark a paradigm shift in mHealth app design by introducing a new approach of users reading supportive messages with Smile and playing mobile games with their smile instead of conventional keypads.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I express my heartfelt gratitude to the Almighty God, my Lord and Savior Jesus Christ, for bestowing upon me wisdom, strength, guidance, and grace throughout this journey. I would also like to extend my sincere appreciation to my parents for their unwavering prayers and constant support.

I am immensely grateful to my supervisor, Dr Rita Orji, whose mentorship has been a constant source of inspiration. Her remarkable achievements and dedication to excellence have greatly influenced my pursuit of academic and research endeavours.

I would also like to acknowledge and thank all my course teachers and colleagues in the persuasive computing Lab. Your collective efforts and contributions have significantly enriched my learning experience. In particular, I am deeply grateful to Dr Gerry Chan for his invaluable assistance in proofreading my work and providing support in the publication of my research.

The encouragement and support I have received from my loved ones, mentors, and peers have played a pivotal role in my academic and personal growth. I am truly fortunate to have such a remarkable network of individuals who have contributed to my success.

## Chapter 1 INTRODUCTION 1.1 The Problem

Mobile applications have witnessed widespread implementation across a range of domains, including education, e-commerce, banking, transportation, logistics, social media, real estate, and health. This thesis aims to delve into the utilization of mobile apps specifically in the context of mental wellbeing. While numerous mHealth applications have previously focused on addressing mental wellbeing concerns, the issue of high data entry burdens has emerged as a significant concern among users of health apps leading to slow adoption rates and subsequent attrition of users. Developing a solution that mitigates this burden, while incorporating elements of enjoyment and leveraging innate human capabilities, holds the potential to enhance adoption rates and sustain long-term engagement. By doing so, this solution can effectively address the pressing risks posed by mental health problems to the well-being of individuals and society as a whole [4]. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), depression is a significant contributor to global disability and is responsible for a substantial burden of disease worldwide [5]. The economic impact of depression is also noteworthy, with the American economy facing a yearly cost of \$63 billion [6]. These statistics highlight the pressing need to address depression as a public health concern. While various factors contribute to the development of depression, extensive research indicates that stress plays a major role<sup>[7]</sup> The National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health defines stress as a physiological and emotional response that individuals experience when faced with life challenges [8]. Prolonged exposure to stress increases the vulnerability to depression, underscoring the importance of stress management strategies.

Research suggests that early-life stressors or chronic stress throughout adulthood can significantly impact emotional well-being and increase susceptibility to depression [9]. Moreover, stress has been classified as an epidemic by the WHO and is a significant contributor to mortality rates [10]. A study conducted at Yale University revealed that stress has the potential to accelerate ageing and shorten lifespan [11]. Thus, efforts to minimize or cope with stress can have positive effects on slowing down the ageing process. Gallup polls published by The Washington Post indicate that 60% of Americans experience daily stress [12]. Stress and its consequences are not limited to the United States alone; reports show that 91% of Australians and 86% of Chinese workers experience

stress [13], In Canada, about 74% of individuals report feeling the impact of personal and/or work-related stress [14].

Persistent and unaddressed stress can have severe health consequences, including premature death [15]. Consequently, stress can be regarded as a critical health condition that necessitates comprehensive intervention strategies. For example, a study has provided evidence indicating that stress exerts a substantial influence on professionals, ultimately resulting in a notable impact on their productivity levels [16]. Carmichael et al. [17] investigated the impact of maternal stress on unborn children. Maternal stress refers to the stress experienced by expectant mothers during pregnancy [18]. The study highlighted the association between stress during pregnancy and increased risks of certain birth defects, raising concerns about the potential intergenerational impact of stress.

The impact of stress extends beyond the individual, affecting their professional productivity as well. Studies have demonstrated that stress significantly influences professionals and impairs their work performance[19]. Increased job-related stress has been shown to decrease productivity regardless of gender [20]. This negative correlation between job stress and productivity has substantial economic implications globally. American employers reportedly spend approximately \$300 billion annually on healthcare and workdays lost due to stress, while the United Kingdom experiences a loss of around 13.7 million workdays each year due to stress. Australia and the UK also face significant productivity losses of approximately \$14.2 billion and \$37 billion, respectively [13]. These findings emphasize the far-reaching consequences of stress on both individuals and societies, highlighting the urgent need for effective stress management and intervention measures.

#### 1.2 Motivation

Growing up in a small city in Nigeria, I witnessed individuals experiencing stress due to various circumstances such as limited access to food, unemployment, and caring for sick family members. However, upon moving to a larger city, I observed that even the affluent population was not exempt from stress, as they faced social pressures and demanding job responsibilities. This realization led me to understand that stress affects individuals across diverse backgrounds and contexts. While many statistical studies on stress-related illnesses and their impact are primarily conducted in

Western countries, it is important to acknowledge that stressors exist in other parts of the world, including developing nations.

Regardless of geographical location or social class, stress is a ubiquitous phenomenon that affects individuals worldwide, spanning from developing nations to developed countries. For instance, in sub-Saharan Africa, socio-economic conditions have been identified as a significant contributor to chronic stress [21]. While it is impractical to address all socio-economic conditions comprehensively to improve mental well-being, leveraging technology presents a promising avenue for increasing the availability of evidence-based mental solutions, particularly for individuals with low resources [22]. This motivation underpins our work, as we strive to develop a solution that is accessible and beneficial to users from diverse backgrounds and demographics.

Both students and the working class can experience stress as a result of conflicts, life changes, and pressures in their respective domains [23]. Therefore, our motivation emanates from the objective of establishing a solution that is not limited to a specific user demographic but instead caters to the needs of a wide range of individuals, encompassing various socio-economic backgrounds and occupational roles.

Acknowledging the economic disparities and limited accessibility to medication and therapy, we recognize that not everyone can afford traditional stress-relief interventions. However, stress affects individuals universally. In pursuit of developing a solution that is affordable to everyone, we have harnessed the potential of artificial intelligence (AI), persuasive technology, and positive emotion. Our objective is to create a ubiquitous system that is affordable, accessible, and available to individuals worldwide, regardless of their geographical location.

Drawing upon the concept of persuasive technology, as defined by Fogg [24], our system utilizes persuasive technology to assist and empower people to manage their stress. Additionally, we leverage the power of positive emotions, which are inherently pleasurable experiences that individuals actively seek [25]. By providing a tool for experiencing and promoting a positive mood, I aim to empower individuals to lead healthier lives.

The culmination of these ideas, namely AI, persuasive technology, and positive emotion, is integrated within SmileApp. This mobile application has been specifically developed and evaluated within the context of this thesis to assess its effectiveness in promoting positive emotion.

Through our research, we aim to contribute to the field by offering a solution that could contribute to addressing the global need for accessible tools to enhance emotional well-being.

#### 1.3 Solution

Previous research has explored diverse approaches to tackle the pervasive issue of stress [26]. While there is existing research evidence indicating that frequent smiling can contribute to stress reduction [27], there remains a limited number of technological solutions specifically designed to encourage individuals to smile more frequently. For instance, Moore et al. [28] proposed an application that solely served as a reminder for users to smile, without implementing the proposed study or exploring its potential efficacy.

The gap in technological solutions that actively promote and facilitate increased smiling presents an opportunity for further investigation and development. By leveraging innovative approaches and integrating psychological theories and models, such as those related to positive emotion and persuasive technology, there is potential to design interventions that effectively encourage individuals to adopt smiling often as a means of mitigating stress.

This thesis presents the design, development, and evaluation of the effectiveness of a persuasive mHealth app called SmileApp that was purposefully designed to promote smiling and elicit a positive mood. We explored other approaches for stress management other than medication, therapy, exercise, and mindfulness. Although these approaches can be helpful, they are not likely to fit into a user's day without much disruption and some of them may not be readily available or affordable by all, e.g., therapy and medication. For example, someone stressed at work cannot suddenly visit the gym in the middle of working hours especially when they do not have the luxury of time or gym within reach.

The development of SmileApp is grounded in prior studies that have highlighted the potential of positive psychology strategies as preventive and therapeutic measures for depression [29]. Research indicates that the act of mimicking a smile through facial muscle movement can deceive the brain into experiencing a more positive mood [30]. Additionally, smiling has been found to mitigate the intensity of the body's stress response [31], and the success of mobile applications in promoting happiness has been documented [28].

By capitalizing on these findings and leveraging the capabilities of mobile technology, SmileApp aims to provide users with an effective tool for integrating smiling practices into their daily lives, ultimately fostering a positive emotional state and mitigating stress. We chose smile among other approaches to reduce stress because every human being can smile irrespective of gender, culture, social class or education qualification.

The SmileApp encompasses three primary features, each with specific functionalities aimed at promoting frequent smiling and facilitating positive mood experiences. These features were developed based on established psychological theories and the Persuasive System Design (PSD) framework adapted from Oinas-Kukkonen et al. [32]. Psychological theories provide a foundation of principles that explain human thoughts, emotions, and behaviours, offering valuable insights into individual and group dynamics derived from research and observation. Rigorous testing has been conducted to ensure the validity and reliability of these theories [33].

The three main features of the SmileApp are as follows:

- SmileGram: This feature incorporates a game element where users interact with their smiles. Users can move icons around and align them with their smiles. With each successful alignment, a corresponding country map is painted green, and the user gains points. This process is repeated until the entire world map is filled with their smiles (painted green). The SmileGram feature includes sub-functionalities such as Syncfusion Map, Textto-Voice Converter, Google ML Kit for Face Tracking, Countdown Timer, Leaderboard, and Font Awesome Animated Icons.
- 2. PocketBuddy: As the name suggests, PocketBuddy is a chatbot named Ada-Eze, designed to provide companionship to users. This chatbot employs a generative machine-learning model that generates responses with a level of human-like interaction. PocketBuddy serves as a virtual friend, aiming to reduce feelings of loneliness and enhance users' countenance as they engage with the AI-powered chatbot.
- 3. MyTribe: This feature establishes a closed community of supportive users. Participants in this community select their dominant emotion from a range of options, and other community members send anonymous supportive messages. The purpose of MyTribe is to create a supportive environment for emotionally vulnerable participants, providing them

with encouragement and uplifting messages. To ensure the messages shared in this community are positive, a two-level verification process is implemented:

i. At the composition stage, the system employs dark-sentiment analysis [34], specifically using the AFINN-Based sentiment analysis for the Dart programming language [35]. If the analysis detects negative sentiment in a composed message, it flags a notification and prevents the message from being sent. Only positive messages are transmitted.

ii. As an ethical requirement, researchers conduct a second level of content review and approval before the message is delivered anonymously to the intended user. When a message arrives, the recipient receives a notification and can unlock the message only with a smile. The functionalities associated with the MyTribe feature include sentiment analysis, an approval dashboard, Google ML Kit for Face Tracking, text-to-voice conversion, and notifications.

This study comprised two phases:

Phase 1: A system usability study was conducted after designing the beta version of the app. Participants were selected from the Persuasive Computing Lab at Dalhousie University, all of whom possessed knowledge of persuasive system design. Their feedback was collected and incorporated into refining the final version of the application used in the main study.

Phase 2: The main study was conducted under the approval of the Dalhousie Research Ethics Board (see Appendix-V). Participants were recruited from within and outside of Canada and were instructed to use the app in their natural environments for 14 days. Pre- and post-study surveys were administered to measure the impact of the application.

#### 1.4 Contribution

The thesis presented in this study offers significant contributions to the field of Human-Computer Interaction (HCI) and mental mHealth apps. It addresses several research questions and provides empirical answers to the following research questions:

1. How effective is SmileApp for eliciting positive mood?

- 2. How engaging and Usable is the SmileApp for users to accomplish their goals of activating positive mood?
- 3. How effective is SmileApp in helping users find social support?
- 4. How effective is the Smile App for motivating continued use?
- 5. How persuasive and useful is the SmileApp in improving user's mood?

The measurement presented in this study holds valuable implications for future researchers, enabling them to adapt and refine our approach in addressing similar mental health problems. Additionally, industry partners can leverage the findings of this study to develop mental health products that align with evidence-based strategies and interventions. This thesis has made significant contributions to the field, introducing novel methodologies for designing health apps, fostering increased frequency of smiling behaviour, and expanding the repertoire of strategies for eliciting positive moods.

#### 1.5 Overview of Thesis

This thesis provides a comprehensive account of the entire process undertaken for the design, development, and evaluation of the SmileApp, spanning eight additional chapters.

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION: This chapter serves as an introductory section of the thesis, providing a comprehensive overview of the problem statement, the underlying motivations that drove the research, the proposed solution, and the significant contributions made by this study.

CHAPTER 2 RESEARCH BACKGROUND: This chapter presents a comprehensive review of existing research conducted within the field of human-computer interaction, specifically focusing on the promotion of positive mood. A thorough exploration of prior studies and findings is conducted to establish a solid foundation for the current research and to identify gaps in the existing literature.

CHAPTER 3 SMILEAPP DESIGN METHODOLOGY: This chapter offers a comprehensive overview of the design and development process of SmileApp, a mobile application aimed at promoting positive emotion. The chapter highlights the integration of underlying theories and models, the meticulous design and implementation strategies employed, the architectural structure of SmileApp, and an in-depth analysis of its various functionalities. The chapter serves as a detailed account of the steps taken to create an effective and user-friendly app with a strong theoretical foundation.

CHAPTER 4 SMILEAPP EVALUATION: In this chapter, a rigorous evaluation of SmileApp is undertaken to determine its effectiveness and assess the impact it has on the participants enrolled in the study. The evaluation process encompasses a thorough analysis of various outcome measures and data collected from the participants, providing valuable insights into the app's efficacy in achieving its intended goals. The chapter presents a comprehensive evaluation methodology and statistical analyses to ensure a robust and reliable assessment of SmileApp's performance.

CHAPTER 5 STUDY RESULTS: In this chapter, an in-depth examination of the data collected during the study is conducted, employing rigorous analysis techniques to derive meaningful insights and present comprehensive results. The chapter presents a detailed exploration of the collected data, including descriptive statistics, inferential analyses, and visual representations, to provide a thorough understanding of the findings. The results are interpreted in light of the research objectives and contribute to the broader knowledge in the field.

CHAPTER 6 DISCUSSION: This chapter delves into a comprehensive discussion of the implications derived from the obtained results, elucidating the broader significance and potential ramifications of the study's findings. The findings are critically analyzed, and their implications are examined within the context of existing literature and theoretical frameworks. The chapter explores the practical implications of the results, highlighting their relevance to various stakeholders, including researchers and mHealth app developers. Additionally, the limitations of the study are addressed, and suggestions for future research avenues are provided to further advance the field's understanding in this area.

CHAPTER 7 LIMITATION AND FUTURE WORK AND CONCLUSION: This chapter serves as a concise summary of the work conducted, encapsulating the key findings and outcomes derived from the study. It presents a comprehensive overview of the main contributions and implications of the research. The chapter highlights the significance of the findings and their potential impact on the field of study. Moreover, it offers valuable recommendations for future research directions, identifying areas that merit further investigation and exploration based on the study's results. These recommendations aim to guide future researchers in expanding upon the current study.

CHAPTER 8 CONCLUSION: This chapter encapsulates the overarching conclusion drawn from the entirety of the thesis, consolidating the key findings, insights, and implications discussed throughout the research.

## Chapter 2 : BACKGROUND AND LITERATURE REVIEW

This section presents a comprehensive review of the existing literature about the application of computing technology in reducing stress, anxiety, and depression through the principles of positive psychology and mood regulation. Through a critical examination of the current literature, we identified gaps in the research and formulated research questions that drove the present study.

Stress and depression have garnered significant attention across various health research domains, including psychology, psychiatry, neuroscience, and public health. Researchers in the field of computer science have sought to explore the potential of leveraging computer technology to address anxiety, stress, and depression. To gain a comprehensive understanding of the current trends and state-of-the-art approaches employed by researchers in promoting mental well-being through mood regulation and positive psychology, we conducted a systematic review of the literature in the domain of human-computer interaction (HCI) applications in mobile health (mHealth) for emotional state intervention and regulation.

For our literature review, we extensively searched databases such as the ACM Digital Library, the IEEE Xplore Digital Library, PubMed, and the Journal of Medical Internet Research. These databases were chosen due to their wide coverage of publications and conferences in the HCI field, aligning with our research topic. Additionally, we also searched Google Scholar to ensure comprehensive coverage of relevant papers that may not have been captured by the aforementioned databases and journals. The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) model [36] was employed to guide our review process, and the findings were organized into thematic categories.

To search, we employed keywords such as "Regulate," "Improve," "Enhance," "Emotion," "Feeling," "Mood," "Mobile App," and "Mobile Application." Through crowdsourcing, we identified approximately 5,653 research articles, which were subsequently subjected to title filtering by reading through the title to ensure it was relevant to our study. This filtering process resulted in a selection of 106 which were subjected to further inclusion criteria, outlined as follows:

- Papers were written in the English language.
- The paper's objective had to be on promoting positive emotion and mood regulation (identified from the abstract)

- Not a theoretical, or conceptual article
- Developed an app (identified from full text)

The selected papers were thoroughly reviewed, and their findings contributed to the synthesis of the existing literature, informing the subsequent stages of our research.



#### Figure 2.1 Study Identification Papers

Our analysis adopted the coding sheet from Orji et al. [37] for the paper organization. We organized the papers based on persuasive strategies employed, technologies used and the approach to promote positive psychology (for example diagnosis, Educating Users, Gamification, Guided Meditation, Journaling/Mood Tracking and Social Support).

#### 2.1 Persuasive Strategies

Persuasion can be defined in simple terms as an attempt by a human being or organizational authority to motivate a target audience (human being) manually [38]. Within the field of human-computer interaction (HCI), researchers have demonstrated creativity in implementing persuasive

techniques, guided by underlying models. Fogg's FBM (Behavior Model) [39] posits that for a desired behaviour to occur, there must be sufficient motivation, ability, and an effective trigger. These three fundamental components of persuasion should align concurrently to achieve significant impact. In general, the persuasive design aims to enhance motivation, simplify tasks to improve ability, and effectively trigger behaviour change.

Building upon Fogg's work, Oinas-Kukkonen and Harjumaa [32]categorized persuasive techniques for developing system contents and functionalities into four main groups: primary task support, dialogue support, system credibility support, and social support. Primary task support techniques include a reduction (simplifying tasks), tunnelling (guiding users through a specific path), tailoring (customizing content), personalization, self-monitoring, simulation, and rehearsal. Dialogue support techniques involve elements such as praise, rewards, reminders, suggestions, similarity, liking, and social role. System credibility support techniques focus on establishing trustworthiness, expertise, surface credibility, a real-world feel, authority, third-party endorsements, and verifiability. Lastly, social support techniques encompass social learning, social comparison, normative influence, social facilitation, cooperation, competition, and recognition. These techniques were identified and highlighted in the papers reviewed.

Figure 2.2 illustrates the utilization of persuasive strategies in the reviewed papers. Tunneling emerged as the most frequently employed technique, accounting for 26% of the cases, followed by self-monitoring (13%) and tailoring (12%). Praise, rehearsal, social learning, rewards, social comparison, normative influence, recognition, and social facilitation were each utilized in 1% of the cases. The distribution of these techniques provides insights into their respective prevalence and potential effectiveness in influencing user behaviour.



Figure 2.2 Percentage of Persuasive Strategies employed in mood regulation studies from the literature reviewed (N = 37).

#### 2.2 Technologies

During our review, we examined the platforms utilized by researchers to deploy their interventions. From the analyzed papers, we identified three primary platforms: (1) web, (2) chatbots, and (3) mobile applications. Among these platforms, mobile emerged as the most commonly employed platform for the reviewed interventions. Figure 2.3 provides a visual representation of the distribution of platforms across the reviewed papers.

Considering the wide usage of mobile applications in the domain of mental health systems, as well as the promising outcomes demonstrated in studies, we opted to design SmileApp as a mobile application. Numerous studies have indicated that smartphone apps have yielded positive results in addressing mental health concerns, particularly for individuals experiencing mild to moderate depression [40]. Taking into account the prevalence and effectiveness of mobile platforms in mental health interventions, we believe that SmileApp's mobile design holds great potential for promoting emotional well-being and enhancing users' mental health outcomes.



*Figure 2.3 Percentage of technology used from the literature reviewed* (N = 37).

#### 2.3 Approach employed to promote positive feeling.

Positive psychology, as defined by scholars, involves the study of conditions and processes that contribute to the flourishing and optimal functioning of individuals, groups, and institutions [41]. Within this framework, happiness is considered a significant aspect and is widely regarded as a valuable personal pursuit. It is believed that happiness not only leads to personal fulfilment but also contributes to the achievement of life successes [42]. Positive psychology primarily aims to enhance well-being and optimal functioning, rather than focusing solely on alleviating symptoms. It is considered complementary to traditional psychology, working in tandem to promote holistic mental health [43].

Numerous researchers have developed persuasive systems intending to promote positive emotions and mental well-being [44], [45][46], [47]. In the case of our system, SmileApp, we drew upon the principles of positive psychology to address stress by encouraging users to smile, providing social support, and simulating companionship. In the subsequent sections, we delve into the specific approaches employed by the papers we reviewed, highlighting their contributions to the field of promoting positive feelings and mental well-being.

#### 2.3.1 Diagnosis

Diagnosis, in the context of health, refers to the process of identifying or determining the underlying cause or nature of a disease or condition [48]. Within the realm of mental health, researchers have utilized technology to detect the possibility or presence of stress and depression. Various mobile applications have been developed to contribute to mood regulation by detecting user moods and providing recommendations. However, these applications typically do not actively guide or influence the process of mood regulation itself.

In contrast, our design approach aimed to not just detect and monitor user moods but also actively reduce the intensity of negative moods and enhance the intensity of positive moods. By incorporating strategies from positive psychology, such as promoting smiling, providing social support, and simulating companionship, our design sought to actively influence and improve users' mood regulation processes.

Denecke et al. [49] conducted a study where they designed an emotion regulation app called SERMO. This app utilized a chatbot functionality that allowed users to regulate their emotions. The chatbot employed emotion detection techniques to identify the user's current emotional state and provided recommendations for activities based on the detected emotion. Additionally, the SERMO app incorporated a Diary feature that enabled users to engage in journaling as a means of self-reflection. The app also offered Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT) content and emotional advice to further support users in managing their emotions. In another study, Kinderman et al. [50] developed a smartphone app that applied basic CBT principles. The app guided users through three key processes: (1) "Catch it," (2) "Check it," and (3) "Change it." These processes aimed to help users identify their thoughts and thinking styles associated with mood shifts or specific emotions, reflect on the helpfulness of these thoughts, and generate alternative ways of thinking, respectively. The outcomes of the study indicated a statistically significant reduction in the intensity of negative moods and an increase in the intensity of positive moods among the app users. These results demonstrate the potential effectiveness of incorporating CBT principles and emotion regulation techniques into smartphone apps as a means of promoting emotional well-being and enhancing mood regulation skills.

Mehta et al. [51] evaluated to assess the acceptability and effectiveness of "Youper," an AIpowered therapy app designed for the treatment of anxiety and depression. Youper offers users emotional support and guidance through personalized conversations, enabling the app to extract and understand the user's mood. During these interactive conversations, Youper utilizes emotion detection techniques and provides therapeutic support accordingly. It is important to note that while Youper serves as an initial point of contact and offers valuable support, it does not replace the need for a therapist in certain cases. The app is designed to complement traditional therapy and provide users with additional resources and tools for managing their anxiety and depression. The study aimed to determine the acceptability and effectiveness of Youper as an adjunct to therapy, highlighting its potential as a convenient and accessible mental health support option.

Kim et al. [52] developed a mobile video-conferencing app "Hello MindCare" to improve the efficiency of the process of therapy. The "Hello MindCare" application has been developed with features such as session booking, document sharing, and videoconferencing, aimed at enhancing the operational efficiency of therapists in managing their schedules and engaging in therapy sessions. While the app may have contributed to improvements in stress reduction and therapist resilience, it is important to note that its effectiveness relies on the presence of a therapist within the therapeutic process. Consequently, the scalability of the app is hindered by the limited availability of therapists, thus imposing constraints on its widespread implementation.

Roy et al. [53]conducted a study where they developed a Mindfulness Training (MT) app specifically designed for individuals with generalized anxiety disorder (GAD). The purpose of this app was to deliver a digital therapeutic program that aimed to identify and address habitual worrying and thinking patterns through the use of reinforcement learning techniques. By breaking this cycle of negative thought patterns, the app aimed to reduce anxiety and worry while promoting the development of mindfulness skills.

The efficacy of the MT app was evaluated, and the results indicated a significant reduction in anxiety and worry symptoms among the participants. Additionally, there was an observed increase in mindfulness levels, suggesting that the app's intervention approach was effective in fostering positive changes in individuals with GAD. These findings highlight the potential of digital therapeutic interventions, such as the MT app, in providing targeted support for individuals struggling with anxiety disorders.

Jungmann et al. [54] used chatbots (Ada) to diagnose a broad spectrum of mental disorders and their dependency on expert knowledge. The chatbot (Ada) is based on a medical database which is constantly updated with research findings. The researchers investigated the diagnostic quality of this chatbot and how is depends on an expert's knowledge. The result of their finding suggests that the accuracy of the chatbots is user-dependent. This outcome makes the chatbots subjective and may not be very reliable in mental health diagnosis.

So far, interventions that have been presented in this section are focused on diagnosing stress. Although many of them are effective for managing stress they are not optimized for emotion regulation. Helping people improve their emotions is an important aspect and is the primary objective of our work. In our work, our focus is on bringing the user out of negative emotions. For example, the chatbot (Ada) by Jungmann et al [54], relies on expert knowledge, interacting with it can only detect mental disorders but is not an intervention to change the mental health challenge.

#### 2.3.2 Educating Users

Some researchers have taken the approach of training users on simple techniques aimed at enhancing their emotional well-being as a means of promoting mental health. This involves providing users with knowledge and recommendations for activities that can regulate their emotions, decrease the intensity of negative moods, and increase the intensity of positive moods. In this section, we present several studies that primarily focus on educating users about approaches to improve their mood and enhance the intensity of positive emotions. These studies contribute valuable insights into the effectiveness of such interventions in promoting mental well-being and fostering positive emotional states.

In a study conducted by Luo et al. [55], the effectiveness of a mobile device-based multimedia training program, incorporating text, pictures, and short videos, was evaluated for its impact on reducing depressive symptoms and enhancing quality of life. The study utilized the popularity and reach of social media, specifically Twitter, as a platform for intervention delivery. Participants engaged in assessments that were subsequently evaluated by a psychological consultant, highlighting the involvement of human expertise in the feedback process. While this approach demonstrated promising results, it is important to note that the reliance on psychological consultants for feedback may present scalability limitations in broader implementation. Further

exploration is warranted to develop automated or scalable feedback mechanisms for similar interventions in the future.

Coelhoso et al. [56] designed a dedicated mental health app specifically targeting the reduction of stress among working women. The app implemented an 8-week program, consisting of four classes per week, aimed at providing effective stress management techniques. The study's findings demonstrated that the app successfully reduced stress levels and enhanced overall well-being among the targeted group of working women. It is worth noting, however, that the app's efficacy may be limited to individuals who can benefit from the specific teachings and interventions provided in the program. Specialized training and tailored content may be necessary for optimal outcomes, which could present challenges in terms of scalability and generalizability to a wider range of individuals experiencing stress. Further research and refinement of the intervention approach may be required to address these limitations and ensure broader applicability in diverse populations.

Sikder et al. [57] delivered mentalization image therapy (MIT) through a mobile app targeted at family caregivers. The app incorporates exercises to help participants mindfully observe themselves and understand the interconnectedness of self and others. The app consists of audio recordings of MIT practices and 4 essays (1 per week) explaining the concept underlying each recording and supportive information. The study showed that the app was able to improve a user's mental health by reducing depression and incrementally increasing the user's mood in a positive direction.

In a different study, Mendes-Santos et al. [58] developed Innov Breast Cancer (iNNOVBC), which is a mental health app designed to treat mild to moderate anxiety and depression in breast cancer patients. iNNOVBC consists of 10 modules (5 compulsory). The program adopts a transdiagnostic structure that features psychoeducation, acceptance, cognitive diffusion, connecting with values, committed action and exposure, behavioural activation, and relaxation as central components. Sleep management, energy conservation, problem-solving, and sensate focusing techniques are complementary components of the program. The app employed tunnelling and tailoring persuasive strategies.

McCallum et al. [59]studied the feasibility, acceptability and preliminary outcome of "Nood Mood". Nood-Mood is a commercially available mobile app that handles cognitive behavioural therapy and mindfulness-based programs. The app delivered about 15 psychoeducation articles and journal features for users to log their thought processes as an approach to tackling mental health issues. The result of this study showed potential for "Nood Mood", however, the authors recommended that more tests on the app with a rigorous design should be implemented.

Laird et al. [60] evaluated the feasibility of a consumer-based meditation app, called "Calm". Calm is targeted to reduce stress among middle-aged adults. The Calm app guides users to do daily meditation and education podcasts. Similar to many other existing solutions, the Calm app helps users in daily meditation and educates them via podcasts which showed a significant improvement in perceived stress and stress-related health behaviours.

Borosund et al. [61] developed StressProffen an evidence-based stress management intervention for patients living with cancer. This app has educational material that promotes knowledge of stress, thoughts and feelings, anger management, health behaviour and setting goals. The app contains a variety of exercises such as thought challenges, positive self-talk, diaphragmatic breathing, progressive muscle relaxation, guided imagery, mindfulness, and meditation. The StressProffen also offers a video visualizing and explaining the flight-or-flight concept. The study showed that cancer survivors (who are the primary target audience) found the app useful, easy to access and user-friendly. However, the extent to which it managed stress was not clearly stated. Kawadler et al. [62] evaluated the effectiveness of a smartphone app called "BioBase" for reducing anxiety and increasing mental well-being. The app was found potentially effective for decreasing anxiety and increasing well-being by providing psycho-educational modules, and real-time feedback on physiological data.

Austin et al. [63] evaluated the experience of participants while using a mobile app targeted at enhancing and supporting dialectical behaviour therapy for persons with personality disorders. The app offers psychoeducation, a journaling feature for users to note their experience in situ. This information stored in the app is helpful for recall during therapy sessions.

El Morr et al. [64] deployed a web-based mindfulness community to administer mindfulness and CBT programs in an attempt to reduce symptoms of depression, anxiety, and stress and to increase mindfulness among university students. This web platform consisted of 12 video-based modules with psychology education, an anonymous peer-to-peer discussion forum, and anonymous group-based professionally guided 20-minute live videoconferencing. Results suggest that the web platform was an effective intervention for reducing symptoms of depression and anxiety among college students. In our study, we aim to deliver a peer-to-peer anonymous emotional support group unlike the discussion and video conference approach adopted by El Morr et al. [64].

Emmerik et al. [65] evaluated the immediate and long-term efficacy of an MBI app (the VGZ Mindfulness Coach) in a waiting-list controlled randomized trial for mindfulness without any form of therapeutic guidance in addition to the self-help app. the app offers 40 audio exercises, including but not limited to breathing exercises, attention exercises, body scan exercises, guided meditation exercises, visualization exercises, mantra exercises, and yoga exercises. It also offers the possibility of a 5-week program of 25 preselected audio exercises. The VGZ Mindfulness Coach is a self-help intervention without any form of automated or therapist-provided guidance or feedback. The study revealed that a positive effect on mindfulness is achievable with low costs apps like VGZ Mindfulness Coach.

Lozano-Lozano et al. [66] blended traditional learning materials and mobile app design for knowledge dissemination on motivation, mood state, and satisfaction among undergraduates. The app interface gives users access to different game modes and allows them to complete different activities and find platform-related information. The researchers examined the short-term (i.e., 2 weeks) effects of this blended learning method, the outcome shows a significant improvement in motivation, mood state, and satisfaction compared to traditional teaching.

Providing a form of training and psychology education to users using digital technology is effective in improving wellbeing. How these solutions can fit into the users' everyday lives without being intrusive is under-researched. How existing approaches can intervene and regulate the mood of users and fight off stress when needed is also unclear. To address some of these limitations, our solution focused on eliciting positive mood by promoting companionship which helps to improve

a user's emotional wellbeing [67] and leads an individual to experience positive feelings [68], social support and smiles. Smiles have been shown to fight stress by triggering the body to release neuropeptides [69], [70]. We propose an approach to regulate mood and improve wellbeing instantaneously through imbibing positive psychology in the design of our app.

#### 2.3.3 Gamification

Gamification, the incorporation of game design elements into non-game environments, has gained significant popularity in the field of mHealth apps [71]. This trend is evident from the growing number of gamified apps available on platforms like the Apple Store and Play Store. However, studies indicate that many of these apps exhibit low adherence to professional guidelines and industry principles [72]. Despite this, the increasing popularity of gamification can be attributed to its potential for enhancing user experience and promoting higher levels of engagement [73]. Numerous researchers have recognized the value of gamification in promoting emotion regulation and improving mental well-being, leading to the development of systems that integrate gamification into their design. In this section, we provide a review and summary of selected apps that have successfully incorporated gamification as a means to motivate behaviour change and support individuals in their journey towards better mental health.

Christoforou et al. [74] evaluated the effectiveness of a self-guided game-based interactive intervention targeted at agoraphobic symptoms. The app simulates the real-life environments of a character that has agoraphobia. The user will guide this character through the help of a virtual therapist. In so doing, the user completes several tasks which would have made the user go through different therapeutic tasks. However, the outcome of this study showed that agoraphobic-focused apps compared to other generic anxiety apps had no difference in their effectiveness. This further amplifies the reason that our intervention was not defined for a specific population. Rather our intervention was made as a convenient tool for everyone to regulate their emotions.

In an attempt to improve emotional regulation in children, Moltrecht et al. [75] investigated the use of a new app-based intervention designed to support children's emotion regulation. The app has four modules a user can explore: (1) play (including four games with rewards), (2) relax (includes mindfulness and relaxation exercises), (3) watch (including psycho-education animations) and (4) tools (includes a list of emotion regulation strategies). These modules provide users with the opportunity to learn, practice, and develop new emotion regulation skills. An evaluation of the app showed the possibility of its effectiveness as revealed by 67% of the participants who reported the app as helpful, and the interview of the children and their teachers suggested a positive experience.

Lockwood et al. [76] evaluated "Lumi Nova" which is a smartphone app that combines evidence-based therapeutic content (exposure therapy) and psycho-educational content within an immersive game designed to provide timely support to children aged 7-12 years old. The game narrative is an intergalactic role-playing adventure in which players assume the role of a treasure hunter on a quest to save the galaxy and explore the universe, helping characters on various planets while training to overcome real-world fears. Results showed that Lumi Nova was effective in reducing anxiety symptom severity over the 8 weeks of gameplay.

Farve [77] of the MIT Media Lab developed a google glass game called "Smile Catcher" to make users interact with other users or people in positive ways which may result in a smile. This system only tracks users' smiles but does not elicit smiles nor give users a reason to smile. The "Smile Catcher" gives users a score of the number of smiles captured within a period. Although the "Smile Catcher" system has gamification elements like points, it does not have any form of interactivity to make users initiate any form of activity. Unlike the "Smile Catcher", our system the SmileApp allows users to control images and icons with their smile. Being deployed on Google Glass, limited battery life is an obvious limitation of the" Smile Catcher" system. Also, users who use recommended eyeglasses may not be able to use this system coupled with the fact the people in developing nations may not be able to afford google glass. Our intervention has been evaluated for effectiveness using a scientific approach and it is ubiquitous since it can be deployed even on low-powered devices. Table 2.1 is a summary of the gamification elements employed in various reviewed studies.

Table 2.1	Summary of	`Gamified	Interventions.	
Table 2.1	Summary of	Gamified	Interventions.	

	Gamified	
Paper	elements	Application
		The app presented a case example of a virtual
Christoforou et	Goal setting,	character who had agoraphobia. The users were
al. [74]	Progress/Feedback	required to guide her, through the help of the virtual
		therapist, to complete the different therapeutic tasks.
--------------	----------------	---
		The 3 overarching goals were to decrease the virtual
		character's catastrophic cognitions, safety behaviours,
		and physiological arousal
Moltrecht et		Users Solve picture riddles and tap on happy faces as
al. [75]	Challenges	fast as they can.
	Avatar	The game narrative is an intergalactic role-playing
	Customization,	adventure in which players assume the role of a
	Rewords and	treasure hunter on a quest to save the galaxy and
Lockwood et	Narrative	explore the universe, helping characters on various
al. [76]	Storytelling	planets while training to overcome real-world fears
		The "Smile Catcher" gives users a score of the number
Farve [77]	Points	of smiles captured within a period.

The gamified interventions combined with psychoeducation were designed for a target population. Our solution aims to eliminate the cognitive load burden that comes with any form of learning and leverage smile to regulate users' emotion. Cognitive load refers to the number of information elements needed to be processed simultaneously [78]. We made the gamified feature (the SmileGram) of our intervention simple and captivating with the potential to reach everyone, unlike special population apps that target a few populations. Our app was designed not to impose any cognitive load on users. The goal is to encourage users to smile, unlike apps that require education and training and demand cognitive load.

# 2.3.4 Guided Meditation

Meditation is a self-regulation strategy that encompasses a deliberate practice of training one's attentional focus [79]. Several studies have shown the benefits of meditation and its contribution to emotional health. This has increased interest in the medical field [80]. Just like every other technique, there are proper ways to observe meditation for optimum results. To improve mental health, and reduce stress and depression, researchers have developed systems that help users practice proper meditation. For example, in one study, Mohr et al. [81] evaluated the use and efficacy of IntelliCare (a skill base app-suit for treating depression and anxiety). The IntelliCare

system consists of 13 clinical apps that deliver different functionality to the user, among others are:

- Helping users identify values that guide life.
- Daily tips to improve one's mood.
- Encouraging users to incorporate worthwhile productive activities.
- Teaches users to manage worry with lessons, distraction and worry management tools.
- Provides a personal map for finding and saving the user's mood-boosting location.
- Prompt users to identify supportive people in their lives.
- Prompt users to create mantras.
- Guides the user through an interactive cognitive restructuring tool to examine thoughts that might be exaggerated negatively.
- Allows the user to send oneself inspirational messages and reassuring statements, written in their own words
- Provides users with a library of audio recordings to relax and unwind.
- Helps the user select exercises to improve mood.
- Prompts the user to complete sleep diaries to track sleep.
- Encourages users to select and schedule positive activities ("boosts") when they notice a drop in mood.

The study suggests that the IntelliCare apps and coaching led to a large reduction in depression and anxiety.

In a different study, Huberty et al. [82] developed "Calm for Cancer" which is a cancerspecific meditation app, designed to guide cancer survivors and healthcare providers in meditation and breathing exercises. The study inquired into the feasibility of "Calm for Cancer" which was successful.

To measure the extent mobile app can be used to manage stress, Yang et al. [83] used the mindfulness app "Happier Healer". The app provides auto-guided mindfulness meditation to users. Participants used the app for 10-20mins daily for meditation and the result was successful and showed a decrease in perceived stress.

Furthermore, Huberty et al. [84] evaluated the efficacy and sustained effect of CALM over 8-weeks of mindfulness meditation. Calm is a consumer-based mindfulness meditation mobile app that offers a range of mindfulness meditation practice guide modules that vary in length, instruction, and content including Vipassana (a technique of mindfulness that explores how the mind influences the body and how the body influences the mind) and Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) which showed success in improving users' mental health.

Throuvala et al. [85] employed an online intervention based on cognitive behavioural principles (i.e., self-monitoring, mood tracking, and mindfulness) to reduce distraction and stress among university students. This study evaluated the preliminary efficacy of this platform. The intervention involved active engagement for a period with three smartphone apps serving three different functions: to access the smartphone and social media use. A mindfulness session with an emphasis on eliminating distraction was also conducted, mood tracking, and stress and self-regulation measures were also measured. The result of the intervention showed a reduction in stress levels and fear of Missing Out (FoMo), a positive effect on emotion regulation loss of control measure.

Goyal et al. [86] conducted a study to determine the efficacy of meditation programs to improve stress-related outcomes and have shown no evidence that meditation programs were better than any active treatment. This study reviewed 18,753 citations which included 47 trials with 3,515 participants. In addition to this finding, meditation often takes place in a serene environment, which is not the typical daily environment of the majority world population stressed out and with challenged emotional wellbeing. The design of our intervention (The SmileApp) considered the day-to-day activities of users; hence we incorporated smiling into messages sent by MyTribe members which are in tandem with the user's daily flow of activities. The SmileGram feature helps the user return to a positive mood irrespective of the user's current mood and environment.

## 2.3.5 Journaling/Mood Tracking

Journaling is a method of data which has been accepted as a valid method of accessing rich qualitative data [87]. There is no clear consensus yet about the best technique for journaling. studies have shown that journaling used as a reflective meditative activity has the potential to promote creativity, self-awareness and personal development [88]. Journaling can be employed in mood tracking, to help users keep track of their mood which has been shown to facilitate reflection

and improve emotional awareness [89]. Mood tracking also helps users learn about their mood patterns and self-manage their mental illness [90]. Researchers have employed Journaling and mood tracking using technology as a strategy to regulate mood and reduce stress, and depression.

Harrer et al. [91] approach to addressing the elevated stress among college students was the use of an app which gave them a journaling feature to track their mood. The study showed that this internet-based mobile intervention was effective, acceptable, and possibly cost-effective in reducing negative consequences associated with college-related stress. This app however has a specialized audience and narrow use case (college students), this will limit the generalization of its use and may probably not be useful to other strata of the stressed population [91].

Moberg et al. [92] validated the effectiveness of a popular commercially available app for the self-management of mild-to-moderate stress, anxiety, and depression called, Pacifica. Pacifica allows users to track their mood by giving them the functionality to rate their mood once per day. The app recommends personalized activities to users based on their mood and users can set a goal towards achieving a better mood. Results showed that Pacifica is effective in reducing selfreported symptoms of depression, anxiety, and stress. This app focuses on tracking mood and recommending activities but it was not very clear how compliance will be measured.

Hetrick et al. [93] aimed to close the gap between guidelines about monitoring and realworld practice by codesigning an app with young people to integrate self-monitoring and support young people in the interval between face-to-face appointments. The app also provides personalized support generated by a back-end algorithm that pops-up in the app which was designed to make monitoring attractive. This app has the potential as a tool to assist both clinicians and young people in managing depression and suicide-related behaviours [93].

Leonard et al. [94] employed a combination of a mobile app and a wearable sensor for emotion regulation in a mHealth technology called "Calm Mom". The system consists of a wristworn sensor band for ambulatory measurement, the wristband alerts the user of increased electro dermal activity (EDA) and gives the user an option to log their feeling. The researchers examined the acceptability, feasibility, use patterns and mechanisms by which a mobile technology used as an adjunct to in-person, provider-delivered sessions fostered adolescent mothers' adaptive emotion regulation strategies under real-life conditions. The study showed that Calm Mom technology was effective in regulating the emotions of adolescent mothers in a theoretically meaningful way.

Barker and Rickard [95] investigated the possibility of self-monitoring by investigating the effectiveness of an app called MoodPrism in reducing depression and anxiety symptomatology. The app offers users the functionality to track their moods. The study showed that participants who engaged with the app throughout the study (30 days) experienced a greater decrease in anxiety and depression and an increase in mental wellbeing.

Hides et al. [96] examined the effects of using Music eScape on emotion regulation, distress, and well-being at 1, 2, 3, and 6 months. The Music eScape app analyzes each song in the users' music library according to its level of valence (pleasant to unpleasant) and arousal (very low to very high). The songs are then located in a two-dimensional space consistent with Russell's circumplex model of emotion. Labelled around the borders with 8 emotions (see): aggressive, excited, happy, chilled, peaceful, bored, depressed, and stressed. Once the music scanning is complete, the user is presented with a mood map of their music (the eScape) to help them identify the prevalent moods of their library. The study showed that Music eScape can improve young people's emotion regulation skills however further study is required to determine its efficacy.

To summarize, journaling helps to improve mood and mental wellbeing, however, this does not happen instantaneously. Poor participation, feeling exposed and staying on track are three major setbacks of journaling as a data collection method [87], hence may also impact its effectiveness in improving the mood of users in the wild. In our work, we are interested in a solution that will not expose the user to any form of vulnerability. Hence, we did not consider journaling as a feature. Rather, we created an anonymous supportive community, where users can indicate any kind of emotion that reflects how they feel without leaving too many details about themselves that will leave them vulnerable.

#### 2.3.6 Social Support

The term social support does not have a consensus definition. Authors have held the opinion that a contextualized definition of social support is necessary to give clarity to the study [97]. In the context of this work, we see social support as emotional comfort given to an individual by others to improve their mood and emotional wellbeing. Social support serves as a buffer to poor health caused by stressful living conditions and has been associated with a low rate of several mental and

physical disorders [98]. Several social media platforms have been launched to facilitate social connectedness, a good example is Facebook [99]. Social connectedness can be defined as "an aspect of the self that reflects a subjective awareness of interpersonal closeness with the social world" which has the potential to improve perceived social support [68]. To address loneliness and mental health-related illnesses, researchers have adopted several approaches.

Chung et al. [100] developed and evaluated a user-friendly question-and-answer (Q&A) knowledge database–based chatbot (Dr Joy) for perinatal women's and their partners' obstetric and mental health care. This app was designed to lead users to perceive enjoyment when seeking health information and medical help for their prenatal and postnatal care. With the text-mining technique and implementing contextual usability testing (UT), respectively, the researchers were able to determine whether these medical chatbots can provide male and female users with a good user experience. The outcome of the study showed a potential for the app.

BruechIman-Senecal et al. [101] employed the smartphone app **Nod** to address loneliness among college students. The app was designed to deliver cognitive and behavioural skill-building exercises to reduce loneliness during the transition to college. The **Nod** app incorporates positive psychology and mindfulness-based self-compassion. The app delivers skills via social challenges, and suggested ideas for reaching out to others thereby promoting social connectedness. The App also utilizes reflection, and short in-app exercises that help students process social experiences and reduce self-criticism. It also encouraged students to write testimonials that encourage a growth mindset towards social connection building. The evaluation of NOD showed no significant difference in loneliness after 4 weeks. Our app (SmileApp) explored a different approach to increase feelings of social connectedness. We considered an anonymous supportive community with censored content to positive messages only.

Schlosser et al. [102] tested the efficacy of a new mobile intervention called PRIME (personalized real-time intervention for motivational enhancement), which was designed to improve motivational impairments early in the course of schizophrenia. Prime gives participants access to a supportive environment where they select and document progress on small, self-determined goals in the domains of health/wellness, social relationships, creativity, and productivity. The study demonstrated that PRIME is a feasible, acceptable, and efficacious

intervention for improving mood and motivation in young people with schizophrenia spectrum disorders (SSD) [102].

Shih et al. [103] developed Quokka to evaluate local community-based interventions. Quokka is a web platform for promoting well-being activities on university campuses. The web platform promotes activities relating to socialization, exercise, good deeds, Healthy eating, Journaling, sleep, productivity and mindfulness through a network of friends. The outcome showed that participants reported more local activities than remote activities, users reported more social activities than individual activities, and new rather than familiar activities. This shows that Quokka was successful, however, because it was built on university culture, generalization will be more difficult.

In our study, we took a different approach to promote mood regulation and improve well-being. Unlike other apps presented in this section that require high cognitive load activities (for example learning and reading psycho-education contents), the inconvenient and discomfort of journaling, we considered a process that does not require any form of training. Our approach has the potential to impact the mood of the user instantly. Our app employs smiling and lets users play games with smiles and read messages with their smiles. To the best of our knowledge, this is one of the first attempts to explore the idea of interacting with technology by smiling. We also created an anonymous supportive community with censored content, unlike other community-based solutions where content is not censored.

# Chapter 3 : SMILEAPP DESIGN METHODOLOGY

Drawing from the insights gained through an extensive review of existing literature and the identified research gaps, the primary objective of our study was to design, implement and evaluate an effective intervention for mood regulation and the cultivation of positive emotions. In developing this intervention, we relied on the theoretical underpinnings of four well-established psychological constructs: Csikszentmihalyi's flow theory[104], the PSD Model [105], the PERMA model of well-being [106] and the concept of Happiness [107]. These theoretical frameworks provided the conceptual basis for our persuasive system [21]. This chapter offers a comprehensive account of our intervention, including a detailed description of its conceptualization, the processes involved in its implementation, the chosen platform and technology for development, as well as the nature of user interaction within the system.

## 3.1 Underlying Theories and Models

The analysis of existing apps revealed a predominant emphasis on cognitive behavioural therapy, exercise, and journaling as approaches for addressing stress. In alignment with our objective to explore the role of positive emotion in stress management, the SmileApp was developed by integrating four key psychological theories and models: Csikszentmihalyi's flow theory [104], the concept of Happiness [107], the PERMA model [106], and PSD Model [105]. These theories and models played a crucial role in informing the design of the intervention's features, ensuring a comprehensive approach to promoting positive emotion and addressing stress within SmileApp.

#### 3.1.1 Flow Theory

Csikszentmihalyi [104] proposed the flow theory, which postulates that people find genuine satisfaction during a state of consciousness called "Flow" [104]. This is a state where the individual is completely absorbed in an activity, especially an activity that involves their creative ability. This theory provoked our brainstorming to find a way to immerse users in an activity that engages their minds and creative tendencies. This was the basis for designing the SmileGram feature in our intervention (see Fig. 3.1). The flow theory reinforced the position held by great thinkers of the past that happiness comes from within oneself. This increased our confidence in the quest to provoke happiness that is inherent in people using the SmileApp, allowing them to experience states of flow. We will expand on the details of this SmileApp feature (SmileGram) in the design section.

The concept of happiness can be subjective, but according to the Flow theory, the concept of happiness can be narrowed to seven habits (Relationship, Act of Kindness, Physical Exercise and Well-being, Flow, Spiritual engagement and meaning, Strength and value, and positive mindset) [107]. We incorporated these concepts to foster happiness in users of SmileApp by implementing features that promote these underlying habits. The MyTribe feature (Fig. 3.3) gives users a sense of relationship, encourages acts of kindness, and invokes immersion and a positive mindset. The PocketBuddy feature (Fig. 3.2) also gives a sense of companionship to users.

#### 3.1.2 PERMA Model

The PERMA model describes self-actualization and outlines the characteristics of a flourishing individual and well-being theory (WBT) [106]. The concept of well-being according to this theory involves Positive emotion, Engagement, Relationships, Meaning and accomplishment.

To promote positive emotions within our system, we devised several key features in SmileApp. The SmileGram feature (Fig. 3.4) was designed to actively engage users in maintaining a smile for a brief period. It incorporates two images, one animated (floating/moving) and the other static. Users are encouraged to navigate the moving object until it precisely overlaps with the static object, using their smile as the controlling mechanism. This interactive element fosters user engagement and keeps them actively involved with the system as they try to align the two SmileGram objects by controlling the intensity of their smile (which controls the speed of the moving object).

The MyTribe feature was implemented to foster a sense of community and support among users. It establishes a community comprising anonymous individuals who provide support to one another. This sense of belongingness enhances the users' emotional well-being, as they receive supportive messages from community members during times when they experience negative emotions.

Furthermore, the SmileGram feature incorporates goal setting to instil a sense of accomplishment in users. Drawing upon the principles outlined in the PERMA model, which emphasizes achievement, mastery, and competence, users are challenged to paint the entire world green by aligning the on-screen objects with their smiles for as long as they desire. Additionally, intermittent "fun facts" about smiles and a dialogue box prompting users to continue their progress further contribute to the sense of accomplishment and engagement within the feature.

#### 3.1.3 PSD model

To enhance the persuasive nature of our intervention in assisting users with emotion regulation, we incorporated commonly used persuasive strategies Reminders, Tunnelling, Praise, Self-Monitoring, Goal Setting and rewards [32], [108], [109]. These strategies were adopted from the PSD model developed by Oinas-Kukkonen in 2009[32].

To motivate users, we emphasized the impact of SmileApp and its potential benefits in regulating emotions. Additionally, during the gameplay of SmileGram, we employed a pop-up feature that presented users with interesting facts about the advantages of smiling (Fig. 3.10). This reinforcement further enhanced users' motivation to participate in the activity. We also ensured that the gameplay was designed to be simple and easy to use. By requiring only a smile to participate, we eliminated the need for extensive effort or specific skills. This simplicity increased the users' ability to act, allowing a broader range of individuals to engage with the app effectively.

Furthermore, we strategically utilized smiles as a means to unlock messages received by the user. This served as a trigger to encourage users to smile, as it aligned with the desired behaviour and provided additional motivation to engage with the app and its features.

### 3.2 Intervention Design and Implementation

In this section, we provide a comprehensive overview of the development process of SmileApp, starting from the initial conceptualization to the final implementation. We delve into the design choices, technologies utilized, the iterative refinement approach, and the key features of the completed application. Additionally, we will provide a detailed account of the app's usage and functionality.

#### 3.2.1 SmileApp Design Considerations

When designing SmileApp, several considerations were taken into account to ensure optimal performance and a user-friendly experience. The choice of platform for intervention distribution was carefully deliberated, with options including web, mobile, or utilizing existing social media apps such as Facebook, Twitter, Telegram, or WhatsApp. Drawing from the insights gained through the literature review, it was observed that the majority of reviewed papers (85%) deployed their interventions on mobile devices. This aligns with the widespread adoption of mobile technology for mental health interventions, supported by studies that have shown the effectiveness of smartphone apps in this domain [40][110][111][112]. Furthermore, mobile platforms provide

the advantage of ubiquitous accessibility, enabling personalized notifications and reminders to users.

In terms of colour considerations, the selection of the dominant colour in SmileApp was driven by the objective of evoking positive emotions. Green was chosen based on research indicating that it predominantly elicits positive emotions such as relaxation and comfort, as it symbolizes nature [107]. Ensuring ease of use was another key design goal, as it has been identified as a crucial factor influencing users' decision to engage and continue engaging with mobile apps according to the study conducted by Chang et al. [113].

To guide the design process, to enhance the usability and usefulness of the app, HCI researchers were engaged in the evaluation process. Their expertise and insights were sought to assess the app's design and functionality, leading to valuable recommendations and improvements. This approach facilitated the creation of a system that aligns with their needs, preferences, and contextual factors. As a reflection of our commitment to developing a useful and functional app, I conducted a pilot study among HCI researchers. This pilot study aimed to assess the usability of the initial design of SmileApp and gather valuable feedback for further improvements.

For the pilot study, seven HCI researchers were recruited to use the beta version of SmileApp for three days. After three days, they completed the system usability questionnaire (SUS) to assess the system's usability and participated in an interview session to provide additional insights through open-ended questions. The qualitative data from the pilot study was thematically analyzed while a one-sample t-test was conducted on the SUS data. feedback and recommendations gathered from the pilot study were instrumental in refining the three main features of the app. In the subsequent sections, we provide detailed descriptions of the implementation and design aspects of SmileApp.

## 3.2.2 SmileApp Development Tools

This section provides an overview of the development process that transformed the initial concept of SmileApp, based on the aforementioned models, into a fully functional and user-enjoyable mobile application. To implement the front-end of SmileApp, we utilized the Dart programming language [35] and the Flutter framework [114]. The choice of Flutter was driven by the desire to have a single code base that could cater to both Android and iOS platforms, which are the most widely used smartphone operating systems at the time of this study [115]. By leveraging Flutter,

we could streamline the development process and ensure a consistent user experience across different devices.

For the backend development of SmileApp, we employed the Java programming language [116] and the Spring Boot framework [117]. Java is a well-established and robust object-oriented programming language that offers a rich set of APIs, making it ideal for developing efficient software systems [116]. The Spring Boot framework provided a comprehensive set of tools and libraries to support the backend development process. To code the backend and front-end, we utilized the IntelliJ integrated development environment (IDE) and Android Studio, respectively. IntelliJ is a widely used smart Java development IDE by JetBrains, well-regarded in the software industry [118], and offers excellent support for Spring Boot. Android Studio, on the other hand, is the official IDE for Android application development [119] and offers robust support for cross-platform frameworks like Flutter.

By leveraging these technologies and development tools, we were able to create a fully functional mobile app that delivers the SmileApp experience to users. The integration of Dart, Flutter, Java, and Spring Boot facilitated efficient and effective development, allowing us to bring our vision to life and provide a seamless and enjoyable user experience.

## 3.3 SmileApp Architecture

In the development of our intervention, we placed a strong emphasis on optimizing the performance of the SmileApp to ensure its use on a wide range of devices, including low-performance devices. This consideration was essential as our target audience spans various regions, from developed nations to developing countries. To address the challenge that users may face in running the app on low-performance devices, we adopted a client-server architecture [120] for the entire system.

In this architecture, we separated most of the computationally intensive processes from the mobile application. The backend application, hosted on AWS Canada [121], was responsible for handling these resource-intensive tasks, while the frontend (mobile app) interacted with the backend through an application programming interface (API) [122]. This separation of responsibilities allowed us to offload the computational burden from the mobile app and leverage the processing power of the backend infrastructure.

To minimize the impact on the user's device and reduce network bandwidth usage, we implemented a local temporary memory within the mobile app. This temporary memory stored data locally on the device and was only sent to the backend after a user stopped using a feature instead of sending data as the user used the feature, thereby reducing frequent API calls. By employing this approach, we not only improved the overall efficiency of the system but also mitigated potential bandwidth constraints. The high-level system architecture of the SmileApp is depicted in Figure 3.1, illustrating the different components of the entire system and their interactions:



*Figure 3.1 High-level System Architecture of SmileApp Showing the Mobile App and Backend Interaction.* 

## 3.3.1 Backend Architecture

The backend of the SmileApp is a Java application built on the Springboot framework [117]. The backend architecture is broken into smaller services where each service is responsible for a single task. In the backend, three core components make up the backend of this system.

- 1. The Database
- 2. The Notification Service

#### 3. AI Model

**The Database**: We used a relational database MySQL to store user data. The choice of a relational database was necessary due to its efficiency in storing structured data [123]. The data we were expecting are structured hence the MySQL was a good fit, we managed interaction and database query using the Object Relational Mapping tool hibernate [124].

**The Notification Service**: This component implemented a push notification on the system using Firebase. The push notification functionality helps deliver asynchronous messages to users.

**The AI model**: Our intervention has a conversational AI feature that interacts with a user as a friend. This is to create a form of companionship in pursuance of our goal to improve the user's mood and reduce feelings of loneliness and boredom. To achieve this, we trained a machine learning model to generate conversational-like text. We employed an open-source OpenAI GPT and GPT 2 Transformer learning model [125] which allows us to retrain the model using a different dataset that best suits our intervention target. The data we used in training the model is secondary data from 25k empathic conversations based on emotional situations [126]. After training the model with this dataset and testing it, it generated comprehensive responses, however, it could not hold broad discussions as users may want to discuss everyday activities other than emotional content as a way to companionship and distract themselves from their stress. To resolve this and provide a chatbot that users could have a broader conversation with, we explored the option of using ChatGPT API which is more robust in conversation and trained with very large datasets and parameters.

ChatGPT is an AI chatbot published by Open Artificial Intelligence (OpenAI) in November 2022. This bot was built on generative Pre-trained Transformer (GPT) architecture [127]. To ensure the sentiment of the generated text by the AI, the tone transformation prompt technique was employed to influence the AI's output towards positive sentiments that align with users' comments. Additionally, the feedback from the AI model was tested using Dart-sentiment [34] to validate that it consistently generates positive feedback. This approach aimed to maintain a sentimentally positive tone in all text generated by the AI and enhance the user experience. To the best of our knowledge, we are the first to use ChatGPT as a companionship tool for developing a tool that helps users regulate their emotions.

### 3.3.2 Frontend Architecture

The front-end architecture of the SmileApp consists of four key components that collectively drive the application's features and functionality: (1) the API call module, (2) the Statement management module, (3) the popup messages, and (4) the user interface (UI) display components.

- The API call module facilitates the interaction between the front-end and the back-end of the system. It enables the app to save data to the remote database and retrieve the most upto-date information by making asynchronous API calls. By employing asynchronous calls, the app's efficiency is improved, and users' activities are not obstructed while waiting for server responses because they run in the background. This approach enhances usability and compensates for potential delays in data transfer over the Internet.
- 2. The statement management module handles the application's data during usage. It caches data locally, minimizing the frequency of database calls, and facilitates the seamless transition of data between different screens. This module interacts with both the API module (for fetching data from the backend) and the UI module (for displaying data to users). To implement this module, we utilized the built-in state management system in Flutter, specifically the Value-Notifier because it has a performance advantage over third-party state-management solutions since it is native to Flutter [128].
- 3. The UI component comprises various Flutter Widgets responsible for displaying content to users and enabling their interaction with SmileApp. This includes tables, lists, buttons, text boxes, and containers. The UI widgets refresh dynamically whenever there are changes in the data content, and this process is managed by the Value-Notifiers.
- 4. The popup module consists of alerts that guide users on appropriate actions or provide warnings regarding incorrect actions. We also utilize pop-up mechanisms to encourage users as they progress in using the app and achieve points or milestones.

By incorporating these four components (as shown in Figure 3.2) into the front-end architecture, we ensure a cohesive and user-friendly experience for SmileApp users, facilitating seamless data

interaction, efficient API communication, and effective display of information through the user interface.



Figure 3.2 SmileApp Frontend Modules.

## 3.4 Deconstructing the SmileApp Functionalities

The SmileApp encompasses a comprehensive set of emotion regulation functionalities, primarily consisting of three main features that align with the theoretical frameworks discussed in section 3.1, which formed the basis of our design. Additionally, we incorporated specific functionalities to enhance the usability and efficiency of the system. Every component of the SmileApp was meticulously designed to foster mental well-being and alleviate stress.

In this section, we delve into the different components and features of the SmileApp, shedding light on the purpose behind each feature and its intended impact. By exploring these aspects, we aim to provide a comprehensive understanding of how SmileApp effectively promotes emotional well-being.

This section is subdivided into three to describe each specific aspect of the SmileApp we are highlighting. These subsections include:

 The SmileApp Features: In this section, we will provide a detailed overview of each feature incorporated into SmileApp. We will delve into the functionality and purpose of each feature, highlighting how they contribute to the overall user experience and emotional wellbeing enhancement. 2. The Persuasive Strategy: This section will focus on discussing the various persuasive strategies employed in SmileApp. We will explore the underlying principles and techniques utilized to motivate users and facilitate behaviour change. By examining the persuasive strategies implemented, we aim to shed light on the mechanisms through which SmileApp effectively encourages users to regulate their emotions and cultivate positive well-being.

Figure 3.3 will provide a visual representation of the home screen, presenting the three main features of the SmileApp. When each of the features is clicked, a brief description of its function pops up to guide the user.



Figure 3.3 SmileApp Home Screen

# 3.4.1 SmileApp Persuasive Strategies

In the SmileApp design, we employed persuasive strategies that are commonly used in various persuasive health apps. These persuasive strategies were adopted from Oinas-Kukkonen's persuasive system design (PSD)model [105]. In this section, we highlight the persuasive strategies implemented in SmileApp. We implemented 8 persuasive strategies in the SmileAPP as shown in Table 3.1.

Strategy	Description	Implementation
Reminder	The system reminds users to partake in	Notifications and voice
	actions that will further achieve a target	Prompt to remind players to
	behaviour.	keep smiling.
Tunnelling	Guides users' attitude or behaviour to	The SmileGram Game
	achieve a set target by providing means	
	to action.	
Praise	Provides user feedback based on	Smile Fun-fact Popup with
	behaviour	a congratulatory message
Self-Monitoring	Provides user means to track	Your Smile Map
	performance and status, thereby giving	
	a user a clear view of achievement per	
	time.	
Social Comparison	Provide means to compare the	Top Smilers
	performance of users to other users.	
Rewards	Provides virtual rewards to users to give	Points Gained from
	credit to achievement in performing a	Painting Countries
	target behaviour.	
Goal Setting	Goal Setting This gives users things to work towards,	
	a target to meet and surpass which keeps	
	them motivated	
Social Role	Give users a sense of responsibility and	Responding to Community
	value knowing they are contributing to	members' emotional
	others	request

Table 3.1: Persuasive strategies employed in SmileApp.

### 3.4.2 SmileApp Features

### 3.4.2.1 The SmileGram feature.

In this feature, we implemented a gaming activity that was aimed to completely immerse the user and absorb in a mental activity which according to the flow theory creates genuine satisfaction [104]. Studies have shown that a smile helps the body to release neuropeptides which fight off stress [27]. As the overall purpose of our intervention is to elicit positive moods, we used this feature to persuade users to smile to fight off stress and improve users' moods which will lead to positive emotions. According to the PREMA model [106], positive emotion is more than just "happiness" alone, it includes interest and pride. According to Conner et al., one can build positive emotions by doing creative activities they enjoy [129]. Behind this background, we designed the SmileGram with gaming elements to captivate users' interest and give them pride in accomplishing goals with their smiles compared to other users in the system. The core of this feature is to motivate a user to smile, irrespective of the situation around them at the moment (see Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4 The SmileGram Feature: Letters A-G represent components of this feature.

A – Sound Control, B – Countdown timer, C – Country Name, D – Country Count, E – Moving icons, F – the map (completed and incomplete portion), G – Camera preview.

The SmileGram feature (Figure 3.4) of the SmileApp presents users with a mission to transform the world from grey to green through the power of the user's smile as an innovative way to give the user target goal in line with the persuasive system design model. The feature encompasses a map that initially appears in grey, representing 175 countries (F). The user's objective is to paint the entire map green by aligning two icons (E) with their smile. Each time the icons overlap perfectly with a specific country, indicated by the country name appearing (C), that country will be painted green.

To accomplish this task, users must maintain a smile until the two icons overlap. Precision is crucial, as the user needs to promptly pause their smile once the icons align, preventing them

from moving past each other. To track the user's smile, the SmileGram feature utilizes the Google ML kit (Flutter package) [130] The ML Kit has high accuracy which has been likened to that of humans [131] this technology detects the user's smile and ensures that they actively participate in the feature. If the smile is not detected for 3 seconds, a voice note is played, reminding the user to "Keep smiling." Users have the option to mute this sound by using the A button. Additionally, a countdown timer (B) is implemented to provide users with an indication of the time required to align the moving icons, adding a sense of challenge and urgency to the experience to give users a sense of accomplishment in line with the PERMA model.

#### 3.4.2.2 PocketBuddy feature.

Pocket Buddy is a conversational chatbot with the persona of a friend called Adaeze, who interacts with users as a friend would have, to keep them company. Chatbot as defined by Shevat is a kind of interface [132] which stands between the abstract computing process of the computer and the user. The use of chatbots is gradually appearing in the area of mental health as an intervention tool to administer mental health solutions [132].

Studies have shown the efficacy and feasibility of using an AI chatbot to address mental health-related issues. For example, Fulmer et al. [133] evaluated the efficacy of integrative psychological AI (Tess) for therapy and mindfulness thereby reducing self-identified symptoms of depression and anxiety in college students [133]. The results of the study showed that AI can serve as a cost-effective and accessible therapeutic agent. Similarly, Fitzpatrick et al. [134] employed an automated conversational agent (Woebot) to deliver a self-help program for college students who self-identify as having symptoms of anxiety and depression [134], the result from the study validates the feasibility and effectiveness of conversational agents to deliver CBT. Although chatbots have been used for several purposes like customer service inquiry, here we implemented the conversational agent as a companion. Hence, the name "PocketBuddy", is like giving users a "friend" to converse with. Unlike other chatbot implementations that focused on delivering information, we used a chatbot to deliver a sense of companionship to users. The chatbot can engage in any type of discussion on any topic making it a worthy companion. Companionship has been shown to improve mood [135], hence we incorporated a conversational AI agent that will serve as a companion to users.

2:44 🖼 🛅 💌 🔹		<b>Q R</b> , 5	il 41% 🗎
÷	Your Po	ocketBuddy	
C	Adaeze I'm doing a	well, thank you <u>. How</u>	,
G	Adaeze I'm doing about you	well, thank you. Hov 1?	,
C	Adaeze I'm doing about you	well, thank you. Hov 1? You	
6	Adaeze I'm doing about you	well, thank you. How 1? You I am doing great	SA SA
C	Adaeze I'm doing about you	well, thank you. How ?? You I am doing great	SA
C	Adaeze I'm doing about you Adaeze That's gre	well, thank you. How 1? You I am doing great at to hear!	SA
	Adaeze I'm doing about you Adaeze That's gre	well, thank you. How ? You I am doing great at to hear!	SA
(Contraction of the second sec	Adaeze I'm doing y about you Adaeze That's gre	well, thank you. Hov 1? You I am doing great at to hear!	SA A
Me:	Adaeze I'm doing about you Adaeze That's gre	well, thank you. How ? You I am doing great at to hear!	SA A

Figure 3.5 Pocket Buddy

There are no keywords required to initiate a conversation between the user and the chatbot. To interact with the chatbot, the user clicks on the feature and can start any form of conversation with a key phrase or anything as shown in Figure 3.5.

# 3.4.2.3 myTribe Feature.

This is a community of users who share supportive messages anonymously. This feature was designed to build a sense of support, connectedness, and relationship amongst users as it is a reflection of flourishing well-being according to the PERMA model. In the study conducted by Alqahtani et al. [136], a comprehensive investigation was undertaken to discern the essential functionalities required for the development of a next-generation mHealth system. The researchers gathered insights by surveying self-diagnosed patients grappling with mental health concerns, aiming to capture their opinions, perceptions, preferences, and experiences. The results of this survey indicated that anonymous communication within a social community emerged as one of the favoured choices among the participants. Anonymity removes bias and fear of judgment, allowing users to freely express how they feel. The myTribe feature is aimed at building a community where everyone feels loved, supported and valued; this is what the PERMA model

refers to as a relationship[106]. We keep every interaction in the community safe, supportive, and empathic by censoring every message shared by users. We achieved this by using Dart sentiment 0.0.9, an AFINN-based sentiment analysis for the Dart programming language[34] as the first point of the check. When the Dart sentiment flags the content of the message as positive, the system will allow the user to send it. Upon the user's message submission, an additional layer of verification is implemented, wherein the research team carefully reviews the content to ensure its positivity and supportiveness. This serves as an extra step in the approval process before the message is deemed appropriate for delivery. Once approved by the research team, the message is then transmitted to the intended user. The myTribe feature is aimed at increasing connectedness which is associated with low stress[137].

This feature is initiated by a user selecting an emotion that closely relates to how they feel from the emotion palate (see Figure 3.7) adapted from Ekman et al.'s six basic emotions ("Not Happy", Surprised, Fearful, Sad, Angry, and Disgusted) [138]. When the user clicks on the "submit" button, the app notifies all users about the emotion of the user. The notification generated by the system to inform other users of the user's emotion is subjected to a persuasive rephrasing process aimed at increasing its impact on users. For instance, when a user indicates their emotional state as "Not Happy" within the SmileApp, the system encapsulates this information in an alert message that reads, "An individual is currently experiencing unhappiness. Would you be willing to offer words of kindness and encouragement by replying?" The intention behind such formulation is to motivate users to actively engage in supporting and uplifting others through their responses in the MyTribe feature. When other users receive the alert, they will compose a supportive and empathetic message for this user. If the message is not positive the app will alert the user to edit it or else, it will not be sent. As recommended by the ethics committee, a second layer of verification by the research team was implemented by checking the message to ensure that it is positive and approving the message before it is delivered to the proposed recipient. When the user receives an empathic message from other community members, they can only unlock the message with a smile by clicking on the envelope icon that appears and wait for the 5-second countdown then smile to the camera.







Figure 3.7 MyTribe Feature Screenshots: Letters A-G represent each step in this feature.

A – The user clicks to share emotions, and SmileApp pops up a summary of how the feature works.

B – List of emotions from where the user selects one or more emotion(s) closest to how they feel.

C – SmileApp informs the user to expect messages shortly from other users.

D-Logs of yet to be responded emotion broadcast from users who share their emotions.

E – Recipient replies to the message (Dart-sentiment, analyzes the message at this point before allowing this user to send this reply).

F – The research team reverifies the message as a second layer of check to ensure the user's emotion safety.

G – When it is delivered and read by users, it is logged.

#### 3.4.2.4 Top Smilers

The SmileApp includes a leaderboard feature (Figure 3.8) that provides users with insights into their performance relative to other users as a social comparison in line with the persuasive system design model. The leaderboard displays users' rankings based on the number of countries they have successfully painted green using the SmileGram feature. This ranking is dynamically updated each time a user achieves a new score, this is in line with a social comparison of persuasive system design model.

The ranking process occurs at the backend of the system, where an array of users is sorted in descending order based on the number of countries they have painted green with their smiles. This sorted array is then sent to the front-end, where it is presented to the user as a leaderboard. By providing this ranking system, users can compare their performance with others and derive a sense of achievement and progress within the SmileApp community.

3:37 💬 📧 🕨	í v k	?î, <sup>R</sup> II <sup>R</sup> II 98% ∎				
Achievements						
۲		$\mathbf{\nabla}$				
Top Smilers						
S21D21 <b>***</b> 40.0%						
<b>S13</b> 0D130 🌞 10.0%						
<b>S1</b> 46D146 🐞 8.0%						
<b>S2</b> 7D27 🔶 8.0%						
<b>S</b> 133D133 🔶 6.0%						
<b>S</b> 101D101 🔶 6.0%						
<b>S</b> 132D132 🖕 6.0%						
S163D162 🔶 6.0%						
\$25D25 🖕 6.0%						
<b>S</b> 3D2 🔶 6.0%						
<b>A</b>	(¢)	G				
	0	<				

Figure 3.8 Leaderboard

# 3.4.2.5 Your Smile Map

This feature shows the user their performance in the app (Figure 3.9). Every country the user paints is displayed on this page with the pending countries painted grey. This will help users to keep track of the number of countries they have painted green and how many are left.



Figure 3.9 SmileMap

# 3.4.2.6 Reminder

This feature reminds users of pending tasks and encourages users to play the SmileGram game intermittently. The reminder notifies users when someone in the community needs supportive words and when the users receive supportive words from other users they are also reminded.

## 3.4.1.7 Smile Fun-Facts

The SmileApp incorporates a pop-up feature that complements the SmileGram functionality. This pop-up feature triggers when a user successfully aligns the icons and paints three countries at once, which occurs every three instances of alignment. The pop-up provides additional engagement and motivational elements to enhance the user experience.

Once activated, the pop-up feature not only acknowledges the user's achievement but also presents interesting and enjoyable smile-related facts. These fun facts serve as a form of encouragement and reinforcement, motivating the user to continue using the app and engaging with the SmileGram

feature. By integrating this feature, SmileApp aims to create a positive and rewarding user experience that promotes sustained usage and interaction with the app.



Figure 3.10 Smile Fun-Facts

# **Chapter 4 : SMILEAPP EVALUATION**

To assess the effectiveness and usability of SmileApp in achieving its intended objectives, a comprehensive evaluation was carried out through a combination of quantitative and qualitative research methods. This evaluation aimed to gather valuable insights and data to address the research questions outlined in Section 4.3, which guided the trajectory of our study.

The evaluation process involved administering pre- and post-questionnaires to participants, allowing for the collection of qualitative feedback and perceptions regarding the app's impact on their emotional well-being. Additionally, quantitative data gathered from the app itself supplemented the quantitative responses from the questionnaires, providing a more comprehensive understanding of the participants' engagement and progress.

By employing this mixed-methods approach, we sought to capture both the participants' experiences and their measurable outcomes, enabling us to gain a holistic perspective on the effectiveness of SmileApp in achieving its intended goals. The findings from this evaluation will contribute valuable insights to inform future improvements and enhancements to the app's functionality and user experience.

#### 4.1 Materials and Procedures

The core of our intervention is a smartphone app (the SmileApp) described in section 3.4. There were two phases to the SmileApp evaluation, the first was the pilot study followed by the main study.

#### 4.1.1 The Pilot Study

To assess the usability of the SmileApp and gather initial feedback for further refinement, a pilot study was conducted involving a group of seven experts in the field of human-computer interaction (HCI). These experts, who are researchers from the Persuasive Computing Lab at Dalhousie University, possess a strong background in smartphone app development and extensive knowledge in the area of HCI.

During the pilot study, the selected experts were given access to the SmileApp and instructed to use it for 3 days. This allowed them sufficient time to explore the app's features and functionalities. Following the usage period, the experts provided valuable feedback using the system usability

scale (SUS) on the app's usability and made recommendations for improvement based on their experience.

To evaluate the usability of the app, the experts were asked to complete a post-study questionnaire that included statements adapted from the System Usability Scale (SUS) [139]. The SUS is a widely recognized and validated instrument for assessing the usability of software systems. By utilizing this questionnaire, we aimed to gather quantitative data on the experts' perception of the app's usability (see Figure 4.1) and identify areas that required further attention and enhancement.

The feedback received from the pilot study played a crucial role in refining and finalizing the development of SmileApp for the subsequent main study. The insights and recommendations provided by the experts helped to address any identified usability issues and ensure that the app was optimized for a wider audience in the main study.



Figure 4.1 Pilot study SUS score. (M = 82.1, SD = 10.6)

The SUS revealed an average score of 82.5 (SD = 10.6) which indicates the overall usability of SmileApp is "excellent"[140]. Participants saw the concept of SmileApp to be unique. For example, one expert commented "*The concept of the app is nice and unique*" [P5]. We also received some recommendations for improving the app which we implemented before the main

study. Below is a list of the recommendations selected through thematic analysis from the pilot study interview which we found helpful and implemented to improve the app.

- To make the SmileGram less boring, a pop-up message can be presented after a few countries are painted.
- Reduce the number of reminder notifications.
- The keep smiling voice prompt in SmileGram is too repetitive. Reduce it.
- Display the total points on the homepage.

To implement the pilot study recommendations, we added the praise pop-up on the SmileGram and reduced the "keep smiling" voice prompt on the SmileApp to every 3 seconds. We also reduced notification to users from hourly to twice a day and added the total points achieved by a user on the home screen in line with the recommendation.

# 4.1.2 The Main Study

After improving the SmileApp based on the feedback received from the pilot study, we proceeded to the main study which involved a random recruitment of 101 participants who met the eligibility criteria (Age > 18, Proficiency in English Language, Having access to Smart Phone, and Have internet access) to use the app for 14 days [141]–[144]. This part of the study aims to investigate the effectiveness of SmileApp, this process involved:

- Participant recruitment
- Participants screening
- Pre-study questionnaire: Online
- App use: User's natural environment (e.g., at home)
- Post-study questionnaire (online)
- An optional interview session: Online (Conducted and recorded via Microsoft Teams)

# 4.2 Participant Recruitment

To recruit participants for our study, we employed various methods including social media campaigns on platforms like Twitter and LinkedIn, as well as email notices. We also encouraged individuals within our network, including friends and social media followers, to share the recruitment notice about our study and the invitation for participants. Through these recruitment efforts, we received significant interest from approximately 175 individuals.

To ensure that the recruited participants met the necessary criteria, we implemented a screening process. Initially, 74 individuals were deemed ineligible during the screening due to not meeting the specific requirements. However, 101 participants successfully passed the screening and met all the necessary qualifications, subsequently joining the study.

To participate in the study, prospective participants were directed to a screening questionnaire (Appendix P) to verify their eligibility. The screening questionnaire assessed criteria such as age (18 years or above), proficiency in the English language, possession of a smartphone, and internet access. If the prospective participant met all the required criteria and clicked the "NEXT" button, they were presented with the consent form (Appendix B).

For those who did not meet the criteria, upon clicking the "Next" button, a message was displayed informing them that they were not eligible to participate in the study. The message expressed appreciation for their interest while explaining that their exclusion was due to not meeting all the requirements.

The eligible participants were presented with the consent form (Appendix B), which provided detailed information regarding their participation in the research. To proceed with the study, participants were required to provide their consent by selecting the "yes" option in response to the "I consent" question. Additionally, participants were requested to provide their email address, which would be used to send them a download link for the SmileApp and their login details, facilitating their involvement in the study.

#### 4.2.1 Participants onboarding

Upon providing their consent to participate in the study, participants proceeded to complete the demographic survey (Appendix: D). This survey collects information about participants' demographic characteristics, allowing for a comprehensive understanding of the study population. However, participants who did not provide consent to the study conditions will not be able to proceed any further, receiving a message indicating that their participation is contingent upon consent to participate.

After completing the demographic questionnaire, participants were directed to fill out a pre-study questionnaire. This questionnaire includes assessments of participants' happiness levels and social connectedness, which are important factors to consider in the context of the study. The pre-study

questionnaire consists of multiple sections, including Appendices E, F, and G, which capture relevant data related to happiness and social connectedness.

Once participants have submitted the pre-study questionnaire, they receive an email containing a download link for the SmileApp and a unique participant ID, such as P012. The participant ID serves as a means for participants to log in to SmileApp and access the app. This process ensures that participants have the necessary tools and information to engage with SmileApp and contribute to the study.

#### **4.2.2** Participants Activities

Once participant receives the link to download the app in their email provided at the beginning of the study, participants will download the *SmileApp* and install it on their smartphone so they can use it for the duration of the study. Once the participant downloads the app, the 14-day period starts counting down and we tracked the usage log. When they log in for the first time, they will see instructions for each of the three features (SmileGram, PocketBuddy, MyTribe) to understand how to use the app (Appendix U). Participants in the study were able to engage with various features of the SmileApp, each serving a specific purpose aligned with the research objectives. These features include:

SmileGram Game: Participants were able to actively participate in the SmileGram game, where their objective was to paint each country green by aligning the smile icons. By successfully aligning the icons, participants contributed to the overall goal of smiling, improving their mood and enhancing emotional well-being.

Empathic and Supportive Messaging: Users had the opportunity to share empathic and supportive messages with other participants through the app. This feature aimed to foster a sense of community and provide emotional support within the SmileApp user base.

Unlocking Supportive Messages: Participants could unlock additional supportive messages from the app by utilizing their smile. This feature encouraged users to engage with the app and further reinforce positive emotions and well-being.

Interaction with the AI Bot: The SmileApp offered participants the ability to interact with an AI bot. This interactive component provided users with a conversational experience, allowing for engagement and potential guidance in their emotional well-being journey.

Performance Tracking and Leaderboard: Participants had access to a scoreboard within the app, which allowed them to track their performance and progress over time. Additionally, the leaderboard provided insight into the performance of other users, fostering a sense of competition and motivation.

On the final day of the study, participants were requested to complete the post-study questionnaire (Appendices: E, F, G, H, I, J, K, L, N). This comprehensive questionnaire aimed to gather valuable feedback and insights regarding participants' experiences with SmileApp, its effectiveness in promoting emotional well-being, and any suggestions for improvement. By collecting this data, we could further evaluate the impact and usability of SmileApp in achieving its intended goals.

Following the completion of the post-study questionnaire, participants were allowed to voluntarily participate in an optional interview. The purpose of this interview was to gather additional insights about SmileApp and obtain potential recommendations for improvement. It is important to note that the interview was entirely voluntary, and participants were free to opt out at any point during the interview if they felt any discomfort or preferred not to continue.

If participants expressed their willingness to be interviewed by selecting "Yes" and clicking "Next," they were presented with the Interview Consent Form (Appendix C). By selecting "Yes" and providing their email address, participants indicated their consent for the interview and expressed their interest in participating. Subsequently, the lead researcher reached out to these participants via email to coordinate a convenient time and date for the interview.

However, if participants chose "No" for the optional interview or did not provide consent, they were thanked for their time and participation in the study without being invited for an interview. It is important to respect participants' preferences and decisions regarding their involvement in the research process.

Only those participants who expressed interest and consented to the optional interview were contacted via email. Their provided email addresses were used as a means of communication for arranging the interview session. It is worth mentioning that participant email addresses were collected solely to coordinate the optional interview and ensure effective communication.

Figure 4.2 provides a visual representation of the flow of activities throughout the study, highlighting the various stages and decision points participants encountered during their engagement with the SmileApp research study.



Figure 4.2 Participants' onboarding process.

# 4.3 Research Questions and Measures

The main purpose of the study is to evaluate to what extent SmileApp can elicit positive moods and regulate user emotions. We developed 5 research questions which guided our study which we aim to answer at the end of this study:

- 1. How effective is SmileApp for eliciting a positive mood?
- 2. How engaging and Usable is the SmileApp for users to accomplish their goals of activating positive mood?
- 3. How effective is SmileApp in helping users find social support?
- 4. How effective is the Smile App for motivating continued use?
- 5. How persuasive and useful is SmileApp in improving user's mood?

To address the research questions outlined above, our study employed a range of validated questionnaires commonly used in the field of Human-Computer Interaction (HCI). These questionnaires have been extensively utilized by previous research studies, ensuring their reliability and relevance. The following questionnaires shown in Table 4.1 were employed to gather data and insights.

Questionnaires	Description of Use	Appendix
Demographic Questionnaire	This questionnaire collected participant	Appendix D
	characteristics such as age, gender and	
	educational background.	
Oxford Happiness Scale	This scale was used to assess participants'	Appendix E
(OHQ) [145]	psychological well-being and measure their	
	level of happiness.	
Social Connectedness Scale	The Social Connectedness Scale was	Appendix F
[146]	employed to evaluate the extent to which	
	participants felt connected to others in their	
	social environment.	
Positive and Negative Affect	This scale measured participants' emotions	Appendix G
Schedule (PANAS-SF) [147]	by assessing their positive and negative	
	affect levels.	
User Engagement Scale	The User Engagement Scale was utilized to	Appendix I
(UES-SF) [148]	gauge participants' level of engagement	
	with SmileApp.	
Intrinsic Motivation Inventory	This inventory assessed participants'	Appendix J
--------------------------------	--	------------
(Value/Usefulness subscale)	intrinsic motivation by examining their	
[149]	perceived value and usefulness of the	
	SmileApp.	
Perceived Persuasive Scale	The Perceived Persuasive Scale was used	Appendix L
	to evaluate participants' perception of the	
	persuasiveness of various features within	
	SmileApp.	
Interview Questions Guide	This guide provided a framework for	Appendix M
	conducting optional interviews with	
	participants to gather further insights and	
	recommendations for improving the app.	
Brief Mood Introspection	The BMIS was utilized to capture	Appendix N
Scale (BMIS) [150]	participants' current mood and	
	introspection during the study.	
System Usability Scale (SUS)	The SUS was employed to assess the	Appendix H
[139]	usability of the SmileApp and gather	
	participants' feedback on its user-	
	friendliness.	
Future Intention	This questionnaire captured participants'	Appendix K
Questionnaire	intentions and interest in continuing to use	
	SmileApp in the future.	

By employing these validated scales and questionnaires, we were able to measure various aspects of SmileApp's usability, effectiveness, persuasiveness, and user experience. These measurements provided valuable insights and facilitated the answering of our research questions.

## 4.3.1 Dependent Variables

**Participant Mood:** To assess the impact of our intervention on participants' moods, we utilized validated scales to measure their psychological well-being and emotions. The Oxford Happiness Scale (OHQ) and the Brief Mood Introspection Scale (BMIS) (Appendix N) were employed for this purpose.

The Oxford Happiness Scale (OHQ) is designed to evaluate both the cognitive and affective dimensions of happiness. It captures participants' cognitive assessment of their overall well-being and their affective experience, including the presence of positive emotions and the absence of negative emotions. The OHQ has been widely used in previous studies as a reliable measure of happiness [151][152][153][154].

To further understand participants' moods and emotions, we utilized the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS-SF). This standardized instrument employs a 5-point Likert scale and has been extensively employed in research to measure both positive and negative affect [155][156].

By employing these measurement tools, we aimed to answer RQ1 (*How effective is the SmileApp for eliciting positive mood?*). These assessments provided us with a baseline measurement of participants' mental well-being before engaging with SmileApp, enabling us to track and evaluate any changes in mood throughout the study.

**System Usability, Engagement, and Intention for Future Use:** To assess the usability and engagement of SmileApp, we employed validated questionnaires and measurement tools. Usability refers to the quality of the user experience when interacting with a system, and it is crucial to understand how participants perceive the usability of our app.

To measure the perceived usability of the SmileApp, we utilized the System Usability Scale (SUS). The SUS is a widely used questionnaire-based instrument that assesses users' subjective perception of a system's ease of use, efficiency, learnability, and overall user satisfaction. It has been applied in various domains, including software development, website design, and product evaluation [157][158][159].

In addition to usability, we wanted to evaluate the level of user engagement and the likelihood of future app usage. For this purpose, we employed the User Engagement Scale (UES-SF). The UES-SF not only measures usability but also captures aspects such as aesthetic appeal and the feeling of reward during app usage. It has been widely utilized in previous studies to assess user engagement [160][161][162].

Furthermore, we collected data on participants' intentions for future use of the app using the Future Intention questionnaire. This allowed us to investigate **RQ**2 (*How engaging and usable is the SmileApp for users to accomplish their goals of activating positive mood?*). Research suggests that users are more likely to continue using software if they find it useful [163].

To complement the quantitative data, we also conducted interviews with participants using a set of interview questions (Appendix M). These interviews provided an opportunity for participants to elaborate on their thoughts and experiences, offering deeper insights that complemented the quantitative data gathered through the questionnaires.

By employing these measures, we aimed to gain a comprehensive understanding of the usability, engagement, and future intention for app usage, providing valuable insights into the effectiveness of SmileApp in helping users achieve their goals of a positive mood.

**Social Connectedness**: Loneliness has been associated with negative emotions [164], and in our study, we aimed to explore the social components of the SmileApp that promote connectedness and assess its impact on users' social connectedness. To measure the perceived social connectedness of users, we utilized the Social Connectedness Scale (SCS) (Appendix F). The SCS has been widely employed in previous research to assess users' perceived social connectedness [165][166][167].

By using the SCS, we sought to examine the effectiveness of the SmileApp in helping users find social support, which aligns with **RQ3** (*How effective was the SmileApp in helping users find social support?*). We hypothesized that participants who initially scored lower on the social connectedness scale would experience an improvement in their SCS scores after engaging with SmileApp.

This measurement was crucial as our intervention aimed to promote positive mood, and understanding the impact of SmileApp on users' social connectedness would provide insights into its effectiveness in fostering social support. By analyzing the data obtained from the SCS, we anticipated observing positive changes in participants' social connectedness scores, indicating the potential of the SmileApp to enhance users' sense of social support.

**User experience of the SmileApp:** To understand participants' subjective experiences and their motivation to use the SmileApp, we utilized the Intrinsic Motivation Inventory (IMI) (specifically, the usefulness subscale) [145] (see Appendix J) and the Future Intention Scale (FIS) (Appendix K). The FIS is a 5-point Likert scale that measures participants' willingness to use the SmileApp in the future, while the IMI is a 7-point Likert scale that helps us determine the user experience and whether their motivations are intrinsic or not.

By employing these subjective questionnaires, in conjunction with the objective data logged from the SmileApp (such as "frequency of use" and "smile duration"), we aimed to answer **RQ4** (*How effective is the SmileApp for motivating continued use?*). We sought to understand the factors that drive participants' motivation to continue using the app and assess whether SmileApp effectively fosters sustained engagement.

The IMI and FIS questionnaires, along with the objective usage data, provided valuable insights into participants' experience, their perceptions of the app's usefulness, and their intentions to continue using the SmileApp in the future. These measures allowed us to examine the effectiveness of SmileApp in promoting sustained motivation and usage among users.

**System Persuasiveness:** The term "persuasiveness" is employed to describe the inherent capacity of a system to effectively influence and motivate changes in behaviour [168]. In the context of our research, we were interested in assessing the persuasiveness of the SmileApp and its effectiveness in improving users' moods. This inquiry guided us in answering **RQ5** (*How persuasive and useful is the SmileApp in improving users' mood?*)

To evaluate the persuasiveness of the SmileApp, we collected subjective data using the Perceived Persuasive Scale [169] (see Appendix L). This scale utilizes a 7-point Likert scale to examine users' perceptions of SmileApp's overall persuasiveness, as well as the persuasiveness of its features. By employing this scale, we aimed to gather insights into how users perceive the app's ability to influence their attitudes and behaviours positively. By assessing the perceived persuasiveness of the SmileApp, we gained valuable information on users' perceptions of its persuasive qualities and its effectiveness in improving their mood. This data complemented the objective measurements we collected and contributed to a comprehensive understanding of the app's overall persuasiveness and usefulness in achieving its intended goal of enhancing users' moods.

#### 4.3.2 Data Analysis

In this study, we collected both quantitative and qualitative data to enable us to gain more insight into the impact of the SmileApp and our analysis was thus:

**Quantitative Data.** For the quantitative data, we conducted a reliability test on all the scales used to confirm we have a good internal consistency with Cronbach's alpha ( $\alpha$ ) [170]. With a good internal consistency of all our scales, we separated our data into two sets.

The first set was data collected before and after the intervention, Brief Mood Introspection Scale (BMIS), Oxford Happiness Scale (OHQ), Social Connectedness Scale (SCS) and Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS-SF). We conducted a Shapiro-Wilk normality test on the Pre and Post data which showed that our data was not normally distributed then we used the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (M= Mean, SD= Standard 83 Deviation, W= Statistics, df = degrees of freedom, p = probability) to match the pairs of pre\_study and post\_study to see if there was a significant difference.

The second set of data was the data we collected just once after the intervention. We conducted a one-sample t-test on the System Usability Scale (SUS), User Engagement Scale (UES-SF), Intrinsic Motivational Inventory (IMI), Future intention scale (FIS), and Persuasiveness Scale (PS) fall into this category. The one-sample t-test was used to compare whether the ratings were significantly above the midpoint. Lastly, we compared the means of the persuasiveness of each feature of the SmileApp (SmileGram, PocketBuddy, MyTribe) and compared each of the features across demographic variables Age, Gender and Education status using Repeated Measures ANOVA. Table 4.2 summarizes the statistical tests conducted and when they were conducted in the study.

Instrument	Test Conducted	<b>Collection Period</b>
OHQ	Internal consistency, Shapiro-Wilk normality test, Wilcoxon signed-rank test	Before the intervention and After the Intervention
SCS	Internal consistency, Shapiro-Wilk normality test, Wilcoxon signed-rank test	Before the intervention and After the Intervention
PANAS-SF	Internal consistency, Shapiro-Wilk normality test, Wilcoxon signed-rank test	Before the intervention and After the Intervention
BMIS	Internal consistency, Shapiro-Wilk normality test, Wilcoxon signed-rank test	Before the intervention and After the Intervention
SUS	Internal consistency, one-sample t-test	After Intervention
UES-SF	Internal consistency, one-sample t-test	After Intervention
IMI	Internal consistency, one-sample t-test	After Intervention
FIS	Internal consistency, one-sample t-test	After Intervention
PS	Internal consistency, one-sample t-test, RM Anova	After Intervention

Table 4.2 Instrument used and analyses conducted.

All analyses were done using SPSS[171]. SPSS is a widely used and powerful tool for analyzing data and performing statistical analysis. We used it to perform inferential statistics such as t-tests and RM ANOVA.

**Qualitative Data**. We conducted a thematic analysis [172], following Braun and Clarke's [173] 6-step process to analyze the qualitative data:

Step 1: Become familiar with the data,

Step 2: Generate initial codes,

Step 3: Search for themes,

Step 4: Review themes,

Step 5: Define themes,

Step 6: Write-up.

The qualitative data provided deeper insights into the users' view of *SmileApp* and their possible recommendation(s). The results of the thematic analysis helped us gain additional insight into patterns and commonalities in users' behaviour, which reinforced the quantitative data collected from users.

# Chapter 5 : STUDY RESULTS

In this chapter, we present the results from the quantitative and qualitative analysis of the SmileApp evaluation. We first discuss results from the scales and instruments used (quantitative data) followed by the themes that were extracted from the qualitative data. This chapter is divided into three subsections, namely the Demographic subsection, the Qualitative analysis subsection and the Qualitative analysis subsection. The qualitative analysis section will comprise the analysis of the data from the semi-structured interviews and open-ended questions in the survey, we will be highlighting the themes derived from this data after a thematic analysis [172], following Braun and Clarke's [173] 6 step process to analyze the qualitative data. The quantitative analysis section will elaborate on the result of all scales and surveys used in this study, which was used in answering the research questions. We will be presenting the result of the Oxford Happiness Scale (OHQ) [145], Social Connectedness Scale [146], Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS-SF) [147], Intrinsic Motivation Inventory (Value/Usefulness) [149], Future Intention questionnaire, System Usability Scale (SUS) [139], Brief Mood Introspection Scale (BMIS) [150] and perceived persuasiveness of the SmileApp. We will present the overall usability of the SmileApp in terms of the User Engagement Scale (UES-SF) [148] in its subscales "Perceived Usability", "Aesthetic Appeal", "Focused Attention" and "Reward Factor".

We conducted a reliability test which demonstrated that all the scales used in the study had good internal consistency with the Cronbach's alpha ( $\alpha$ ) [170] values above the recommended threshold of 0.70 as shown in Table 5.1.

Scale	Cronbach's Alpha (α)
Oxford Happiness Questionnaire	0.795
Social Connectedness Scale	0.918
Positive Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS) (Positive)	0.918
Positive Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS) (Negative)	0.890
System Usability Scale (SUS)	0.700
User Engagement Scale (UES-SF) Short form	0.771
Intrinsic Motivation Inventory (IMI)	0.945
Future Intention Scale	0.891
Brief Mood Introspection Scale (BMIS)	0.841

Table 5.1 Cronbach's alpha for all scales used in the study.

Persuasive Scale (SmileGram)	0.940
Persuasive Scale (PocketBuddy)	0.969
Persuasive Scale (MyTribe)	0.978

## 5.1 Demographics

The demographics of our study population are shown in Table 5.2, also an overview of the participants' demographic data is shown in Figure 5.1. Results showed that the majority of participants fall in the age bracket of 18-25 years old (47%), most of the participants were women (63%) while for academic qualification, the majority held a bachelor's degree (51%) followed by high school graduates (24%).





Figure 5.1 Overview of the demographics of the study population

Demographic Factors				
	High School	24%		
	Bachelor's degree	51%		
Academic Qualification	College Diploma	11%		
	Master's degree	8%		
	Prefer not to answer	6%		
	18 - 25 years	47%		
Ago	26 - 35 years	38%		
Age	36 - 45 years	15%		
	Prefer not to answer	1%		
	Man	36%		
Gender	Woman	63%		
	Prefer not to answer	1%		

Table 5.2 Frequency and percentage of the demographics of the study population

## 5.2 Quantitative Analysis

To enable us to provide answers to all our research questions, we conducted different statistical analysis on the quantitative data we collected from the study using standardized scales and usage logs tracked from the SmileApp. An alpha level of 0.05 was set for all statistical tests.

First, we conducted a normality test on the Pre and Post data of the Oxford Happiness Scale (OHQ) [145], Social Connectedness Scale (SCS) [146], Brief Mood Introspection Scale (BMIS) [150], and Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS-SF) [147] using the Shapiro-Wilk normality test [174]. The result of the Shapiro-Wilk normality test revealed that our data was not normally distributed. Due to this non-normal distribution, we conducted a Wilcoxon signed-rank test [175] on the four scales (OHQ, BMIS, PANAS-SF, and SCS) which had Pre- and – Post data as shown in Table 5.3.

Next, we conducted a one-sample t-test on the other scales: Intrinsic Motivation Inventory (Value/Usefulness) [149], Future Intention questionnaire, System Usability Scale (SUS) [139], Perceived scale and User Engagement Scale (UES-SF) [148] to measure if the data is significantly different from the mid score of each scale.

Table 5.3 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Shapiro-Wilk test (M= Mean, SD= Standard 83 Deviation, W= Statistics, df = degrees of freedom, p = Significant value), N= 101, 87(for BMIS) for OHQ, SCS, PANAS-SF and BMIS

	PRE					Post						
	Descr	iptive		Shapiro-wilk			Descr	iptive		Shapiro-wilk		
	Statistics			test	test			tics		test		
Measures	Mean	Median	SD	W	df	р	Mean	Median	SD	W	df	р
OHQ	4.6	4.71	0.69	0.87	101	0.001	4.7	4.8	0.61	0.95	101	0.001
SCS	5.05	5.5	1.17	0.8	101	0.001	5.26	5.75	1.06	0.7	101	0.001
PANAS-SF	3.84	4	0.61	0.96	101	0.003	4.06	4.1	0.58	0.97	101	0.009
BMIS												
(Pleasantness)	53.26	54	6.75	0.92	87	0.001	56.67	58	6.39	0.91	87	0.01
BMIS (Calm)	37.53	38	4.09	0.95	87	0.003	40.16	40	4	0.98	87	0.13
BMIS												
(Positivity)	44.07	44	4.66	0.89	87	0.001	46.33	47	3.49	0.96	87	0.01

Table 5.3 presents the observed rise in Pre-Test and Post-Test means, indicating the positive outcomes achieved through our intervention aimed at enhancing the emotional well-being of the participants. Nevertheless, to thoroughly assess the extent of this improvement, we conducted additional analyses to determine the significance of these changes. We also employed various indicators and scales to evaluate the overall effectiveness of the SmileApp intervention.

	Descriptive Statistics ( $N = 101$ )						
Measures	Scale Midpoint	Mean	SD				
SUS	3	79.51	15				
UES-SF	3	3.75	0.59				
IMI	4	5.95	1.21				
FIS	3	4.45	0.73				
Persuasive (SmileGram)	4	5.87	1.45				
Persuasive (PocketBuddy)	4	6.07	1.37				
Persuasive (PocketBuddy)	4	5.66	1.77				

*Table 5.4 Summary results of the descriptive statistics of the One-sample t-test (N= Sample Size, SD= Standard Deviation) for SUS, UES-SF, IMI, FIS, PS* 

Table 5.4 shows that each instrument's Mean was above the mid-points (SUS = 68, UES-SF = 3, IMI = 4, FIS = 3, PS = 3) indicating the effectiveness of our intervention. However, we further examined whether there is a significant difference in this improvement. In the following sections, we provide the details of each scale and how it answers the research questions.

#### 5.2.1 Perceived Happiness Level

Our intervention aims to elicit smiles and improve users' emotions hence we intend to measure the participant's happiness level which will contribute to answering RQ1 "*How effective is SmileApp for eliciting positive mood?*". To achieve this, we employed the Oxford Happiness Questionnaire (OHQ). The OHQ is 6 points (1 = Strongly Disagree, 2 = Disagree, 3 = Slightly Disagree, 4 = Slightly Agree, 5 = Agree and 6 = Strongly Agree) Likert scale with 3.5 as the neutral point assesses both the cognitive and affective components of happiness. While affective happiness captures the presence of positive emotion and absence of negative emotion, the cognitive happiness refers to individual satisfaction with their overall well-being. The OHQ has been applied in several studies to measure happiness [151][152][153][154].

To begin with, we conducted a comprehensive analysis that involved computing a frequency distribution and calculating the average score (OHQ) for the participants in both the Pre-Test and Post-Test phases. The findings exhibited improvements across participants' self-assessed ratings of happiness, as depicted in Figure 5.2. Furthermore, there was a discernible enhancement in the average OHQ score, with the Pre-Test score of 4.6 increasing to 4.84 in the post-test, as demonstrated in Figure 5.3. These results indicate positive progress in the participants' well-being and suggest the efficacy of the intervention.



Figure 5.2 A bar chart showing the frequency of distribution of participants' responses to the Happiness level before and after the intervention on a scale ranging from 1 to 6 (ranging from 1 = Strongly Disagree to 6 = Strongly Agree).



Figure 5.3 A bar chart showing participants' average level of Happiness before and after the intervention on a scale ranging from 1 to 6. The horizontal line indicates a neutral score of 3.5. Wilcoxon signed-rank test of p = 0.35.

In general, the data showed some improvements in happiness before and after the intervention, albeit not significant, however, a deeper look into the data shows some interesting results. We split our participants into two categories based on the average accumulated time (5918 seconds) spent on the app and the accumulated duration participants smiled on the app (2434 seconds). To achieve this, we calculated the average time spent on the app by all participants and also the average duration each participant smiled using the app during the study, then divided the participants into two depending on if they used the app above the general average or below it. This dichotomy was necessary as participants used the app in their natural environment without strict rules on when and how long to use the app each day, we expected variance in utilization across participants. Figures 5.4 and 5.5 below showed a significant improvement in OHQ scores for participants who spent more time on the app and also those who smiled more using the app.

Table 5.5 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD= Standard Deviation) for OHQ Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who spent more than the average time on the SmileApp.

	Abo	Above Average Total Time Spent (sec)								
	Des	scriptive S	Statistics	Wilcox	on signed-rank test					
Measures	Ν	Mean	Median	SD	Ζ	p				
OHQ Pre_Test	34	4.56	4.71	0.76	2.57	0.01				
OHQ Post_Test	34	4.84	4.93	0.63	-2.57	0.01				

Table 5.6 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-ranked test (SD = Standard Deviation) for OHQ Pre - and Post-intervention for participants who spent less than the average time on the SmileApp.

	Bel	Below Average Total Time Spent (sec)								
	Des	scriptive S	Statistics	Wilcox test	kon signed-rank					
Measures	Ν	Mean	Median	SD	Ζ	р				
OHQ Pre_Test	67	4.61	4.71	0.66	0.67	0.51				
OHQ Post_Test	67	4.62	4.71	0.59	-0.0/	0.51				



Figure 5.4 A bar chart showing the participants' level of Happiness before and after the intervention categorized by the Mean of the total time spent with Wilcoxon signed-rank test result.

Table 5.7 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD= Standard Deviation) for OHQ Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who smiled more than the average Smile duration of all participants.

	Abo	Above Average Smile Duration (sec)								
	Des	scriptive S	Statistics	Wilcox	on signed-rank test					
Measures	Ν	Mean	Median	SD	Ζ	p				
OHQ Pre_Test	42	4.58	4.75	0.73	1.06	0.05				
OHQ Post_Test	42	4.79	4.93	0.61	-1.96	0.05				

Table 5.8 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD= Standard Deviation) for OHQ Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who smiled less than the average Smile duration of all participants.

	Bel	Below Average Smile Duration(sec)							
	Des	scriptive	Statistics	Wilcoxo	on signed-rank test				
Measures	Ν	Mean	Median	SD	Ζ	p			
OHQ Pre_Test	59	4.61	4.71	0.67	0.554	0.59			
OHQ Post_Test	59	4.63	4.64	0.6	-0.554	0.58			



Figure 5.5 A bar chart showing the participant's level of Happiness before and after the intervention categorized by the Mean of the total smile duration with Wilcoxon signed-rank test result.

The analysis of data, illustrated in Figure 5.4 and Figure 5.5, revealed a noteworthy correlation between participants who spent above-average time engaged with the SmileApp and those who exhibited an extended duration of smiling. Notably, these participants experienced more pronounced improvements in their levels of happiness. This finding strongly suggests that the SmileApp holds the potential to enhance happiness when utilized for a substantial duration. Comprehensive details of the descriptive statistics, along with the corresponding significant values, are presented in Tables 5.5, 5.6, 5.7, and 5.8. These tables provide a comprehensive overview of the analytical outcomes and their statistical significance, further bolstering the evidence supporting the effectiveness of the SmileApp intervention.

#### 5.2.2 Perceived Social Connectedness

The SmileApp was designed to foster social interaction and support via the MyTribe feature as a means to improve the mood of participants. To address RQ3, "*How effective is SmileApp in helping users find social support?*", we conducted measurements to assess the participants' perceived social connectedness or feelings of connectedness to others while utilizing the SmileApp. To achieve this, we employed the Social Connectedness scale (SCS) of 6 points (1 = Strongly Agree,

6 = Strongly Disagree) which captures the subjective experience of social relationships and the sense of belongingness. The social connectedness scale has been used in previous studies to measure the perceived social connectedness of users [165][166][167].



Figure 5.6 A Bar chart showing the level of agreement to social connectedness before and after the intervention on a scale ranging from 1 to 6 (1 = Strongly Agree, 6 = Strongly Disagree).



Figure 5.7 A bar chart showing the participants' average social connectedness score before and after the intervention on a scale ranging from 1 to 6 (1 = Strongly Agree, 6 = Strongly Disagree) with Wilcoxon signed-rank test result.

As shown in Figure 5.7 (horizontal line indicates a neutral score of 3.5), the SCS data showed that participants' feeling of social connectedness increased significantly Z = -2.36, p = 0.02) after using the SmileApp intervention. Next, we split the participants into two categories based on the average accumulated time (5918 seconds) spent on the app and the average accumulated duration participants smiled on the app (2434 seconds). Table 5.9 and Table 5.10 show the SCS scored within these two dichotomies of participants based on time spent on the app which showed an increased level of social connectedness while Figure 5.8 highlights the significant differences.

Table 5.9 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD= Standard Deviation) for SCS Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who spent more than the average time on the SmileApp

	Abo	Above Average Total Time Spent (sec)							
	Des	scriptive S	Statistics	Wilcox	on signed-rank test				
Measures	Ν	Mean	Median	SD	Ζ	р			
SCS Pre_Test	34	5.18	5.56	1.06	1.02	0.05			
SCS Post_Test	34	5.4	6	1.01	-1.92	0.05			

*Table 5.10 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD= Standard Deviation) for SCS Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who spent less than the average time on the SmileApp* 

	Bel	Below Average Total Time Spent (sec)								
	Des	criptive S	Statistics		Wilcox	kon signed-rank test				
Measures	N	Mean	Median	SD	Ζ	р				
SCS Pre_Test	67	4.99	5.38	1.22	1.64	0.01				
SCS Post_Test	67	5.18	5.63	1.08	-1.04	0.01				
			Z = -1.93, p = 0.05 Z = -1.64, p = 0.1							
	Avaerage SCS score	7.00 6.00 5.00 4.00 3.00 2.00 1.00	5.19	5.40	4.9	5.18				
			Above	1001		Below				
			Total Time(s) Dichotomy by Mean							

Figure 5.8 A bar chart showing the participant's level of social connectedness Pre and Postintervention categorized by the average of the total time spent with Wilcoxon signed-rank test result.

As shown in Table 5.11 and Table 5.12, there was an increased level of social connectedness among participants who had a longer duration of smile (above average) compared to participants whose accumulative duration of smile was below average of all participants.

Table 5.11 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD= Standard Deviation) for SCS Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who smiled more than the average Smile duration.

	Abo	Above Average Smile Duration (sec)										
	Des	scriptive S	Statistics	Wilcoxon signed-rank test								
Measures	Ν	Mean	Median	SD	Ζ	р						
SCS Pre_Test	42	5.16	5.5	1.05	1.06	0.05						
SCS Post_Test	42	5.32	5.94	108	-1.96 0.05							

Table 5.12 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD= Standard Deviation) for SCS Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who smiled less than the average Smile duration.

	Bel	Below Average Smile Duration (sec)										
	Des	scriptive S	Statistics		Wilcoxon signed-rank test							
Measures	N	Mean	Median	SD	Ζ	р						
SCS Pre_Test	59	4.98	5.38	1.25	1.50	0.12						
SCS Post_Test	59	5.21	5.75	1.05	-1.32	0.13						



Figure 5.9 A bar chart showing the participant's level of social connectedness Pre and Postintervention categorized by the mean of the total smile duration with Wilcoxon signed-rank test result.

#### 5.2.3 SmileApp Effect on Participant's Negative and Positive Affect

To answer RQ1 "*How effective is SmileApp for eliciting positive mood?*", we evaluated participants' positive and negative affect, which refers to the experience of positive and negative emotions or moods. We employed the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule – Short Form (PANAS-SF). PANAS-SF which is a standard 5 Likert (1 = Very slightly, 2 = A little, 3 = Moderately, 4 =Quite a bit, 5 =Extremely) scale instrument that has been used to measure negative and positive affect [155][156]. First, we plotted the frequency of participants' responses to the PANAS questionnaire before and after the intervention (see Figure 5.10), then we compared the





Figure 5.10 A Bar chart for the frequency of positive and negative affect schedule before and after the intervention on a scale ranging from 1 to 5 (1 = Very slightly and 5 = Extremely).



Figure 5.11 A bar chart showing PANAS-SF score and sub-scales before and after the intervention with Wilcoxon signed-rank test result.

From Figure 5.11, it is obvious that participants reported improvement in all PANAS subscales and the combined scale. There was a significant increase in positive emotion and a significant decrease in negative emotion. In addition to the pre-and post-test measurements, we separated the participants into two groups based on time spent on the SmileApp and average smile duration. We compared the PANAS score of participants who spent more time (above the average of all participants) in the SmileApp and participants who spent less time in the SmileApp (below the average of all participants) see Table 5.13, Table 5.14 and Figure 5.12. Also, compared the PANAS score of participants who smiled for a longer duration (above the average of all participants) and participants who smiled lesser duration (below the average of all participants) see Table 5.15, Table 5.16 and Figure 5.13.

Table 5.13 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD= Standard Deviation) for PANAS-SF Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who spent more than the average time on the SmileApp

	Ab	Above Average Total Time Spent (sec)									
	Des	scriptive S	Statistics		Wilcoxon signed-rank test						
Measures	N	Mean	Median	SD	Ζ	р					
PANAS Pre_Test	34	3.88	4.08	0.64	2.60	0.01					
PANAS Post_Test	34	4.15	4.18	0.55	-2.69 0.01						

Table 5.14 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD= Standard Deviation) for PANAS-SF Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who spent less than the average time on the SmileApp

	Bel	ow Avera	age Total Ti	me Spe	ent (sec)		
	Des	scriptive S	Statistics		Wilcox test	kon	signed-rank
Measures	N	Mean	Median	SD	Ζ	р	
PANAS Pre_Test	67	3.82	3.95	0.6	2.50	0.01	
PANAS Post_Test	67	4.02	4.05	0.59	-2.38	0.01	



Figure 5.12 A bar chart showing participants' PANAS-SF scores before and after the intervention categorized by the mean of the total time spent on SmileApp with Wilcoxon signed-rank test result.

Table 5.15 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD= Standard Deviation) for PANAS-SF Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who smiled more than the average Smile duration.

	Abo	Above Average Smile Duration (sec)							
	Des	scriptive S	on signed-rank test						
Measures	Ν	Mean	Median	SD	Ζ	p			
PANAS Pre_Test	42	3.84	3.9	0.6	2.01	0.004			
PANAS Post_Test	42	4.11	4.15	0.56	-2.91	0.004			

Table 5.16 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD= Standard Deviation) for PANAS-SF Pre - and -Post-intervention for participants who smiled less than the average Smile duration.

	Bel	ow Avera	age Smile D	uration	(sec)		
	Des	scriptive S	Statistics		Wilcoxon signed-ran test		
Measures	Ν	Mean	Median	SD	Ζ	р	
PANAS Pre Test	59	3.84	4	0.62	2 20	0.02	
PANAS Post_Test	59	4	4.05	0.59	-2.38	0.02	



*Figure 5.13 A bar chart showing the participants' PANAS-SF score Pre and Post-intervention categorized by the mean of the total Smile duration on SmileApp with Wilcoxon signed-rank test result.* 

#### 5.2.3.1 SmileApp Effect on Mood

In addition to the PANAS-SF, we also employed the Brief Mood Introspection scale (BMIS) to measure the mood of participants before and after using SmileApp the intervention to further answer RQ1 "*How effective is SmileApp for eliciting positive mood?*". The BMIS is a 4 scale (1 = definitely do not feel, 2 = do not feel, 3 = slightly feel, 4 = definitely feel) employed to assess mood fluctuations and emotional reactivity which have been employed in several studies [176][177][178][179]. As shown in Table 5.17 and Figure 5.14, there was a significant improvement in the BMIS score of participants after the intervention.

	Descriptive Statistics											
	Pre_test (Baseline)				Post			Wilcoxon signed-rank test				
Measures	N	Mean	Media n	SD	Mean	Media n	SD	Z	р			
BMIS (Pleasantness)	87	53.26	54	6.75	56.67	58	6.3 9	-4.3	0.001			
BMIS (Calmness)	87	37.53	38	4.09	40.16	40	4.0 1	-5.03	0.001			

*Table 5.17 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and the Wilcoxon signed-rank test (SD= Standard Deviation) for BMIS Pre - and -Post-intervention.* 

BMIS (Positivity)	87	44.07	44	4.66	46.33	47	3.4 9	-4.62	0.001
BMIS(Overall)	87	45	46	3.23	47.72	48	3.2 3	-5.95	0.001



*Figure 5.14 A bar chart showing BMIS score and sub-scales before and after the intervention with Wilcoxon signed-rank test.* 

## 5.2.4 Perceived Usability, Engagement and Aesthetic Appeal of the SmileApp

To answer RQ2 "*How engaging and Usable is the SmileApp for users to accomplish their goals of activating positive mood?*", we measured the user experience of participants by conducting a one-sample t-test on the system usability scale (SUS) and User Experience Questionnaire (UEQ) ratings compared to the midpoint.

The SUS revealed an average score of 79.51 (SD = 15.0), indicating that the overall usability of our system is "Good". The average SUS score is 68 from the literature based on the study [180] Hence we conducted a one-sample t-test to confirm that the SUS score of our data was significantly higher than the Average SUS score of 68 as shown in Table 5.18 and Figure 5.15

*Table 5.18 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and one-sample t-test (SD= Standard Deviation) for SUS.* 

Measures	Ν	Mean	SD	Test Value	р
SUS	101	79.5	15	68	< 0.001



*Figure 5.15 A bar chart showing the frequency distribution of the level of Agreement to the SUS questions.* 

In our analysis, we examined the participants' responses on the User Engagement Scale (UES), which utilizes a 5-point Likert scale. To assess the level of engagement, we compared the participants' ratings against a neutral rating of 3. Overall, the results indicate that participants found the SmileApp to be engaging (see Figure 5.16 and Figure 5.17). Upon further examination of the UES subscales, we observed that participants perceived SmileApp to have high aesthetic appeal, reward factor, and perceived usability. However, the focused attention subscale showed relatively lower scores (see Table 5.18). It is noting that all three subscales were significantly higher than the neutral value (p < .001) (see Table 5.18). This suggests that SmileApp is considered usable, aesthetically appealing, and rewarding by the participants. However, there may be room for improvement in terms of maintaining focused attention while using the app.



Figure 5.16 A bar chart showing the frequency distribution of level of Agreement to the UEQ questions.

*Table 5.19 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and one-sample t-test (SD= Standard Deviation) for UEQ.* 

Measures	Mean	Standard Deviation	Test Value	р
Perceived Usability	4.17	0.91	3	< 0.001
Aesthetic Appeal	3.98	0.94	3	< 0.001
Reward Factor	4.29	0.92	3	< 0.001
Focused Attention	2.57	0.898	3	< 0.001
UES Total	3.74	0.59	3	< 0.001



Figure 5.17 A bar chart showing Average UEQ scores and subscale scores.

#### 5.2.5 Motivation for prolonged use of the SmileApp

To answer RQ4 "*How effective is the Smile App for motivating continued use*?" we measured the chances of participants using the SmileApp after the study and also to ascertain whether the motivation driving the use of SmileApp is intrinsic and not influenced by external factors, hence we employed the Future intention Scale (FIS) and the Intrinsic motivation inventory (IMI) (Figure 18 and 19). The FIS is a 5 points Likert scale (1= Won't, 2 = Unlikely, 3 = Neutral, 4 = Likely, 5 = will) that measures the willingness to use the SmileApp in the future while the IMI is a 7-point Likert (1= Not true at all, 2, 3, 4 = Somewhat true, 5 6, 7 = Very True) which helps us assess the user experience and the source of motivation of use, whether intrinsic or not. We performed a one-sample t-test against a neutral rating of 3 and 4 for the FIS and IMI respectively.

From Table 5.20, we can see the scores of FIS and IMI were significantly higher than the neutral value, indicating a strong intention to continue using the SmileApp and also confirming they were intrinsically motivated and had positive a user experience from using the SmileApp.

*Table 5.20 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and one-sample t-test (SD= Standard Deviation) for FIS and IMI.* 

Measures	N	Mean	Standard Deviation	Test Value	р
FIS	101	4.45	0.73	3	< 0.001
IMI	101	5.95	1.2	4	< 0.001



*Figure 5.18 A bar chart showing the frequency distribution of level of Agreement to the FIS questions.* 



Figure 5.19 A bar chart showing the frequency distribution of the level of agreement evaluated by the IMI questions using the value/usefulness subscale.

#### 5.2.6 Perceived Persuasiveness of the SmileApp

To answer RQ5 "*How persuasive and useful is SmileApp in improving user's mood?*" We investigated the perceived persuasiveness of SmileApp by performing a one-sample t-test on the persuasive scale (PS) data against a neutral rating of 4. The persuasive scale is 7 points (1= Strongly Disagree, 7 = Strongly Agree). I employed the Likert scale to investigate the perceived persuasiveness of SmileApp and its features (Figure 5.20). We collected persuasive scale data for each of the three features on the SmileApp (SmileGram, PocketBuddy and MyTribe). Table 5.21 shows that participants perceived the three features to be significantly persuasive.

*Table 5.21 Summary results of the descriptive statistics and one-sample t-test (SD= Standard Deviation) for persuasive scale.* 

	N = 101				
Measures	Mean	SD	Mid Value	р	
Persuasive Scale (SmileGram)	5.87	1.44	4	< 0.001	
Persuasive Scale					
(PocketBuddy)	6.07	1.37	4	< 0.001	
Persuasive Scale (MyTribe)	5.66	1.77	4	< 0.001	
Overall Persuasiveness	5.87	1.35	4	< 0.001	



Figure 5.20 A bar chart showing the persuasive score of each feature and the overall persuasiveness of the app in general.

#### 5.2.6.1 Measure of Persuasiveness with Respect to Demographic Factors

We examined the persuasiveness of each of the features of the SmileApp depending on the demographic factors of participants' age, gender, and education. The results of an RM-ANOVA as shown in Table 5.22 show that there is a significant difference in the persuasiveness of the features (SmileGram, PocketBuddy, and MyTribe).

Mauchly's Test of Sphericity indicated that the assumption of sphericity had not been violated,  $\chi^2(2) = 3.606$ , p = .165 and therefore, Sphericity was assumed. Overall, the results show a significant effect which means that there is a significant difference in persuasiveness among the 3 features (SmileGram, PocketBuddy and MyTribe) F(2,200) = 5.294, p = .006,  $\eta_p 2 = .05$ . A pairwise comparison with Bonferroni correction shows that PocketBuddy was the most persuasive feature, followed by SmileGram and MyTribe.

*Table 5.22 RM-ANOVA table (a within – and between-subject design) for persuasiveness and demographic factors* 

	Test of Within-Subject Effects s				
Demographic	F	df	df	р	$\eta_p^2$
Factors			(error)		
Overall	4.80	2	186	0.009	0.05
	5				
Age	0.55	4	182	0.697	0.012
	3				
Gender	0.65	2	184	0.520	0.012
	5				
Level of Education	0.53	6	180	0.781	0.018
	6				

Concerning age, Mauchly's Test of Sphericity indicated that the assumption of sphericity,  $\chi^2$  (2) = 4.51, p = .105. There was no significant main effect of age on persuasiveness, F (4,182) = 0.553, p = .697,  $\eta_p^2 = .012$ .

Mauchly's Test of Sphericity indicated that the assumption of sphericity,  $\chi^2$  (2) = 4.794, *p* =.091 for gender. There was no significant main effect of gender on persuasiveness, F (2,184) = 0.655, *p* = .52,  $\eta p^2 = .007$ .

Mauchly's Test of Sphericity indicated the assumption of sphericity,  $\chi^2$  (2) = 4.817, *p* =.090 for education level. There was no significant main effect of education on persuasiveness, F (6,180) = 0.536, *p* = .781,  $\eta_p^2$  = .018.

### 5.2.7 Impact and Usage of SmileApp across demographic factors

To gain insights into the utilization patterns exhibited by our study participants, we analyzed the usage log data extracted from the SmileApp database. This analysis aimed to provide a comprehensive overview of the participants' engagement with each feature of the application. The findings, depicted in Figure 5.21, indicate that SmileGram emerged as the most frequently utilized feature, followed by PocketBuddy and MyTribe.

Furthermore, we delved into the examination of usage patterns daily. Our analysis revealed an interesting trend: Participants exhibited higher app usage on weekdays (Monday to Friday) compared to weekends, as depicted in Figure 5.22. Additionally, we sought to explore the distribution of app usage throughout the day. Notably, our findings, illustrated in Figure 5.23, suggest that users displayed higher usage of the SmileApp during the peak period from the 7<sup>th</sup> (7 a.m.) to the 16<sup>th</sup> (4 p.m.) hour of the day.



*Figure 5.21 Bar chart of average time spent on each feature by participants in the 2-week study duration.* 



Figure 5.22 Bar chart of SmileApp use count for every day of the week.



#### Figure 5.23 Bar chart of SmileApp use count for the hour of the day.

Moreover, our investigation extended to examine the usage patterns exhibited by male and female participants. Through meticulous analysis, as illustrated in Figure 5.24, we discovered noteworthy distinctions in the utilization behaviour between the two genders. Specifically, male participants demonstrated higher engagement with SmileApp during weekends, whereas female participants

exhibited relatively similar levels of usage throughout the weekdays. However, when considering the distribution of app usage across gender, the data revealed a minimal disparity in terms of the time of day at which participants accessed the application (see Figure 5.25).



*Figure 5.24 Bar chart showing daily percentage use of SmileApp by Male and Female participants.* 



*Figure 5.25 Bar chart showing hourly percentage use of SmileApp by Male and Female participants.* 

Furthermore, we conducted a series of repeated measures ANOVA (Table 5.23) to examine the interaction effects between subjective measures (happiness, social connectedness, and mood) and demographic characteristics (age, gender, and level of education). First, a measure of happiness was tested and a significant interaction effect was observed for gender, F(1, 98) = 5.625, p = .020,  $\eta_p^2 = .054$ . A pairwise comparison with Bonferroni correction shows that males experienced lower levels of happiness before (M = 4.373, SD = .921) than after (M = 4.708, SD = .573) the intervention. Conversely, for females, there was no statistically significant difference in levels of happiness before (M = 4.709, SD = .477) compared to after (M = 4.676, SD = .627) the intervention. This suggests that the use of the SmileApp had more effect on males. As shown in Table 5.22, none of the main effects was significant and none of the other interaction effects (happiness by age, and happiness by level of education) was significant.

*Table 5.23 Repeated measure ANOVA results for subjective measures and demographic characteristics.* 

		RM ANOVA				
Measure	Demographics	df	df (error)	F	p	$\eta_p{}^2$
Oxford	Age	1	97	0.964	.329	.010
Happiness Scale	$OHQ \times Age$	2	97	0.027	.974	.001
	Gender	1	98	3.819	.050	.038

	OHQ × Gender	1	98	5.625	.020	.054
	Education	1	96	1.410	.238	.014
	OHQ × Education	4	96	1.685	.160	.066
Social	Age	1	97	1.034	.312	.011
Connectedness	$SCS \times Age$	2	97	0.929	.399	.019
Scale	Gender	1	98	5.035	.027	.049
	SCS × Gender	1	98	1.568	.213	.016
	Education	1	96	4.577	.035	.046
	SCS × Education	4	96	0.644	.633	.026
PANAS	Age	1	97	17.652	<.001	.154
	$PANAS \times Age$	2	97	2.772	.067	.054
	Gender	1	98	16.356	<.001	.143
	PANAS × Gender	1	98	2.648	.107	.026
	Education	1	96	8.123	.005	.078
	PANAS × Education	4	96	1.582	.185	.062
BMIS	Age	1	84	18.354	<.001	.179
	BMIS × Age	2	84	0.346	.709	.008
	Gender	1	85	15.065	<.001	.151
	BMIS × Gender	1	85	5.570	.021	.062
	Education	1	82	15.280	<.001	.157
	BMIS × Education	4	82	.460	.765	.022

Next, a measure of social connectedness was tested and there was a significant main effect of gender, F(1, 98) = 5.035, p = .027,  $\eta_p^2 = .049$ , and also a significant main effect of education, F(1, 96) = 4.577, p = .035,  $\eta_p^2 = .046$ , but no significant main effect of age, F(1, 97) = 1.034, p = .312,  $\eta_p^2 = .011$ . Males seemed to have experienced lower feelings of connectedness before (M = 4.837, SD = 1.215) than after (M = 5.243, SD = .879) the intervention, and likewise females also seemed to have experienced lower feelings of connectedness before (M = 5.160, SD = 1.139) than after (M = 5.275, SD = 1.161) the intervention. This suggests that the use of the SmileApp can increase feelings of social connectedness for both males and females. As for level of education, Table 5.24, shows that all education levels experienced lower levels of connectedness before than after the intervention. This suggests that the use of the Smile app can increase the level of social connectedness for users who have different levels of education.
N = 101	Descriptive Statistics					
	PRE		POST			
Education Level	n	M	SD	М	SD	
High school graduate	24	4.953	1.273	5.203	0.995	
College diploma	11	5.227	0.766	5.284	1.131	
Bachelor's degree	52	5.195	1.047	5.296	1.078	
Master's degree	8	4.609	1.513	5.297	0.563	
Prefer not to answer	6	4.500	1.820	5.021	1.731	

Table 5.24 Descriptive statistics of the level of education before and after the intervention

Finally, a measure of mood (evaluated by the PANAS and BMIS) was tested. Results showed that there was a significant main effect of age, F(1, 97) = 17.652, p < .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .154$ , gender, F(1, 98) = 16.356, p < .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .043$ , and education F(1, 96) = 8.123, p = .005,  $\eta_p^2 = .078$ . Likewise, results also showed that there was a significant main effect of age, F(1, 84) = 18.354, p < .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .179$ , gender, F(1, 85) = 15.065, p < .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .151$ , and education F(1, 82) = 15.280, p < .001,  $\eta_p^2 = .157$ , as well as a significant interaction effect between mood and gender, F(1, 85) = 5.570, p < .021,  $\eta_p^2 = .062$ , as evaluated by the BMIS. From both the PANAS and the BMIS, all age groups seemed to have experienced less positive moods before compared to after the intervention (Table 5.25), all gender types seemed to have experienced less positive moods before compared to after the intervention (Table 5.25). Collectively, this suggests that the use of the SmileApp can elicit more positive moods helping users to experience an increase in positive emotions, except for individuals who are high school graduates who are high school graduates.

		PANAS (N = 100)				BMIS (N = $87$ )					
		n	PRE		POST		п	PRE		POST	
Demographic			М	SD	М	SD		М	SD	М	SD
characteristics											
Age	18-25 years	47	3.893	.616	3.988	.627	41	43.634	2.790	44.963	2.717
	26-35 years	38	3.795	.578	4.063	.502	33	44.288	4.703	46.212	3.072
	36-45 years	15	3.750	.685	4.267	.597	13	43.115	4.334	45.039	3.178
Gender	Male	36	3.690	.661	4.057	.576	31	44.790	2.647	45.339	2.996
	Female	64	3.928	.567	4.084	.570	56	43.259	4.270	45.509	2.953
Education	High school	24	4.015	.500	3.965	.634	21	43.512	2.487	44.381	2.765
	College diploma	11	3.727	.767	4.050	.590	10	43.825	2.848	45.800	2.679
	Bachelor's degree	52	3.807	.629	4.113	.583	43	44.814	3.486	46.547	2.492
	Master's degree	8	3.813	.631	4.188	.471	8	40.063	7.044	42.500	3.655
	Prefer not to answer	6	3.658	.497	3.883	.481	5	42.300	3.007	44.500	2.574

*Table 5.25 Descriptive statistics for demographic characteristics with respect to mood as evaluated by the PANAS and BMIS.* 

#### 5.3 Qualitative Analysis

To obtain general feedback and a broader perspective of participants' experiences, we collected qualitative data to better understand the users' views about SmileApp and any possible recommendation(s). We conducted semi-structured interviews in addition to the open-ended questions in the post-study survey, where participants were allowed to share more detailed information about the SmileApp app and their general experiences. 23 participants opted for this optional interview which was conducted by the lead researcher. There were no criteria for participation in the interview as all participants in the study were qualified for the interview. Hence we performed a thematic analysis [172] on the data using NVivo software to organize and uncover patterns in the collected data[181].

To conduct this thematic analysis [172], we transcribed the interview recording and then we employed Braun and Clarke's [173] six-step process to analyze the qualitative data [182] from both the interview and the qualitative data collected from the post-study questionnaire.

- 1. *Become familiar with the data* we read the transcribed interview data repeatedly to have a full and grounded understanding of what details are in the data.
- Generate initial codes While reading through the data, we noted concepts and participants' ideas as code. This code represents the most basic unit of analysis that breaks what the participant was saying into small chunks with each chunk representing an idea. We uncovered about 21 codes from the entire qualitative data which formed the building blocks of thematic analysis.
- 3. Search for themes After coding the data, we now try to make more sense of the codes by aggregating related codes into higher-level topics or themes. These relationships among codes were based on semantics. Codes with close ideas, concepts and meanings were grouped as a theme, and we ensured the code supported the theme the participants were communicating. We aggregated these codes and arrived at 10 initial themes also known as the "candidate theme"[182].
- 4. Review themes We revisited the data coded in the component codes to determine if the data sufficiently supports the theme. At this point, we renamed the themes and collapsed some of the themes into sub-themes which left us with 6 more refined themes.
- Define themes At this stage, we refined the names of the themes to ensure that they are on the same semantic plane as the underlying idea. We ensured the name of the themes represents the underlying coded data.
- 6. The Last step of these six steps is telling the story of the qualitative data which we will be doing below for each of the themes.

This analysis aimed to identify and explore key themes related to participants' interest in using the SmileApp, the impact and general perception of the SmileApp. The analysis revealed a consistent and overwhelmingly positive response, with a majority of participants expressing their admiration for the app's innovative features, aesthetic design and the impact it had on them which resulted in 6 themes we will discuss in the subsections below.

## 5.3.1 SmileApp: An Innovative and Interesting Way to Make People Smile.

#### 5.3.1.1 Unique and Innovative

Most participants found the SmileApp to be unique and innovative especially the SmileGram that allows them to play games with their smile; this is the first of its kind to the best of our knowledge

and participants re-echoed this through their comments during the semi-structured interview. Below is a list of such comments with minor grammatical and spelling errors corrected:

"Interesting. I've never had to do something like that before and having a piece of technology to encourage me to do something. I thought was a very interesting and new experience for me. I was using it so that that was kind of interesting." P1

"... my first time using that kind of app that will require one to actually smile. When I am not in a good mood, I just open the app and Smile." P13

## 5.3.1.2 Interesting

The analysis also revealed a widespread interest in the app among participants, it shows a spike in interest in using the app to improve their mental wellbeing and regulate their emotions. Participants also identified the source and features of the app that drove this overall appeal of which SmileGram, which is our innovative game played with a smile was a leading feature to spark participants' interest. We captured some comments from participants:

"*Each time I'm smiling looking into the app. It's fun. Like when I'm smiling*, even my daughter will join me and say, keep smiling, keep smiling." P23

P43: "At first, it's a bit funny and confusing, but getting to the next stage, I found it was very interesting, I couldn't frown. I had to smile all through to get to the next stages and I kind of got used to it, I started smiling a lot of the time unconsciously."

"I recommended it to some of my friends since now, yeah. I find it very interesting, I know my friends would like it too, so I recommended it to them and I will still recommend it to other people, yes." P7.

*"There is this urge to continue to or just want to continue smiling. I forgot that the object has already overlapped* and it just runs off and starts again, you know". P21

"It gave me nice tips too about smiling. After maybe three or four or maybe five things it will give me a little message. Do I want to continue or stop? It will give me some fun facts. That was kind of interesting too." P1

"The interaction is captivating and interesting" P66

"... hearing the sound of "keep smiling" I am thrilled!" P85

"The moving image alone is captivating. Because it's not just your smile, but the fact that it is tied to moving objects. That's just the key features and I also suggest maybe some of those colours." P16

## 5.3.2 Stress-Relieving Source

The insights gained from this analysis provide valuable information and show a pattern of participants using the app as an effective way to manage stress. From the interview, we observed a common consensus among participants on how the app was useful for them to relieve stress. This theme shows one of the positive impacts of SmileApp and reinforces that it achieved the design objective of improving users' emotions. Below are comments from participants:

"It was really stress-relieving because at some point when you get stressed up, you just go look at the app. Since it connects with your smile, your smile is all you need to do and in the process all the facial muscles get relaxed." P16

"I never knew that smiling can have something correlating to feeling good. I remember there was a day I was feeling anxious. Like I had a lot of pain and I tried using the app. I just used the app not as a remedy to my anxiety; I just wanted to use it suddenly I realized when I started using the app I started feeling much better. So, after that day, I realized that, OK, this smiling of a thing can, you know help me even when you're faking it. So, it's a good idea and to be honest I play with the smiling app more than the chat. I use the chat slightly but overall; I love the smile and I love the app in general." P2

"It's a brilliant way to ease stress as you forget about some things happening to you while using the app." P20.

*"My experience with this app has been so amazing.* It helps me to achieve my aim in terms of trying to live up to reduce stress." P8

"So even if, like you are worn out, you're stressed out, just follow. I Keep smiling, keep smiling. It kind of relieves you. So, I think I like this." P16

"Ohh I'd find it useful because it makes me relax, you know, we have a lot of things on our head, here in this country there are a lot of things on my head. So, when I feel worn out, I remember the Smile App. So it helps me relieve pressure and stress. I just like it! It makes me have fun, like a fun time." P23.

"There are times you know I'm choked up with work and all of that, so it helps to relieve stress for me. Yes. So because you have to force yourself to smile even if you don't want to do so." P7

"It's very useful, especially for me, that juggle between my career and entrepreneurship. I work, and I do business. You know, most times I don't even get time to go out with friends and relax. So during the period, we were reviewing this app, I think one of the things that helped me is that I could be in the office. And when I see that I'm stressed, I can just open it and smile. One day my colleague was like Why are You smiling." P9

"I want to say I really thank you for coming up with such an app at this moment when the world is actually feeling down when there are many challenges in this part of the world. And I really thank you so much because this app has really impacted my life. Yes, I will say it impacted my life positively." P13

Participants' comments also revealed that work and office was the major source of stress they experienced as shown in sample comments below:

"Well, maybe **if I am working and then I'm not getting the result I need**. I will feel stressed. So I am mostly stressed with work" P15

"Sometimes emotional stress can pop up anytime, **but work stress is the most**. So, I use this app to rest." P19

"I get stressed when I feel I'm not being heard especially at work." P20.

## 5.3.3 Mood Enhancement and Motivation to Smile

We also discovered a trend in participants' responses which provides valuable insight into the fact that participants perceive the SmileApp as an effective tool for mood enhancement and promoting Smiling and laughter. This indicated that the app was valuable to the participants in regulating their mood and enhancing general well-being which is in line with the app design objectives. Below are some comments from participants:

"Using the app, mostly the SmileGram, it relieves me of headaches and enhances my mood and distracts me from whatever was bothering me at the moment." P74

"Yeah, really, the thing has ever **improved on my level of everyone laughing** at times because. I'm always on it." P11

"I find the SmileGram very, very funny, especially when I must open my teeth. Even when I don't feel like smiling. I just must open because I want to really colour the world and, you know, so it makes a whole lot of sense." P12

"I get entertained while I'm smiling and, I like the chatbot feature very well. I think that's my favourite. It's entertaining and helps in keeping one company, making you feel like it's your companion. It's always there" P4.

"You know to wind down and try distracting myself from everything that is frustrating me in the day. So, I found it highly useful." P2

" Oh I'd be very useful for people to at least help reduce depression Also it gives me something to do to smile more." P5

"If I don't have reason to smile again, the app now comes to mind and I'll just take up SmileApp and then I will start smiling." P16

"Most times I found myself laughing stuff, just smiling. Because one keeps smiling on the app sometimes you just end up laughing." P20

"It was a little funny, honestly. One day I was down and then, you know, because you will see your camera there that will pop up and you will see the way your shiny smiley face. **It was easy** for me to smile." P12

"I saw some people dropping some messages encouraging support. Keep pushing. You do well. Don't give up and all that. So, I felt good and supported." P9

"It was kind of funny, It was easy. But I noticed that sometimes when I try to smile, I try to hold my smile so that I can be able to catch up with the matching game. You know, I found myself, over smiling. So, I can say it's even easier to smile, you know you have to manage yourself with the whole game so you will not be attached to it." P2

"Yeah, really, the SmileApp (the SmileGram feature) has **improved my level of laughing** at times because I'm always on it" P11.

"I enjoy it while making me laugh, I saw it was an awesome experience because sometimes when I'm feeling a headache and I feel maybe I'm stressed when I use that app as in, I'm just looking at it and smiling. I don't know there's some miracles the smile does to me." P19.

## 5.3.4 SmileApp was Intuitive and Aesthetically Appealing

From the thematic analysis of feedback, we saw mentions about the aesthetic of the SmileApp with a mention of the icons and labels, logical flow and colours used. Generally, the view of participants was predominantly positive. Users showed appreciation for the colours and addressed the icons as clear and accurately representing the app's purpose. They found it helpful when the labels matched the icon, making it easier to use.

A common recommendation was to provide more icons and give users the flexibility to choose their preferred colour and colour preferences differ from individual to individual, however, in all they found the green colour appropriate and the label well presented. Below are sample comments from participants.

"The Icons and labels are clearly labelled, and it's user-friendly" P8.

"It can be seen very clearly and all instructions are well organized" P10.

"I found the app interesting and easy to use because the instructions on how to use it are clearly stated as you click on any icon. The icon portrays what it stands for" P13

"Everything was stated clearly. Easy to navigate your way around the app" P15.

*"The icons and labels are very clear; I can see them clearly without straining my eyes."* P12.

*"The icons and labels were very clear, and I must confess it was fun using the SmileApp"* P44.

"All the icons are very clear and coherent indicating the representative nature of those icons." P64.

"It was easy to understand, and the sound visuals made it better" P143.

"I was able to understand all well with no confusion at all" P146.

*"Each icon and label present on the app had a perfect description of what to see and expect; they were self-explanatory."* P174.

In terms of the app's logical flow, the majority of users had positive views, finding the app logical and intuitive. They liked how navigation within the app was easy and they were able to complete the tasks with no assistance. The overall view of participants regarding the Smile App's colour was predominantly positive. Users appreciated the well-chosen and harmonious colours that created a pleasant and engaging interface. Sample participants' comments include the following:

"Colours say a lot and the app gives off a happy vibe due to its colour" P87.

"It is so beautiful, and it fits in perfectly to every mood" P93.

*"The colour combination, green and orange, gave the app a cheerful and warm outlook. The colours are welcoming and could make you stay relaxed while using the app."* P15.

*"The blending of the green colour with the yellow colour gave the app a nice outfit."* P20.

"Orange and leaf green are beautiful colour combinations" P61.

"The colours are appropriate and catchy. I find it very interesting." P77.

"The colour choices are appealing and perfect for this type of app." P116.

"I like the yellow colour before it turns to green after smiling to complete the pattern. Also, the colour of the smile app was top notch and very bright and beautiful." P165.

On the contrary, there were a few participants who had opposing views about the app's colours and had different ideas on how and where the colour would have been placed. The comments of these participants were captured as shown below:

"The colours were too bright, and the shade of the colours is slightly mixed." P10.

"I would suggest colours like; yellow, orange and some other blend of bright, attractive and charming colour should be thought of. This is just for the green response background. I think I'm ok with the other colour interface. Lastly, I would suggest an option to choose colour mode should be provided on the App." P47.

Overall, the SmileApp was aesthetically appealing, and users liked the design which was expressed in their comments and quantitative data analysis.

## 5.3.5 Enduring Engagement: A Long-Term Connection with the App Beyond Study

We found that participants indicated a strong interest in using the app beyond the study. This finding could be attributed to the emotional benefits derived and the intriguing interest they have in the app. During the semi-structured interviews, many participants highlighted their intention to continue using the app after the study as seen in sample comments below:

"I've gotten a lot out of this. I will not stop using it. I will not at all, because the app brings out so many good things." P11.

"If there is no intention to monetize it, **if it will like free stuff where I can go to and release** stress, I don't mind continuing using it. It's something I can recommend to my mom for her to use." P19.

"Yeah, I don't have any intention of uninstalling it. I see myself using it. You know, when I feel like I need to distract myself from maybe my daily activity. **Yeah, I definitely will look** forward to using the app even after this study." P2.

*"Will use it after the study, it helps me relieve stress.* So, on days when I have hectic work and I need to rest, I just lie on my bed, and bring the app. I'm smiling and **I've already** *recommended it to my husband.* So, when I'm done. So, if anything, the days when I'm smiling are as if the whole family is smiling with the app." P23.

"Definitely will keep using it after the study. Especially PocketBuddy. Because like I said, it informs. So sometimes you just want to play without somebody else. And yeah, I keep chatting with it. I chat with it." P4.

"*I will recommend it to others Because it makes people smile* and *I want people to smile*." P5.

## 5.3.6 Suggested Improvement

Despite the overwhelming positive comments from the participants, they highlighted some areas for potential improvement. One participant mentioned that "*I didn't feel like I kind of started building the connection with one specific or maybe even a group or two or three specific people because again it was anonymous*." P1. Another participant stated, "*I tried it, and I didn't get a response on time throughout the time I needed it, I think later in the day I got a lot of responses*." -P12

In this section, we highlighted the suggestions from participants that could be employed to improve SmileApp and to build other mHealth applications. These suggestions are important to us because they give a better perspective from more diverse users. These recommendations will help us finetune the SmileApp and serve as a guide for future researchers. In conclusion, the recommendations provided by the participants included several notable features to enhance SmileApp. These recommendations encompassed the incorporation of a customizable colour scheme, the inclusion of stickers akin to those found in conventional social media platforms, the integration of text-to-voice functionality for verbal interaction between users and the chatbot, as well as the capacity to detect fake smiles, offline mood tracking, and support for multi-user functionality, feedback for MyTribe messages sent and music in the background for the SmileGram feature. These valuable suggestions aimed to further augment the user experience and expand the capabilities of the app. Below are sample comments from users:

"I would suggest an option to choose colour mode should be provided on the App." P47.

*"Emojis and stickers are one of the ways of making interaction more friendly, I think it should be employed, if possible, picture interaction too"* P8.

"I'd suggest that you create an option to read Adaeze's (PocketBuddy) messages via voice I'd want to know how her voice sounds, I think it will help in the connection with the AI Sometimes, texts may not mean so much, you just want to hear a voice after going through a lot in the day. Also, For the community feature (MyTribe), users should write their feelings instead of choosing from a set of emotions, I also think there should be room for feedback from people to whom you sent support messages. I would like to know if my messages did make a change. Those little 'thank you' feedbacks are encouraging enough." P15. "The app should be restructured in such a way that it would be able to differentiate between fake and real smiles" P69.

"I will suggest that there will be light music playing in the background while people are doing the smiling challenge." P116.

"I suggest more mood emoji should be added in MyTribe" P150.

"If it can be possible to use without internet because it's not every day, I have data but want to use the app" P173.

"So maybe we have like 3 or maybe 5 individuals you can chat with you again. So, you choose whoever you feel like, chatting with." P12.

## Chapter 6 : DISCUSSION

This study aimed to investigate the effectiveness of the SmileApp which was specifically designed to promote smiling and elicit a positive mood. We conducted the study in the wild with 101 participants for two weeks and analyzed the data collected. The findings extracted from this analysis helped us answer our research questions and gave insight into the areas that can be further explored and expanded on by future research. In this chapter, we discuss our findings and how they addressed our research questions. We also discuss the limitations of our study, recommend future directions of the work, and reiterate the contributions of the thesis to the body of knowledge at large.

## 6.1 The SmileApp design and evaluation

The SmileApp is an evidence-based app that was developed based on well-established theories of mood regulation and behaviour change systems design. In developing the SmileApp, we incorporated the Flow theory [104], Happiness model [107], PERMA model [106] and PSD Model [32] These models and theories detailed in Chapter 3 of this work provided a foundation for the development of the app, ensuring that it effectively addressed the research objectives and influenced the design considerations of SmileApp.

A decoupled architecture was used to separate components ensuring resource-intensive tasks could be offloaded to more capable devices or backend servers to allow the SmileApp to run on low-performance devices and increase a larger user base. To evaluate the effectiveness of the SmileApp and its impact on users, we mimicked real-life scenarios by allowing users to use the SmileApp in their natural environment.

## 6.2 Insights from SmileApp evaluation: Key Findings and Implications

In this section, we reflect on the results of our study with a key focus on how they address the five key research questions that guided this study. Here, we elaborate on the answer to each of the research questions and how they were answered, providing valuable insight into the underlying phenomena and the implications which is the contribution of the SmileApp to the HCI body of knowledge. We aim to shed light on the intricacies of our research objectives. We discuss the findings concerning each research question, exploring their significance, implications, and potential contributions to the existing body of knowledge. This section constitutes a pivotal point

in our research, wherein the elucidation of these research questions provides a pathway towards a more profound comprehension of the outcomes of our study.

#### 6.2.1 Impact of SmileApp on eliciting positive mood

To evaluate whether the SmileApp was able to elicit positive moods, we defined RQ1 "*How effective is SmileApp for eliciting positive mood?*". As shown in Figure 5.11 of Section 5.2.3, the SmileApp was effective in improving the mood of participants by showing a statistically significant increase in positive moods and a statistically significant decrease in negative moods. We evaluated this outcome by using the Brief Mood Introspection Scale (BMIS) and the Oxford Happiness Questionnaire (OHQ) to collect extra information about mood and well-being.

The BMIS is a 4-point scale which assesses mood fluctuations and emotional reactivity which has been employed in several studies [176][177][178][179]. We measured this before and after the intervention and the result of our analysis revealed a statistically significant improvement in mood as shown in Figure 5.14 of sections 5.2.3.1. The findings of our analysis reveal that the SmileApp was effective in having significant improvement in the happiness level of participants who used the app for a longer period while participants who did not use the SmileApp above the average time of all participants showed improvement in OHQ score but it was not statistically significant see Figure 5.4 and Figure 5.5 in Section 5.2.1. Perhaps they enjoyed the game and so used it more. This reiterates the need to design interventions to engage users and encourage continuous usage over the long term. To design intervention is one thing but to get people to use it is another. Research has shown that many health interventions experience high attrition rates [183]. Our result shed light on how low engagement is also a major factor that could impact the impact of an intervention. Even when an intervention is carefully designed, employing an evidence-based approach, it will not work unless it's engaged by the users for a reasonable length of time. This stresses the importance of persuasive strategies and gamification elements that have been shown to improve engagement with interventions. By using SmileApp more, some users were able to reap the benefits. This answered the first research question RQ1, implying that the SmileApp was effective in eliciting a positive mood.

### 6.2.2 The Usability of SmileApp in Fostering Positive Mood

Studies have shown that the usability of a system is linked to its usefulness and this influences how users evaluate the system [184]. In our study, we investigated the usability of the SmileApp using the second research question RQ2 "*How engaging and Usable is the SmileApp for users to accomplish their goals of activating positive mood?*". We employed the system usability scale (SUS) and User Experience Questionnaire (UEQ) to evaluate usability and user experience.

The System Usability Scale (SUS) is a widely used questionnaire-based instrument employed in measuring the perceived usability of a system which assesses the user's subjective perception of the system's ease of use, efficiency, learnability, and overall user satisfaction. It provides valuable insights into users' perceptions of usability, allowing researchers and designers to understand how usable their system is. The result from our analysis showed that the average SUS score was significantly higher than the average SUS score of an average of 500 studies (68) [185] [180] as shown in Table 5.18 Section 5.2.3.1. The result of our analysis also showed a positive statistically significant improvement in the UES score across 3 subscales (Usability, Aesthetics, and Reward) as shown in Table 5.18 in Section 5.2.4 this shows a strong indication that users perceived the SmileApp to be usable, aesthetically appealing and rewarding, this reinforces the finding of the SUS. However, the result also showed low focused attention.

The results also indicated that the intervention's ability to sustain users' attention may not influence its perceived usability and usefulness. Despite low focused attention, users perceived the SmileApp to be aesthetically appealing, usable, and rewarding. Although SmileApp includes engaging activities to capture users' attention, we were unable to control other contexts that may impact participants' attention levels such as the participants' surrounding environment as the study was conducted in a naturalistic setting. A study has shown that task demand and surrounding context can influence users' attention [186]. The data collected from the app usage showed that participants used the app more during work hours (Figure 5.23) hence we recommend considering users' surroundings by future researchers in this area for example, participants who work or spend most of their time in a fast-paced environment like a security guard or chef may find it difficult to concentrate on the app in such environment. In general, users find SmileApp easy to use and had a good experience using it which made them happy and suggest that they are likely to use it in the

future. This answered the second research question RQ2 and showed that users found the SmileApp usable and engaging to elicit positive moods.

### 6.2.3 Impact of SmileApp in Promoting Social Connectivity

Studies have shown that computer-mediated social interaction can benefit users (i.e., reduce negative mood) [187]. Our app was designed to have a social component (MyTribe) that promotes social connectedness as a means to improve users' moods. We made this our third research question RQ3 "*How effective is SmileApp in helping users find social support*?", to investigate if SmileApp was efficient in promoting social connectedness. The result of our study shows a significant improvement in the feeling of social connectedness by participants over the 2 weeks Figure 5.7 and Figure 5.8 in Section 5.2.2. This supports RQ3. The findings of my study have revealed that social connectedness can also be achieved through the reception of supportive messages from anonymous users in a one-way communication context. This discovery serves as a significant insight for HCI researchers and developers of interventions aimed at enhancing social connectedness, suggesting that incorporating this strategy into their interventions may be beneficial.

## 6.2.4 Continued use of the SmileApp.

In the study, we were also interested in knowing the participants' position on prolonged use of the SmileApp. We added this as the fourth research question "*How effective is the Smile App for motivating continued use?*" to guide the measurement of future intent to use the SmileApp. This will guide us to understand the motivation behind this intention to use the SmileApp and to know whether it is intrinsic and or influenced by external factors. From Table 5.20 in Section 5.2.5, we can see the scores of FIS and IMI were significantly higher than the neutral value, indicating a strong intention to continue using the SmileApp. Also, the IMI result confirmed that participants were intrinsically motivated to use the SmileApp. The result from the qualitative analysis showed that users enjoyed using the SmileApp and users indicated interest to continue using the app as seen in section 5.3.1.2 and section 5.3.5 thereby answering RQ4. The high scores in future intention and intrinsic motivation indicate participants' readiness to adopt a novel approach in their pursuit of mental well-being. This finding highlights the proactive behaviour exhibited by individuals in their efforts to achieve their goals related to mental well-being. The study findings also emphasized the significance of incorporating enjoyable and engaging elements into mHealth apps rather than maintaining a monotonous user experience. HCI researchers should actively

consider integrating fun features within the design of mHealth apps to foster prolonged user engagement and adherence to the intended usage. This recommendation underscores the importance of creating a positive and enjoyable environment within the app to enhance user satisfaction and promote sustained utilization.

#### 6.2.5 Persuasiveness of SmileApp.

We addressed the fifth research question ("*How persuasive and useful is SmileApp in improving user's mood*?") by investigating the perceived persuasiveness of SmileApp. We collected persuasiveness data for each of the three main features on the SmileApp (SmileGram, PocketBuddy and MyTribe).

First, we checked if the features were significantly persuasive. The result from our study showed that each of the three features of the SmileApp (SmileGram, PocketBuddy and MyTribe) were all statistically significant above the midpoint of 4 as shown in Table 5.21 implying that participants perceived the three features to be significantly persuasive. From the result, SmileGram emerged as the most persuasive feature to the participants, followed by Mytribe, and lastly PocketBuddy. Although all three features were perceived to possess a statistically significant level of persuasiveness, SmileGram garnered the highest ratings in terms of its impact and influence on user behaviour. This observation highlights the varying degrees of persuasive effectiveness exhibited by different features within the app, underscoring the importance of tailoring and optimizing the design of each feature to maximize its persuasive potential. Also, we went further and compared the mean differences of the persuasiveness of each of the features which showed only a statistically significant difference between the means of the PocketBuddy feature and the MyTribe feature. The results obtained from the persuasive scale, the IMI (Intrinsic Motivation Inventory) value/usefulness subscale, and the themes from qualitative data, as presented in Section 5.3.3, provided valuable insights and facilitated the comprehensive response to Research Question 5. These combined findings shed light on various aspects related to the effectiveness, user perception, and qualitative experiences associated with SmileApp.

The high persuasiveness score of SmileApp reinforced that the app features and design elements were effective in capturing users' attention enhancing their engagement, and ultimately driving them towards continued use. This reinforced the fact that low focused attention recorded is most likely not a function of the SmileApp but other contextual factors such as users' environment. HCI researchers and mHealth app developers can leverage this insight to further optimize persuasive elements within the SmileApp or utilize similar strategies in designing future persuasive interventions.

#### 6.2.6 Summary.

In summary, my study significantly contributes to the field of HCI by advancing knowledge on how persuasive mHealth apps can be designed to promote a positive mood. I conducted this study to show the practical implications and effectiveness of SmileApp. From Figure 5.21 the SmileGram feature was the most used. The insights gained from this thesis have the potential to drive further research, inform decision-making, and foster advancements in both academia and industry players in the mHealth domain.

#### 6.3 Research Contributions and Recommendations

This thesis makes several contributions to the field of HCI. Firstly, it expanded our understanding of other approaches to elicit a positive mood. By providing innovative insights for encouraging people to smile more often and its impact on users. I conducted a rigorous study and analysis and identified key themes from users' responses which were previously unexplored. This sheds light on the effectiveness of the app and the user's reaction to it.

Secondly, this thesis contributes to the design, development, and evaluation of an approach for encouraging people to smile more often (as a way to fight off stress and improve mental health) by applying well-established psychological theories to designing persuasive systems. By incorporating smiles as gaming control and unlocking social messages, we defined a new way users can be persuaded to smile. This is beyond improving the mood of users but also improves the level of happiness. This approach of getting users to smile and elicit a positive mood will pave the way for more innovative designs in future studies.

Thirdly, by leveraging the usage log data, our study has provided valuable insights into the utilization behaviour of participants, shedding light on feature preferences, day-to-day variations, and temporal usage patterns across genders. These findings contribute to our understanding of user engagement with SmileApp and can inform future design considerations and personalized interventions.

By delving into the utilization patterns of male and female participants, our study has uncovered gender-related differences in app engagement on weekends as male participants appear to engage the SmileApp more on weekends unlike female participants, while usage during weekdays remained relatively consistent between male and female users. The observed discrepancy in user engagement with the SmileApp during weekends, as discerned through genderbased analysis, may potentially be attributed to the temporal constraints experienced by women stemming from their comparatively larger share of domestic responsibilities and household chores [188]. However, there was generally high engagement with SmileApp between the hours of 7 a.m. and 4 p.m. The use of the SmileApp during participants' reported work hours (as shown in Figure 5.22), which were identified as the most stressful period of their day, as indicated by participant P15's statement, "Well, maybe if I am working and then I'm not getting the result I needed. I will feel stressed. So I am mostly stressed with work" suggests that users turned to SmileApp as a coping mechanism to combat stress during their hectic schedules. This notion is further exemplified by the remarks of another participant, P7, who stated, "There are times you know I'm choked up with work and all of that, so it helps to relieve stress for me. Yes. So because you have to force yourself to smile even if you don't want to do so."

Notably, these findings suggest that gender may influence the temporal dynamics of app usage to a lesser extent. These insights contribute to a more comprehensive understanding of user behaviour within the SmileApp context and can inform HCI researchers and mHealth app developers of targeted strategies for improving user experience and engagement.

Furthermore, our study introduces a new approach to designing mHealth apps that target the promotion of emotional well-being. The SmileApp comes as a suite of gaming features (SmileGram), a generative AI chatbot (PocketBuddy) and a supportive anonymous community (MyTribe) combined into one app and the positive feedback from users, provide actionable insights that can inform and guide mHealth app developers and future researchers on the possibility of combining the different genre of applications into one to achieve better outcomes.

Lastly, this thesis contributes to the field of HCI by showcasing the effectiveness and applicability of SmileApp in answering important research questions, which will help future researchers adapt our approach to design technological interventions targeting similar mental health problems and industry partners can build mental health products based on the outcome of our findings.

## 6.4 Recommendations

From our comprehensive analysis of the data extracted from SmileApp evaluation and the insightful findings therein, we offer some recommendations that will help both researchers and mHealth application developers who want to design an app that elicits positive emotions and better well-being. These recommendations are targeted at addressing key challenges and feedback from participants through qualitative data to give future researchers insight into future work and promote better outcomes in the next iteration of the SmileApp design (SmileApp 2.0). Leveraging on the expertise of the research team and the synthesis of the research findings, we list the recommendations below highlighting their relevance and potential impact on future research. Implementation of these recommendations has the potential to increase the acceptability, adoption and insight for future study.

#### 1. Include User-Customizable features

The need to make the SmileApp features customizable arises from the idea that users have diverse preferences and requirements as expressed in the qualitative data. By enabling users to customize app features such as colour, notification time, avatar, and emoji according to their preferences, the app can cater to a wider range of user choices that cannot be predicted during the design phase and make the app have a personal feel and user feel a sense of ownership of the SmileApp. Users should be given the option to express how they feel instead of just picking from the list of already coded emotions. Our qualitative data shows that users preferred to be able to express themselves and how they feel using freestyle typing instead of being restricted to selecting from a list of emotions which may not be comprehensive enough or may not capture exactly what users want to express. This makes them feel restricted and not in control as shown by this sample comment from participants' interviews: "Users should write their feelings instead of choosing from a set of emotions, I also think there should be room for feedback from people to whom you sent support messages." Therefore, we recommend that designers of technological intervention should increase users' feeling of a sense of control by allowing them the freedom to express their emotions in their own words. HCI research has emphasized the importance of designing interactive applications that empower users to build their sense of control [189] as it has the potential the increase engagement and user experience [190].

#### 2. Design to Accommodate Offline Mode

Based on the findings and insights gained from this research study, we strongly recommend HCI researchers and mHealth app developers should design apps to accommodate offline use. The incorporation of an offline mode within the app serves as a crucial response to a significant user requirement, guaranteeing uninterrupted functionality and accessibility, particularly in scenarios where internet connectivity is limited or unavailable. The inclusion of offline mode contributes to promoting diversity and inclusion, as it acknowledges that not all individuals possess consistent financial resources to access the internet at all times. This sentiment was echoed by one of the study participants (P173), who emphasized the importance of being able to utilize the app without internet access, stating, "*If it can be possible to use without internet because it's not every day, I have data but want to use the app.*" By accommodating such user needs through the implementation of an offline mode, the app can better cater to a broader user base, enhancing inclusivity and user satisfaction.

Due to the real-time collection of usage data in our study, we were unable to implement the offline mode within SmileApp. Nonetheless, we acknowledge the indispensability of this mode as an essential component. The inclusion of an offline mode empowers users to maintain engagement with the core features and functionalities of the SmileApp, including activities such as playing SmileGram and accessing supportive messages, regardless of their online status. By providing offline access, users can experience the positive benefits of mHealth apps and regulate their moods without relying on a stable internet connection. This capability holds the potential to expand the user base, fostering greater inclusivity and diversity among the app's users.

#### 3. Include Background Music

A notable recommendation derived from the findings of this research study involves the incorporation of background music into the SmileGram feature, particularly when users are engaging in the SmileGram game and actively participating in the smile challenge. One participant (P116) expressed their suggestion, stating, "*I will suggest that there will be light music playing in the background while people are doing the smiling challenge.*" It is proposed that the inclusion of entertaining music or tones during the game can enhance the overall experience and engagement of users. This recommendation emphasizes the potential benefits of incorporating background music to create a more immersive and enjoyable environment during the SmileGram activity. Adding background music can significantly enhance the user experience, creating a more

immersive and engaging environment for users. Carefully selected and well-designed background music can evoke emotions as studies have shown that music enhances mood [191] and giving users the ability to select their music will make the use of the SmileGram feature more compelling to users.

Incorporating background music and allowing a user to choose their music can tap into the powerful influence of sound on human emotions and perception. Studies have shown that familiar music has the potential to increase task enjoyment without compromising behavioural performance [192]. The music can create a sense of familiarity, comfort, or excitement and promote positive emotion which is the purpose of the SmileApp. It will also make SmileApp more enjoyable and memorable for users.

#### 4. Allow Chatbot to Assume Multiple Users

Through the thorough analysis of the collected qualitative data, we discovered a distinct necessity to expand the range of personae available within the AI chatbot, allowing users to select the specific AI entity they prefer to engage with. This recommendation was expressed by one of the participants (P12), who suggested, "So maybe we have like 3 or maybe 5 individuals you can chat with again. So, you choose whoever you feel like, chatting with." By incorporating multiple personae into the AI chatbot, users will experience an elevated level of interactivity, offering them a broader spectrum of choices and customizable pathways during their conversations with the chatbot. This enhancement will foster greater user engagement and personalization, allowing individuals to tailor their interactions according to their preferences and needs.

Furthermore, different personae will contribute to improving user engagement and satisfaction by allowing users to feel actively involved in choosing who they converse with. It is likely to enhance the perception that the chatbot is a buddy because in real-life people choose their friends. They can be able to customize the look of the avatar and name it as they wish. They may decide to name it a friend or parent and the AI agent can adapt its conversion accordingly depending on the persona chosen by the user. The conversion tone could change depending on what role the AI agent assumes. This will not only increase user interaction, but also strengthen the bond between users and the chatbot, leading to higher levels of trust, loyalty, and continued use.

### 5. Ability to Detect Real and Fake Smiles

Although some research has shown that real and fake smiles have the same impact of reducing the intensity of the body's stress response, regardless of whether a person feels happy [31], users indicated an interest in SmileApp detecting real and fake smiles. The capacity to distinguish between a real and a fake smile is a feature participants will want to see. By incorporating this feature, the app can significantly enhance its functionality and offer users a more personalized and engaging experience.

The incorporation of a smile detection feature aligns with the principles of user-centric design, as highlighted by a participant's recommendation: "*The app should be restructured in such a way that it would be able to differentiate between fake and real smiles*" (P69). By integrating this capability, the app can effectively discern between genuine and simulated smiles, thereby enhancing its ability to comprehend and respond to users' emotions and intentions more accurately. This user-centric approach demonstrates a commitment to providing an intuitive and responsive user experience, fostering a deeper level of engagement and interaction with the app. By accurately distinguishing between real and fake smiles, the app can tailor its responses and notifications. This also has the potential to foster genuine connections and deliver a more immersive and personalized experience. This recommendation aligns with the expectations of users, as seen in the qualitative analysis.

## Chapter 7 : LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE WORK

In this section, I highlight the limitations of our work and offer some directions for future work. My findings show that the SmileApp was successful in meeting the research goals and answering the research questions, however, there are several limitations in our study which can lead to potential future research direction. Below is a list of the limitations encountered during this research.

First, self-reporting tools are the main limitation of our study. Even though we informed participants that they should understand and answer the questionnaires as it applies to them and reflect on their experience in the consent form, we understand there are chances for bias. Human perception is not always perfect.

Second, the study was conducted in the wild which improves the ecological validity of our intervention. However, this also poses some limitations as there could have been the chance that users may have allowed their friends to use the app because it is innovative and interesting. This is also another limitation to our work because there is no way we could monitor or verify who uses the app as such monitoring has the potential to violate participant's privacy.

A third limitation is the demographic characteristics of our participants. As shown in Table 5.2, the demographic data of participants were not balanced. For Age, we had 47%, 38%, 15% and 1% respectively in the 4 different categories. Gender had 36%, 63% and 1% respectively in the 3 categories while Academic qualification had 24%, 51%, 11%, 8%, and 6% respectively in the 5 categories. These unbalanced demographic representations made it difficult to draw some insight from the demographic data. This imbalance has the potential to introduce bias and thereby limit the generalization of these findings.

It is also worth noting that in the design of the SmileApp, I did not consult an expert in psychology which is also a form of limitation. Future research in this area should consider involving an expert in psychology while designing similar interventions.

## 7.1 Future Work

In this section, we suggest potential avenues that hold promise for further exploration and development in the area of HCI. Based on the insights and findings of this study, several areas

emerge as potential directions for future research. By exploring these research gaps, we can deepen our understanding, expand existing knowledge, and contribute to the advancement of mHealth app development. The following subsections outline some key areas for future investigation.

**Clinical Trial**: A very important direction for future research in this area is to conduct a clinical trial of the SmileApp, having participants in a controlled environment. This will aim at knowing the exact time it takes for the body to release neuropeptides while participants use the SmileApp. This will give objective data on the impact of SmileApp and measuring this timeframe will open a new horizon for developing mHealth apps targeted at emotional and mood enhancement. Future mHealth app developers can leverage this outcome to develop a more tailored mood regulation app that will add to knowledge and be beneficial to industry practitioners.

**Personalization**: Another promising area for future research in promoting positive emotion using the design approach of the SmileApp is to explore the option of personalizing the features. Personalizing the features will further reveal which combination of features has the most impact and was most used. For example, conversational AI should have more knowledge of the user to interact more personally. Users should be able to choose custom images on SmileGram.

**Demographic Factors**: We encourage future researchers to put deliberate measures in place to ensure balanced demographic data. This will further deepen the understanding of SmileApp's impact on each demographic stratum. Ensuring diverse representation across various demographic groups will help future researchers obtain more robust and reliable findings that apply to a broader population. Balancing demographic factors helps minimize biases and ensures that the results are more representative of the true population. This will also further enable researchers to uncover potential differences, nuances, and interactions among different groups, leading to a more comprehensive and accurate understanding of the impact of SmileApp.

**Improved Focused Attention**: To enhance the focused attention of users within SmileApp and elevate the overall immersive experience, various potential strategies can be explored. These strategies encompass a range of possibilities aimed at optimizing user engagement and concentration within the app. Through careful consideration and implementation of these strategies, it is anticipated that users will be better able to sustain their attention and involvement, thereby maximizing the benefits and outcomes derived from their interaction with SmileApp.

Captivating Music: Including captivating music in the SmileGram feature can help create a more engaging and immersive environment for users. Carefully selected music that aligns with the app's purpose and enhances the desired mood can capture users' attention and evoke emotional responses.

Feedback from Community Members: Allowing users to receive feedback from other community members when they send supportive messages can enhance the sense of connection and engagement within the app. Positive feedback and validation from others can motivate users to continue participating and increase their engagement with the app.

Multi-player Mode: Extending SmileGram to a multi-player mode can introduce a social and interactive aspect to the app. This can enable users to engage in collaborative activities, share experiences, and compete with others in a friendly manner. Multi-player features can create a sense of community and foster engagement, leading to improved focused attention.

It is important for future researchers and developers to carefully evaluate the implementation of these features and gather feedback from users to ensure they enhance the focused attention and overall user experience. Conducting user studies, usability testing, and iterative design processes can help identify the effectiveness and impact of these enhancements on user engagement and attention.

**Study design**: In this study, we employed a within-subject approach. However, we encourage future researchers to employ a between-subject design separating participants based on the three major features of the SmileApp (SmileGram, PocketBuddy and MyTribe). This design can offer a powerful approach to investigating the impact of each of the features on participants. This becomes necessary as shown by the utilization of the features that participants spend more time on the SmileGram and less time on MyTribe. By assigning participants to different features, researchers can observe and compare the effects of each feature. Utilizing a between-subject design allows for a clear and direct comparison between groups, providing valuable insights into the causal relationships and effects of variables under investigation. Additionally, this design reduces the potential for carryover effects or order biases that may occur in within-subject designs. By embracing a between-subject design, future researchers can enhance the internal validity of

SmileApp evaluation, improve the ability to generalize findings to larger populations and deepen our understanding of the phenomena being studied.

These future research directions provide valuable opportunities for further inquiry, extending the knowledge base and offering potential solutions to unresolved questions within the field. By pursuing these avenues, researchers can make significant contributions to the advancement of SmileApp evaluation, ultimately leading to practical implications and real-world impact.

## **Chapter 8 : CONCLUSION**

This thesis undertook the design, implementation, and evaluation of the SmileApp, an innovative intervention aimed at promoting positive mood through the utilization of positive emotion (Smile) while integrating gaming elements, conversational AI, and a social community within a mobile health (mHealth) application. The primary objective of this research was to investigate the potential of harnessing technology to exert a positive influence on the emotional well-being of users. By merging these distinct components into a cohesive platform, the study aimed to explore novel avenues for enhancing emotional well-being through the effective utilization of technology-driven interventions.

Through a detailed review, we established that our approach is novel and by conducting an empirical investigation, this study has demonstrated the effectiveness of SmileApp for eliciting positive mood among users. Our findings provide valuable insights into the role of technology and how it can be creatively employed to promote emotional well-being and have significant implications for the design and development of future mHealth applications. The integration of Smile as a game control in the SmileGram feature, which focused on incorporating gamification elements such as rewards, challenges, and progress tracking, was shown to be highly successful in enhancing positive moods. The unique and engaging nature of the SmileGram not only increased user motivation but also fostered a sense of enjoyment and accomplishment, leading to a positive emotional state.

Moreover, the integration of a smile as a mechanism to unlock supportive messages exchanged among users in the MyTribe feature, alongside the presence of a conversational AI companion (PocketBuddy), provided users with a perceived sense of a dependable support system. This notable inclusion exhibited a profound impact on the emotional well-being of users. By leveraging these features, SmileApp fostered a nurturing environment where users felt supported, enabling them to experience a positive emotional shift and enhance their overall well-being. The synergistic effect of the smile-based unlocking mechanism and the conversational AI component contributed to the establishment of a trusted and beneficial support network within the app, thereby yielding significant implications for users' emotional states. These features enabled users to feel socially connected and reduce the feeling of isolation which contributed to an overall uplifted mood. The results of our study highlight the potential of mHealth mobile apps as effective tools for promoting emotional well-being. The integration of SmileGram, PocketBuddy and MyTribe creates a holistic approach to positive mood elicitation, combining elements of gamification and social interaction to engage and empower users. This innovative process has the potential to significantly improve the quality of life for individuals who may benefit from emotional support and well-being enhancement.

In conclusion, this research contributes to the field of HCI by demonstrating the effective utilization of technology-mediated processes, specifically those that integrate positive emotion. SmileApp has demonstrated the capacity to elicit a positive mood. By combining technological advancements with the intentional incorporation of positive emotional elements, SmileApp effectively engages users in a manner that promotes the generation of positive affective states. This integration of technology and positive emotion represents a novel approach that holds promising potential for fostering and enhancing positive mood experiences. The findings of this research shed light on the effectiveness of such processes within SmileApp, providing valuable insights into the broader implications of leveraging technology to elicit positive emotional states.

As mHealth continues to evolve, the incorporation of user-centred design principles, evidencebased interventions, and innovative features will be crucial in developing effective applications that promote emotional well-being. By leveraging technology thoughtfully and purposefully, we can create powerful tools to support individuals in their journey toward enhanced emotional health and overall well-being.

# **REFERENCES**

- S.-C. Yu, "Does Using Social Network Sites Reduce Depression and Promote Happiness?: An Example of Facebook-Based Positive Interventions," *https://services.igi-global.com/resolvedoi/resolve.aspx?doi=10.4018/978-1-6684-6307-9.ch062*, pp. 1170–1185, Jan. 1AD, doi: 10.4018/978-1-6684-6307-9.CH062.
- [2] "Hey Millennials! Sorry, but Stress does not care about your age! The American Institute of Stress." https://www.stress.org/hey-millennials-sorry-but-stress-does-not-care-about-your-age (accessed Oct. 07, 2022).
- [3] M. S. Haque, M. Kangas, and T. Jämsä, "A Persuasive mHealth Behavioral Change Intervention for Promoting Physical Activity in the Workplace: Feasibility Randomized Controlled Trial.," *JMIR Form. Res.*, vol. 4, no. 5, p. e15083, May 2020, doi: 10.2196/15083.
- [4] P. Krebs and D. T. Duncan, "Health App Use Among US Mobile Phone Owners: A National Survey," *JMIR mHealth uHealth*, vol. 3, no. 4, p. e101, Nov. 2015, doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4924.
- [5] "Depression." https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/depression (accessed Oct. 07, 2022).
- [6] R. A. Boothroyd *et al.*, "Poor and depressed, the tip of the iceberg: The unmet needs of enrollees in an indigent health care plan," *Adm. Policy Ment. Heal. Ment. Heal. Serv. Res.*, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 172–181, Mar. 2006, doi: 10.1007/S10488-006-0030-X/TABLES/3.
- [7] M. Rodríguez-Arias, C. Ferrer-Perez, M. Tanaka, I.-B. Kim, J.-H. Lee, and S.-C. Park, "The Relationship between Stress, Inflammation, and Depression," 2022, doi: 10.3390/biomedicines10081929.
- [8] "Stress | NCCIH." https://www.nccih.nih.gov/health/stress (accessed Mar. 30, 2023).
- [9] P. W. Gold, "The organization of the stress system and its dysregulation in depressive illness," *Mol. Psychiatry*, vol. 20, pp. 32–47, 2014, doi: 10.1038/mp.2014.163.
- [10] A. Prior *et al.*, "Original Contribution The Association Between Perceived Stress and Mortality Among People With Multimorbidity: A Prospective Population-Based Cohort Study," 2016, doi: 10.1093/aje/kwv324.
- [11] Z. M. Harvanek, N. Fogelman, K. Xu, and R. Sinha, "Psychological and biological resilience modulates the effects of stress on epigenetic aging," *Transl. Psychiatry 2021 111*, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 1–9, Nov. 2021, doi: 10.1038/s41398-021-01735-7.
- [12] "Stress and anxiety plague 60 percent of U.S,. adults, a new poll says The Washington Post." https://www.washingtonpost.com/health/60-percent-of-us-adults-are-feeling-daily-stress-andworry-new-gallup-poll-shows/2020/04/17/13ce9d8a-7ffd-11ea-a3ee-13e1ae0a3571\_story.html (accessed Oct. 07, 2022).
- [13] "Important Facts and Statistics About Stress: Prevalence, Impact, & More." https://www.therecoveryvillage.com/mental-health/stress/stress-statistics/ (accessed Mar. 30, 2023).
- [14] "Canadians equally stressed at work as they are in their personal lives | TELUS Health (formerly LifeWorks)." https://lifeworks.com/en/news/canadians-equally-stressed-work-they-are-their-

personal-lives (accessed Apr. 06, 2023).

- [15] A. Keller *et al.*, "Does the perception that stress affects health matter? The association with health and mortality.," *Heal. Psychol.*, vol. 31, no. 5, pp. 677–684, 2012, doi: 10.1037/a0026743.
- [16] T. O. Oladinrin, O. Adeniyi, and M. O. Udi, "Analysis of Stress Management among Professionals in the Nigerian Construction Industry," *Int. J. Multidiscip. Curr. Res.*, 2013.
- [17] S. L. Carmichael, G. M. Shaw, W. Yang, B. Abrams, and E. J. Lammer, "Maternal Stressful Life Events and Risks of Birth Defects," *Epidemiology*, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 356–361, May 2007, doi: 10.1097/01.ede.0000259986.85239.87.
- [18] "What is Prenatal Maternal Stress? | SPIRAL McGill University." https://www.mcgill.ca/spiral/spiral/prenatal-stress (accessed Mar. 31, 2023).
- [19] T. O. Oladinrin, O. Adeniyi, and M. O. Udi, "International Journal of Multidisciplinary and Current Research Analysis of Stress Management among Professionals in the Nigerian Construction Industry," Accessed: Mar. 30, 2023. [Online]. Available: http://ijmcr.com.
- [20] R. S. DeFrank and J. M. Ivancevich, "Stress on the job: An executive update," *Acad. Manag. Exec.*, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 55–66, 1998, doi: 10.5465/AME.1998.1109050.
- [21] P. Henley *et al.*, "Cultural and socio-economic conditions as factors contributing to chronic stress in sub-Saharan African communities," *Can. J. Physiol. Pharmacol.*, vol. 92, no. 9, pp. 725–732, Sep. 2014, doi: 10.1139/cjpp-2014-0035.
- [22] S. S. Muke *et al.*, "Digital Training for Non-Specialist Health Workers to Deliver a Brief Psychological Treatment for Depression in Primary Care in India: Findings from a Randomized Pilot Study," *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health*, vol. 17, no. 17, p. 6368, Sep. 2020, doi: 10.3390/ijerph17176368.
- [23] M. Madzhie, "University Students' Perceptions of the Causes of Stress," J. Soc. Sci., vol. 44, no. 1, pp. 53–59, Jul. 2015, doi: 10.1080/09718923.2015.11893459.
- [24] B. Fogg, "Persuasive computers," in *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems CHI '98*, 1998, pp. 225–232, doi: 10.1145/274644.274677.
- "What are Positive and Negative Emotions and Do We Need Both?"
  https://positivepsychology.com/positive-negative-emotions/ (accessed Mar. 31, 2023).
- [26] M. Eisenstadt, S. Liverpool, E. Infanti, R. M. Ciuvat, and B. ; Courtney Carlsson, "Mobile Apps That Promote Emotion Regulation, Positive Mental Health, and Well-being in the General Population: Systematic Review and Meta-analysis," doi: 10.2196/31170.
- [27] "There's Magic in Your Smile | Psychology Today." https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/cutting-edge-leadership/201206/there-s-magic-inyour-smile (accessed Oct. 08, 2022).
- [28] G. Moore, L. Galway, and M. Donnelly, "Remember to smile design of a mobile affective technology to help promote individual happiness through smiling," *PervasiveHealth Pervasive Comput. Technol. Healthc.*, pp. 348–354, 2017, doi: 10.1145/3154862.3154936.
- [29] V. Santos et al., "The Role of Positive Emotion and Contributions of Positive Psychology in

Depression Treatment: Systematic Review," *Clin. Pract. Epidemiol. Ment. Heal.*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 221–237, Nov. 2013, doi: 10.2174/1745017901309010221.

- [30] F. Marmolejo-Ramos *et al.*, "Your Face and Moves Seem Happier When I Smile," https://doi.org/10.1027/1618-3169/a000470, vol. 67, no. 1, pp. 14–22, May 2020, doi: 10.1027/1618-3169/A000470.
- [31] "Grin and Bear It! Smiling Facilitates Stress Recovery Association for Psychological Science APS." https://www.psychologicalscience.org/news/releases/smiling-facilitates-stressrecovery.html (accessed Oct. 08, 2022).
- [32] H. Oinas-Kukkonen and M. Harjumaa, "Persuasive systems design: Key issues, process model, and system features," *Commun. Assoc. Inf. Syst.*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 485–500, 2009, doi: 10.17705/1cais.02428.
- [33] "Psychological Theory Definition: An Overview." https://mantracare.org/therapy/whatis/psychological-theory-definition/ (accessed Mar. 31, 2023).
- [34] "dart\_sentiment | Flutter Package." https://pub.dev/packages/dart\_sentiment (accessed Mar. 17, 2023).
- [35] "Dart | Google Developers." https://developers.google.com/learn/topics/dart (accessed Mar. 13, 2023).
- [36] A. Liberati *et al.*, "The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration," *J. Clin. Epidemiol.*, vol. 62, no. 10, pp. e1–e34, Oct. 2009, doi: 10.1016/J.JCLINEPI.2009.06.006.
- [37] R. Orji and K. Moffatt, "Persuasive technology for health and wellness: State-of-the-art and emerging trends," *Health Informatics J.*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 66–91, Mar. 2018, doi: 10.1177/1460458216650979.
- [38] M. Nkwo, R. Orji, and J. Ugah, "Persuasion for promoting clean and sustainable environment," in Proceedings of the Second African Conference for Human Computer Interaction: Thriving Communities, Dec. 2018, pp. 1–5, doi: 10.1145/3283458.3283490.
- [39] B. Fogg, "A behavior model for persuasive design," in *Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on Persuasive Technology*, Apr. 2009, pp. 1–7, doi: 10.1145/1541948.1541999.
- P. Chandrashekar, "Do mental health mobile apps work: evidence and recommendations for designing high-efficacy mental health mobile apps," *mHealth*, vol. 4, pp. 6–6, Mar. 2018, doi: 10.21037/mhealth.2018.03.02.
- [41] S. L. Gable and J. Haidt, "What (and Why) is Positive Psychology?," *Rev. Gen. Psychol.*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 103–110, Jun. 2005, doi: 10.1037/1089-2680.9.2.103.
- [42] C. A. Secondary, C. Author, A. Howells, I. Ivtzan, F. J. Eiroa-orosa, and A. Howells, "2015\_A randomised controlled trial of a smartphone-based," *J. Happiness Stud. Putt.*, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 163–185, 2016.
- [43] F. Chakhssi, J. T. Kraiss, M. Sommers-Spijkerman, and E. T. Bohlmeijer, "The effect of positive psychology interventions on well-being and distress in clinical samples with psychiatric or somatic disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis," *BMC Psychiatry*, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 1–17, Jun.

2018, doi: 10.1186/S12888-018-1739-2/TABLES/4.

- [44] E. Brindal, G. A. Hendrie, J. Freyne, and M. Noakes, "A Mobile Phone App Designed to Support Weight Loss Maintenance and Well-Being (MotiMate): Randomized Controlled Trial," *JMIR mHealth uHealth*, vol. 7, no. 9, p. e12882, Sep. 2019, doi: 10.2196/12882.
- [45] A. Ahtinen, E. Andrejeff, and K. Väänänen, "Brainwolk-A Mobile Technology Mediated Walking Meeting Concept for Wellbeing and Creativity at Work," doi: 10.1145/3012709.3016062.
- [46] F. Alqahtani, R. Orji, H. Riper, N. Mccleary, H. Witteman, and P. Mcgrath, "Motivation-based approach for tailoring persuasive mental health applications," *Behav. Inf. Technol.*, pp. 1–27, Feb. 2022, doi: 10.1080/0144929X.2022.2031296.
- [47] O. Oyebode, R. Orji, and D. Maurya, "Nourish Your Tree! Developing a Persuasive Exergame for Promoting Physical Activity Among Adults Maternal and Child Healthcare Interventions in Developing Communities View project STD Pong 2.0 View project Nourish Your Tree! Developing a Persuasive Exergame for Promoting Physical Activity Among Adults," doi: 10.1109/SeGAH49190.2020.9201637.
- [48] C. E. Cook and S. Décary, "Higher order thinking about differential diagnosis," *Brazilian J. Phys. Ther.*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 1–7, Jan. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.bjpt.2019.01.010.
- [49] K. Denecke, S. Vaaheesan, and A. Arulnathan, "A Mental Health Chatbot for Regulating Emotions (SERMO) - Concept and Usability Test," *IEEE Trans. Emerg. Top. Comput.*, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 1170– 1182, 2021, doi: 10.1109/TETC.2020.2974478.
- [50] P. Kinderman *et al.*, "The feasibility and effectiveness of Catch It, an innovative CBT smartphone app," *BJPsych Open*, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 204–209, May 2016, doi: 10.1192/bjpo.bp.115.002436.
- [51] A. Mehta, A. N. Niles, J. H. Vargas, T. Marafon, D. D. Couto, and J. J. Gross, "Acceptability and Effectiveness of Artificial Intelligence Therapy for Anxiety and Depression (Youper): Longitudinal Observational Study," J Med Internet Res 2021;23(6)e26771 https://www.jmir.org/2021/6/e26771, vol. 23, no. 6, p. e26771, Jun. 2021, doi: 10.2196/26771.
- [52] J. I. Kim *et al.*, "A Mobile Videoconference-Based Intervention on Stress Reduction and Resilience Enhancement in Employees: Randomized Controlled Trial," *J. Med. Internet Res.*, vol. 20, no. 10, p. e10760, Oct. 2018, doi: 10.2196/10760.
- [53] A. Roy, E. A. Hoge, P. Abrante, S. Druker, T. Liu, and J. A. Brewer, "Clinical Efficacy and Psychological Mechanisms of an App-Based Digital Therapeutic for Generalized Anxiety Disorder: Randomized Controlled Trial," J. Med. Internet Res., vol. 23, no. 12, p. e26987, Dec. 2021, doi: 10.2196/26987.
- [54] S. M. Jungmann, T. Klan, S. Kuhn, and F. Jungmann, "Accuracy of a Chatbot (Ada) in the Diagnosis of Mental Disorders: Comparative Case Study With Lay and Expert Users," *JMIR Form. Res.*, vol. 3, no. 4, p. e13863, Oct. 2019, doi: 10.2196/13863.
- [55] Y. Luo *et al.*, "Effectiveness of a Mobile Device–Based Resilience Training Program in Reducing Depressive Symptoms and Enhancing Resilience and Quality of Life in Parents of Children With Cancer: Randomized Controlled Trial," *J. Med. Internet Res.*, vol. 23, no. 11, p. e27639, Nov. 2021, doi: 10.2196/27639.
- [56] C. C. Coelhoso et al., "A New Mental Health Mobile App for Well-Being and Stress Reduction in

Working Women: Randomized Controlled Trial," J. Med. Internet Res., vol. 21, no. 11, p. e14269, Nov. 2019, doi: 10.2196/14269.

- [57] A. T. Sikder, F. C. Yang, R. Schafer, G. A. Dowling, L. Traeger, and F. A. Jain, "Mentalizing Imagery Therapy Mobile App to Enhance the Mood of Family Dementia Caregivers: Feasibility and Limited Efficacy Testing," *JMIR Aging*, vol. 2, no. 1, p. e12850, Mar. 2019, doi: 10.2196/12850.
- [58] C. Mendes-Santos, F. Nunes, E. Weiderpass, R. Santana, and G. Andersson, "Development and Evaluation of the Usefulness, Usability, and Feasibility of iNNOV Breast Cancer: Mixed Methods Study," JMIR Cancer, vol. 8, no. 1, p. e33550, Feb. 2022, doi: 10.2196/33550.
- [59] M. McCallum *et al.*, "Feasibility, Acceptability, and Preliminary Outcomes of a Cognitive Behavioral Therapy–Based Mobile Mental Well-being Program (Noom Mood): Single-Arm Prospective Cohort Study," *JMIR Form. Res.*, vol. 6, no. 4, p. e36794, Apr. 2022, doi: 10.2196/36794.
- [60] B. Laird, M. Puzia, L. Larkey, D. Ehlers, and J. Huberty, "A Mobile App for Stress Management in Middle-Aged Men and Women (Calm): Feasibility Randomized Controlled Trial," *JMIR Form. Res.*, vol. 6, no. 5, p. e30294, May 2022, doi: 10.2196/30294.
- [61] E. Børøsund *et al.*, "A Stress Management App Intervention for Cancer Survivors: Design, Development, and Usability Testing," *JMIR Form. Res.*, vol. 2, no. 2, p. e19, Sep. 2018, doi: 10.2196/formative.9954.
- [62] J. M. Kawadler, N. R. Hemmings, S. Ponzo, D. Morelli, G. Bird, and D. Plans, "Effectiveness of a Smartphone App (BioBase) for Reducing Anxiety and Increasing Mental Well-Being: Pilot Feasibility and Acceptability Study," *JMIR Form. Res.*, vol. 4, no. 11, p. e18067, Nov. 2020, doi: 10.2196/18067.
- [63] S. F. Austin, J. E. Jansen, C. J. Petersen, R. Jensen, and E. Simonsen, "Mobile App Integration Into Dialectical Behavior Therapy for Persons With Borderline Personality Disorder: Qualitative and Quantitative Study," *JMIR Ment. Heal.*, vol. 7, no. 6, p. e14913, Jun. 2020, doi: 10.2196/14913.
- [64] C. El Morr, P. Ritvo, F. Ahmad, and R. Moineddin, "Effectiveness of an 8-Week Web-Based Mindfulness Virtual Community Intervention for University Students on Symptoms of Stress, Anxiety, and Depression: Randomized Controlled Trial," *JMIR Ment. Heal.*, vol. 7, no. 7, p. e18595, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.2196/18595.
- [65] A. A. P. van Emmerik, F. Berings, and J. Lancee, "Efficacy of a Mindfulness-Based Mobile Application: a Randomized Waiting-List Controlled Trial," *Mindfulness (N. Y).*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 187–198, Feb. 2018, doi: 10.1007/s12671-017-0761-7.
- [66] M. Lozano-Lozano *et al.*, "A Blended Learning System to Improve Motivation, Mood State, and Satisfaction in Undergraduate Students: Randomized Controlled Trial," *J. Med. Internet Res.*, vol. 22, no. 5, p. e17101, May 2020, doi: 10.2196/17101.
- [67] J. Lüscher *et al.*, "Having a Good Time Together: The Role of Companionship in Older Couples' Everyday Life," *Gerontology*, vol. 68, no. 12, pp. 1428–1439, 2022, doi: 10.1159/000524089.
- [68] B. Lee, O. Kwon, I. Lee, and J. Kim, "Companionship with smart home devices: The impact of social connectedness and interaction types on perceived social support and companionship in smart homes," *Comput. Human Behav.*, vol. 75, pp. 922–934, Oct. 2017, doi:

10.1016/j.chb.2017.06.031.

- [69] "How a Simple Smile Benefits Your Brain and Body The Best Brain Possible." https://thebestbrainpossible.com/how-the-simple-act-of-smiling-benefits-your-brain-and-body/ (accessed May 30, 2023).
- [70] "There's Magic in Your Smile | Psychology Today Canada." https://www.psychologytoday.com/ca/blog/cutting-edge-leadership/201206/there-s-magic-inyour-smile (accessed May 30, 2023).
- [71] S. Deterding, D. Dixon, R. Khaled, and L. Nacke, "From game design elements to gamefulness," in Proceedings of the 15th International Academic MindTrek Conference: Envisioning Future Media Environments, Sep. 2011, pp. 9–15, doi: 10.1145/2181037.2181040.
- [72] C. Lister, J. H. West, B. Cannon, T. Sax, and D. Brodegard, "Just a Fad? Gamification in Health and Fitness Apps," *JMIR Serious Games*, vol. 2, no. 2, p. e9, Aug. 2014, doi: 10.2196/games.3413.
- [73] I. Bouchrika, N. Harrati, V. Wanick, and G. Wills, "Exploring the impact of gamification on student engagement and involvement with e-learning systems," *Interact. Learn. Environ.*, vol. 29, no. 8, pp. 1244–1257, Nov. 2021, doi: 10.1080/10494820.2019.1623267.
- [74] M. Christoforou, J. A. Sáez Fonseca, and E. Tsakanikos, "Two Novel Cognitive Behavioral Therapy– Based Mobile Apps for Agoraphobia: Randomized Controlled Trial," J. Med. Internet Res., vol. 19, no. 11, p. e398, Nov. 2017, doi: 10.2196/jmir.7747.
- [75] B. Moltrecht, P. Patalay, J. Deighton, and J. Edbrooke-Childs, "A School-Based Mobile App Intervention for Enhancing Emotion Regulation in Children: Exploratory Trial," *JMIR mHealth uHealth*, vol. 9, no. 7, p. e21837, Jul. 2021, doi: 10.2196/21837.
- J. Lockwood, L. Williams, J. L. Martin, M. Rathee, and C. Hill, "Effectiveness, User Engagement and Experience, and Safety of a Mobile App (Lumi Nova) Delivering Exposure-Based Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Strategies to Manage Anxiety in Children via Immersive Gaming Technology: Preliminary Evaluation Study," *JMIR Ment. Heal.*, vol. 9, no. 1, p. e29008, Jan. 2022, doi: 10.2196/29008.
- [77] N. Farve, "Smile Catcher-A Gamified Approach to Smiles."
- [78] J. Leppink, F. Paas, T. van Gog, C. P. M. van der Vleuten, and J. J. G. van Merriënboer, "Effects of pairs of problems and examples on task performance and different types of cognitive load," *Learn. Instr.*, vol. 30, pp. 32–42, Apr. 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.learninstruc.2013.12.001.
- [79] R. Walsh and S. L. Shapiro, "The meeting of meditative disciplines and western psychology: A mutually enriching dialogue," Am. Psychol., vol. 61, no. 3, pp. 227–239, 2006, doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.61.3.227.
- [80] H. Sharma, "Meditation: Process and effects," AYU (An Int. Q. J. Res. Ayurveda), vol. 36, no. 3, p. 233, 2015, doi: 10.4103/0974-8520.182756.
- [81] D. C. Mohr *et al.*, "IntelliCare: An Eclectic, Skills-Based App Suite for the Treatment of Depression and Anxiety," *J. Med. Internet Res.*, vol. 19, no. 1, p. e10, Jan. 2017, doi: 10.2196/jmir.6645.
- [82] J. Huberty, N. Bhuiyan, M. Puzia, L. Joeman, L. Larkey, and R. Mesa, "Meditation Mobile App Developed for Patients With and Survivors of Cancer: Feasibility Randomized Controlled Trial,"

JMIR Cancer, vol. 8, no. 4, p. e39228, Nov. 2022, doi: 10.2196/39228.

- [83] E. Yang, E. Schamber, R. M. L. Meyer, and J. I. Gold, "Happier Healers: Randomized Controlled Trial of Mobile Mindfulness for Stress Management," J. Altern. Complement. Med., vol. 24, no. 5, pp. 505–513, May 2018, doi: 10.1089/acm.2015.0301.
- [84] J. Huberty, J. Green, C. Glissmann, L. Larkey, M. Puzia, and C. Lee, "Efficacy of the Mindfulness Meditation Mobile App 'Calm' to Reduce Stress Among College Students: Randomized Controlled Trial," *JMIR mHealth uHealth*, vol. 7, no. 6, p. e14273, Jun. 2019, doi: 10.2196/14273.
- [85] M. A. Throuvala, M. D. Griffiths, M. Rennoldson, and D. J. Kuss, "Mind over Matter: Testing the Efficacy of an Online Randomized Controlled Trial to Reduce Distraction from Smartphone Use," Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health, vol. 17, no. 13, p. 4842, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.3390/ijerph17134842.
- [86] M. Goyal *et al.*, "Meditation Programs for Psychological Stress and Well-being: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis," *Dtsch. Zeitschrift für Akupunkt.*, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 26–27, 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.dza.2014.07.007.
- [87] B. Hayman, L. Wilkes, and D. Jackson, "Journaling: identification of challenges and reflection on strategies," *Nurse Res.*, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 27–31, Apr. 2012, doi: 10.7748/nr2012.04.19.3.27.c9056.
- [88] J. P. Charles, "Journaling: Creating Space for 'I," *Creat. Nurs.*, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 180–184, Nov. 2010, doi: 10.1891/1078-4535.16.4.180.
- [89] V. Rivera-Pelayo, A. Fessl, L. Müller, and V. Pammer, "Introducing Mood Self-Tracking at Work," *ACM Trans. Comput. Interact.*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 1–28, Feb. 2017, doi: 10.1145/3014058.
- [90] "Mobile apps for mood tracking: an analysis of features and user reviews PubMed." https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29854114/ (accessed Mar. 28, 2023).
- [91] M. Harrer *et al.*, "Effectiveness of an Internet- and App-Based Intervention for College Students With Elevated Stress: Randomized Controlled Trial," *J. Med. Internet Res.*, vol. 20, no. 4, p. e136, Apr. 2018, doi: 10.2196/jmir.9293.
- [92] C. Moberg, A. Niles, and D. Beermann, "Guided Self-Help Works: Randomized Waitlist Controlled Trial of Pacifica, a Mobile App Integrating Cognitive Behavioral Therapy and Mindfulness for Stress, Anxiety, and Depression," J. Med. Internet Res., vol. 21, no. 6, p. e12556, Jun. 2019, doi: 10.2196/12556.
- [93] S. E. Hetrick *et al.*, "Youth Codesign of a Mobile Phone App to Facilitate Self-Monitoring and Management of Mood Symptoms in Young People With Major Depression, Suicidal Ideation, and Self-Harm," *JMIR Ment. Heal.*, vol. 5, no. 1, p. e9, Jan. 2018, doi: 10.2196/mental.9041.
- [94] N. R. Leonard *et al.*, "Theoretically-Based Emotion Regulation Strategies Using a Mobile App and Wearable Sensor Among Homeless Adolescent Mothers: Acceptability and Feasibility Study," *JMIR Pediatr. Parent.*, vol. 1, no. 1, p. e1, Mar. 2018, doi: 10.2196/pediatrics.9037.
- [95] D. Bakker and N. Rickard, "Engagement in mobile phone app for self-monitoring of emotional wellbeing predicts changes in mental health: MoodPrism," J. Affect. Disord., vol. 227, pp. 432– 442, Feb. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.11.016.
- [96] L. Hides et al., "Efficacy and Outcomes of a Music-Based Emotion Regulation Mobile App in
Distressed Young People: Randomized Controlled Trial," *JMIR mHealth uHealth*, vol. 7, no. 1, p. e11482, Jan. 2019, doi: 10.2196/11482.

- [97] P. Williams, L. Barclay, and V. Schmied, "Defining Social Support in Context: A Necessary Step in Improving Research, Intervention, and Practice," *Qual. Health Res.*, vol. 14, no. 7, pp. 942–960, Sep. 2004, doi: 10.1177/1049732304266997.
- [98] R. B. Cadzow and T. J. Servoss, "The Association Between Perceived Social Support and Health Among Patients at a Free Urban Clinic," J. Natl. Med. Assoc., vol. 101, no. 3, pp. 243–250, Mar. 2009, doi: 10.1016/S0027-9684(15)30852-X.
- [99] "(2) Facebook." https://www.facebook.com/ (accessed Mar. 28, 2023).
- [100] K. Chung, H. Y. Cho, and J. Y. Park, "A Chatbot for Perinatal Women's and Partners' Obstetric and Mental Health Care: Development and Usability Evaluation Study," *JMIR Med. Informatics*, vol. 9, no. 3, p. e18607, Mar. 2021, doi: 10.2196/18607.
- [101] E. Bruehlman-Senecal *et al.*, "Smartphone App to Address Loneliness Among College Students: Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial," *JMIR Ment. Heal.*, vol. 7, no. 10, p. e21496, Oct. 2020, doi: 10.2196/21496.
- [102] D. A. Schlosser *et al.*, "Efficacy of PRIME, a Mobile App Intervention Designed to Improve Motivation in Young People With Schizophrenia," *Schizophr. Bull.*, vol. 44, no. 5, pp. 1010–1020, Aug. 2018, doi: 10.1093/schbul/sby078.
- [103] C. Shih, R. Pudipeddi, A. Uthayakumar, and P. Washington, "A Local Community-Based Social Network for Mental Health and Well-being (Quokka): Exploratory Feasibility Study," *JMIRx Med*, vol. 2, no. 4, p. e24972, Oct. 2021, doi: 10.2196/24972.
- [104] "Csikszentmihalyi and Happiness." https://www.pursuit-of-happiness.org/history-of-happiness/mihaly-csikszentmihalyi/ (accessed Mar. 11, 2023).
- [105] H. Oinas-Kukkonen and M. Harjumaa, "A systematic framework for designing and evaluating persuasive systems," *Lect. Notes Comput. Sci. (including Subser. Lect. Notes Artif. Intell. Lect. Notes Bioinformatics)*, vol. 5033 LNCS, pp. 164–176, 2008, doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-68504-3\_15.
- [106] "The PERMA Model: Your Scientific Theory of Happiness." https://positivepsychology.com/perma-model/ (accessed Mar. 11, 2023).
- [107] "The Psychology Behind Flow Theory and Happiness | Solara Mental Health." https://solaramentalhealth.com/flow-and-happiness/ (accessed Mar. 11, 2023).
- [108] L. Derbali and C. Frasson, "Assessment of Learners' Motivation during Interactions with Serious Games: A Study of Some Motivational Strategies in Food-Force," Adv. Human-Computer Interact., vol. 2012, pp. 1–15, 2012, doi: 10.1155/2012/624538.
- [109] M. L. East and B. C. Havard, "Mental Health Mobile Apps: From Infusion to Diffusion in the Mental Health Social System," JMIR Ment Heal. 2015;2(1)e10 https://mental.jmir.org/2015/1/e10, vol. 2, no. 1, p. e3954, Mar. 2015, doi: 10.2196/MENTAL.3954.
- [110] M. Deady *et al.*, "Preventing depression using a smartphone app: a randomized controlled trial," *Psychol. Med.*, vol. 52, no. 3, pp. 457–466, Feb. 2022, doi: 10.1017/S0033291720002081.

- [111] T. McCloud, R. Jones, G. Lewis, V. Bell, and E. Tsakanikos, "Effectiveness of a Mobile App Intervention for Anxiety and Depression Symptoms in University Students: Randomized Controlled Trial," JMIR mHealth uHealth, vol. 8, no. 7, p. e15418, Jul. 2020, doi: 10.2196/15418.
- [112] K. Wang, D. S. Varma, and M. Prosperi, "A systematic review of the effectiveness of mobile apps for monitoring and management of mental health symptoms or disorders," J. Psychiatr. Res., vol. 107, pp. 73–78, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2018.10.006.
- [113] T. R. Chang, E. Kaasinen, and K. Kaipainen, "What influences users' decisions to take apps into use? A framework for evaluating persuasive and engaging design in mobile apps for well-being," *Proc. 11th Int. Conf. Mob. Ubiquitous Multimedia, MUM 2012*, 2012, doi: 10.1145/2406367.2406370.
- [114] "Flutter Build apps for any screen." https://flutter.dev/ (accessed Mar. 13, 2023).
- [115] "Global mobile OS market share 2022 | Statista." https://www.statista.com/statistics/272698/global-market-share-held-by-mobile-operatingsystems-since-2009/ (accessed Mar. 13, 2023).
- [116] "What is Java used for? 6 practical Java uses FutureLearn." https://www.futurelearn.com/info/blog/what-is-java-used-for (accessed Mar. 13, 2023).
- [117] "Spring Boot Reference Documentation." https://docs.spring.io/springboot/docs/current/reference/html/ (accessed Mar. 13, 2023).
- [118] "IntelliJ IDEA dominates the IDE market with 62% adoption among JVM developers | Snyk." https://snyk.io/blog/intellij-idea-dominates-the-ide-market-with-62-adoption-among-jvmdevelopers/ (accessed Mar. 13, 2023).
- [119] "Meet Android Studio | Android Developers." https://developer.android.com/studio/intro (accessed Mar. 13, 2023).
- [120] "Client Server Architecture CIO Wiki." https://cio-wiki.org/wiki/Client\_Server\_Architecture (accessed Mar. 13, 2023).
- [121] "Amazon docs." https://docs.aws.amazon.com/AmazonS3/latest/userguide/Welcome.html (accessed Oct. 31, 2021).
- [122] "What is an API? (Application Programming Interface) | MuleSoft." https://www.mulesoft.com/resources/api/what-is-an-api (accessed Mar. 13, 2023).
- [123] "SQL or NoSQL databases which one is best for storing data Weld Blog." https://weld.app/blog/sql-or-nosql-databases-which-one-is-best-for-storing-data-in-yourorganisation (accessed Mar. 13, 2023).
- [124] "Your relational data. Objectively. Hibernate ORM." https://hibernate.org/orm/ (accessed Mar. 13, 2023).
- [125] "Description of the state-of-the-Art Conversational AI with Transfer Learning | by Thomas Wolf | HuggingFace | Medium." https://medium.com/huggingface/how-to-build-a-state-of-the-artconversational-ai-with-transfer-learning-2d818ac26313 (accessed Mar. 16, 2023).
- [126] H. Rashkin, E. M. Smith, M. Li, and Y. L. Boureau, "Towards Empathetic Open-domain

Conversation Models: a New Benchmark and Dataset," ACL 2019 - 57th Annu. Meet. Assoc. Comput. Linguist. Proc. Conf., pp. 5370–5381, Nov. 2018, doi: 10.48550/arxiv.1811.00207.

- [127] A. Haleem, M. Javaid, and R. P. Singh, "An era of ChatGPT as a significant futuristic support tool: A study on features, abilities, and challenges," *BenchCouncil Trans. Benchmarks, Stand. Eval.*, vol. 2, no. 4, p. 100089, Oct. 2022, doi: 10.1016/J.TBENCH.2023.100089.
- [128] "Complete Guide to ValueNotifier in Flutter BrewYourTech." https://brewyourtech.com/complete-guide-to-valuenotifier-in-flutter/ (accessed Mar. 16, 2023).
- [129] T. S. Conner, C. G. DeYoung, and P. J. Silvia, "Everyday creative activity as a path to flourishing," J. Posit. Psychol., vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 181–189, Mar. 2018, doi: 10.1080/17439760.2016.1257049.
- [130] "google\_ml\_kit | Flutter Package." https://pub.dev/packages/google\_ml\_kit (accessed Mar. 17, 2023).
- [131] "Smile, You're on WebRTC Using MLKit for Smile Detection | by Houseparty | Good Audience." https://blog.goodaudience.com/smile-youre-on-webrtc-using-mlkit-for-smile-detectionf108430a8916 (accessed Jun. 24, 2023).
- [132] G. Cameron et al., "Assessing the usability of a chatbot for mental health care," Lect. Notes Comput. Sci. (including Subser. Lect. Notes Artif. Intell. Lect. Notes Bioinformatics), vol. 11551 LNCS, pp. 121–132, 2019, doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-17705-8\_11/FIGURES/5.
- [133] R. Fulmer, A. Joerin, B. Gentile, L. Lakerink, and M. Rauws, "Using Psychological Artificial Intelligence (Tess) to Relieve Symptoms of Depression and Anxiety: Randomized Controlled Trial," JMIR Ment Heal. 2018;5(4)e64 https//mental.jmir.org/2018/4/e64, vol. 5, no. 4, p. e9782, Dec. 2018, doi: 10.2196/MENTAL.9782.
- [134] K. K. Fitzpatrick, A. Darcy, and M. Vierhile, "Delivering Cognitive Behavior Therapy to Young Adults With Symptoms of Depression and Anxiety Using a Fully Automated Conversational Agent (Woebot): A Randomized Controlled Trial," *JMIR Ment. Heal.*, vol. 4, no. 2, p. e19, Jun. 2017, doi: 10.2196/mental.7785.
- [135] S. Keyvanfar, A. Sadeghnia, and M. Namnabati, "The effects of a neonatal critical care nurse companionship with parents during hospital—home transfer of preterm infants on mothers' mood status," Nurs. Midwifery Stud., vol. 9, no. 1, p. 16, 2020, doi: 10.4103/nms.nms\_50\_19.
- [136] F. Alqahtani, A. Winn, and R. Orji, "Co-Designing a Mobile App to Improve Mental Health and Well-Being: Focus Group Study," JMIR Form Res 2021;5(2)e18172 https://formative.jmir.org/2021/2/e18172, vol. 5, no. 2, p. e18172, Feb. 2021, doi: 10.2196/18172.
- [137] J. P. Nitschke *et al.*, "Resilience during uncertainty? Greater social connectedness during COVID-19 lockdown is associated with reduced distress and fatigue," *Br. J. Health Psychol.*, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 553–569, May 2021, doi: 10.1111/bjhp.12485.
- [138] P. Ekman et al., "Are There Basic Emotions?"
- [139] A. Bangor, P. T. Kortum, and J. T. Miller, "An empirical evaluation of the system usability scale," *Int. J. Hum. Comput. Interact.*, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 574–594, Aug. 2008, doi: 10.1080/10447310802205776.

- [140] A. Bangor, P. Kortum, and J. Miller, "Determining what individual SUS scores mean; adding an adjective rating," *J. usability Stud.*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 114–23, 2009.
- [141] I. Vaghefi and B. Tulu, "The Continued Use of Mobile Health Apps: Insights From a Longitudinal Study," JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2019;7(8)e12983 https//mhealth.jmir.org/2019/8/e12983, vol. 7, no. 8, p. e12983, Aug. 2019, doi: 10.2196/12983.
- [142] B. Y. Lim, A. Shick, C. Harrison, and S. Hudson, "Pediluma: Motivating physical activity through contextual information and social influence," *Proc. 5th Int. Conf. Tangible Embed. Embodied Interact. TEI'11*, pp. 173–180, 2011, doi: 10.1145/1935701.1935736.
- [143] I. M. Albaina, T. Visser, C. A. P. O. Van Der Mast, and M. H. Vastenburg, "Flowie: A persuasive virtual coach to motivate elderly individuals to walk," 2009 3rd Int. Conf. Pervasive Comput. Technol. Healthc. - Pervasive Heal. 2009, PCTHealth 2009, 2009, doi: 10.4108/ICST.PERVASIVEHEALTH2009.5949.
- [144] A. Khalil and S. Abdallah, "Harnessing social dynamics through persuasive technology to promote healthier lifestyle," *Comput. Human Behav.*, vol. 29, no. 6, pp. 2674–2681, Nov. 2013, doi: 10.1016/J.CHB.2013.07.008.
- [145] P. Hills and M. Argyle, "The Oxford Happiness Questionnaire: a compact scale for the measurement of psychological well-being," *Pers. Individ. Dif.*, vol. 33, no. 7, pp. 1073–1082, Nov. 2002, doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(01)00213-6.
- [146] R. M. Lee and S. B. Robbins, "Measuring Belongingness: The Social Connectedness and the Social Assurance Scales," J. Couns. Psychol., vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 232–241, 1995, doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.42.2.232.
- [147] I. Brdar, "Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS)," *Encycl. Qual. Life Well-Being Res.*, pp. 4918–4920, 2014, doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-0753-5\_2212.
- [148] H. L. O'Brien, P. Cairns, and M. Hall, "A practical approach to measuring user engagement with the refined user engagement scale (UES) and new UES short form," *Int. J. Hum. Comput. Stud.*, vol. 112, pp. 28–39, Apr. 2018, doi: 10.1016/J.IJHCS.2018.01.004.
- [149] J. L. Reynolds, "Measuring intrinsic motivations," *Handb. Res. Electron. Surv. Meas.*, no. Imi, pp. 170–173, 2006, doi: 10.4018/978-1-59140-792-8.ch018.
- [150] ""Technical Notes on R-based Reanalysis of the Brief Mood Introspection " by John D. Mayer." https://scholars.unh.edu/personality\_lab/17/ (accessed Oct. 21, 2022).
- [151] S. Kamthan *et al.*, "Happiness among second year MBBS students and its correlates using Oxford Happiness Questionnaire," *J. Oral Biol. Craniofacial Res.*, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 190–192, Apr. 2019, doi: 10.1016/j.jobcr.2018.06.003.
- [152] B. Moeini, M. Barati, M. Farhadian, M. Babamiri, and M. Heydari Ara, "Happiness and Its Related Factors among the Elderly in Hamadan (Iran): A Cross Sectional Study," *Avicenna J. Neuro Psycho Physiol.*, vol. 3, no. 4, Nov. 2016, doi: 10.5812/ajnpp.57782.
- [153] A. Mahmoudi, F. Mahmoudi, M. Shamsaei, H. Shahraki, and H. Kakaei, "Determination of the Level of Happiness among Students of Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Iran," J. Res. Med. Dent. Sci., 2019.

- [154] B. Moeini, M. Babamiri, Y. Mohammadi, M. Barati, and S. Rashidi, "RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN HAPPINESS AND MENTAL HEALTH STATUS AMONG HIGH SCHOOL FEMALE STUDENTS: A DESCRIPTIVE – ANALYTIC STUDY," J. Urmia Nurs. Midwifery Fac., 2017.
- [155] C. Kuesten, P. Chopra, J. Bi, and H. L. Meiselman, "A global study using PANAS (PA and NA) scales to measure consumer emotions associated with aromas of phytonutrient supplements," *Food Qual. Prefer.*, vol. 33, pp. 86–97, Apr. 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.foodqual.2013.11.004.
- [156] C. Martel, G. Pennycook, and D. G. Rand, "Reliance on emotion promotes belief in fake news," *Cogn. Res. Princ. Implic.*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 1–20, Dec. 2020, doi: 10.1186/S41235-020-00252-3/FIGURES/5.
- [157] P. T. Kortum and A. Bangor, "Usability Ratings for Everyday Products Measured With the System Usability Scale," Int. J. Hum. Comput. Interact., vol. 29, no. 2, pp. 67–76, Jan. 2013, doi: 10.1080/10447318.2012.681221.
- [158] D. Pal and V. Vanijja, "Perceived usability evaluation of Microsoft Teams as an online learning platform during COVID-19 using system usability scale and technology acceptance model in India," *Child. Youth Serv. Rev.*, vol. 119, p. 105535, Dec. 2020, doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2020.105535.
- [159] A. Kaya, R. Ozturk, and C. Altin Gumussoy, "Usability Measurement of Mobile Applications with System Usability Scale (SUS)," pp. 389–400, 2019, doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-03317-0\_32.
- [160] Pandu and A. N. Fajar, "E-learning implementation using user experience questionnaire," *J. Phys. Conf. Ser.*, vol. 1367, no. 1, p. 012015, Nov. 2019, doi: 10.1088/1742-6596/1367/1/012015.
- [161] N. P. I. R. Devy, S. Wibirama, and P. I. Santosa, "Evaluating user experience of english learning interface using User Experience Questionnaire and System Usability Scale," in 2017 1st International Conference on Informatics and Computational Sciences (ICICoS), Nov. 2017, pp. 101–106, doi: 10.1109/ICICOS.2017.8276345.
- [162] N. Limantara, F. Jingga, and S. Surja, "The Evaluation of Business Process Simulation Software from User Experience Perspective using the User Experience Questionnaire," in 2019 International Conference on Information Management and Technology (ICIMTech), Aug. 2019, pp. 261–265, doi: 10.1109/ICIMTech.2019.8843820.
- [163] R. Filieri, F. Acikgoz, V. Ndou, and Y. Dwivedi, "Is TripAdvisor still relevant? The influence of review credibility, review usefulness, and ease of use on consumers' continuance intention," *Int. J. Contemp. Hosp. Manag.*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 199–223, 2021, doi: 10.1108/IJCHM-05-2020-0402.
- [164] M. Heravi-Karimooi, M. Anoosheh, M. Foroughan, M. T. Sheykhi, and E. Hajizadeh,
  "Understanding loneliness in the lived experiences of Iranian elders," *Scand. J. Caring Sci.*, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 274–280, Feb. 2010, doi: 10.1111/j.1471-6712.2009.00717.x.
- [165] E. Duru, "The Predictive Analysis of Adjustment Difficulties from Loneliness, Social Support, and Social Connectedness.," *Educ. Sci. Theory Pract.*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 849–856, Sep. 2008.
- [166] R. M. Lee and S. B. Robbins, "Measuring belongingness: The Social Connectedness and the Social Assurance scales.," J. Couns. Psychol., vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 232–241, Apr. 1995, doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.42.2.232.
- [167] S. Armstrong and J. Oomen-Early, "Social Connectedness, Self-Esteem, and Depression

Symptomatology Among Collegiate Athletes Versus Nonathletes," J. Am. Coll. Heal., vol. 57, no. 5, pp. 521–526, Mar. 2009, doi: 10.3200/JACH.57.5.521-526.

- [168] R. Orji, D. Reilly, K. Oyibo, and F. A. Orji, "Deconstructing persuasiveness of strategies in behaviour change systems using the ARCS model of motivation," *Behav. Inf. Technol.*, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 319–335, Apr. 2019, doi: 10.1080/0144929X.2018.1520302.
- [169] R. J. Thomas, J. Masthoff, and N. Oren, "Can I Influence You? Development of a Scale to Measure Perceived Persuasiveness and Two Studies Showing the Use of the Scale," *Front. Artif. Intell.*, vol. 2, p. 24, Nov. 2019, doi: 10.3389/FRAI.2019.00024/BIBTEX.
- [170] "What does Cronbach's alpha mean? | SPSS FAQ." https://stats.oarc.ucla.edu/spss/faq/whatdoes-cronbachs-alpha-mean/ (accessed May 22, 2023).
- [171] "SPSS Software | IBM." https://www.ibm.com/spss (accessed Mar. 24, 2023).
- [172] "Six Simple Steps to Conduct a Thematic Analysis | JVR Africa Group." https://jvrafricagroup.co.za/blog/six-simple-steps-to-conduct-a-thematic-analysis (accessed Nov. 26, 2022).
- [173] V. Braun and V. Clarke, "Using thematic analysis in psychology," Qual. Res. Psychol., vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 77–101, Jan. 2006, doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp063oa.
- [174] "Shapiro-Wilk Test: Definition, How to Run it in SPSS Statistics How To." https://www.statisticshowto.com/shapiro-wilk-test/ (accessed May 17, 2023).
- [175] "Wilcoxon Signed Rank Test in SPSS Statistics procedure, output and interpretation of output using a relevant example." https://statistics.laerd.com/spss-tutorials/wilcoxon-signed-rank-testusing-spss-statistics.php (accessed May 17, 2023).
- [176] M. Kokkonen and L. Pulkkinen, "Examination of the Paths between Personality, Current Mood, its Evaluation, and Emotion Regulation," *Eur. J. Personal. Eur. J. Pers*, vol. 15, pp. 83–104, 2001, doi: 10.1002/per.397.
- [177] S. Mapchan, "Emotion Expressive Difference Between Men and Women," Sch. Creat. Work. Conf. (2015 - 2021), Apr. 2020, Accessed: May 25, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://scholar.dominican.edu/scw/SCW2020/conference-presentations/66.
- [178] J. Pham, "Personality & How Sound Affects Moods," Math. Sr. Capstone Pap., Apr. 2019, Accessed: May 25, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://digitalcommons.latech.edu/mathematicssenior-capstone-papers/7.
- [179] F. C. Kavcioğlu, "The role of meta-mood experience on the mood congruency effect in recognizing emotions from facial expressions," 2011, Accessed: May 25, 2023. [Online]. Available: https://open.metu.edu.tr/handle/11511/20791.
- [180] "Measuring and Interpreting System Usability Scale (SUS) UIUX Trend." https://uiuxtrend.com/measuring-system-usability-scale-sus/ (accessed Apr. 11, 2023).
- [181] "NVivo Lumivero." https://lumivero.com/products/nvivo/ (accessed Apr. 17, 2023).
- [182] P. Mihas, "Qualitative research methods: approaches to qualitative data analysis," *Int. Encycl. Educ. Ed.*, pp. 302–313, 2023, doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-818630-5.11029-2.

- [183] R. Crutzen, W. Viechtbauer, M. Spigt, and D. Kotz, "Differential attrition in health behaviour change trials: A systematic review and meta-analysis," *Psychol. Health*, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 122– 134, Jan. 2015, doi: 10.1080/08870446.2014.953526.
- [184] C. M. MacDonald and M. E. Atwood, "What does it mean for a system to be useful?," in Proceedings of the 2014 conference on Designing interactive systems, Jun. 2014, pp. 885–894, doi: 10.1145/2598510.2598600.
- [185] "Measuring Usability with the System Usability Scale (SUS) MeasuringU." https://measuringu.com/sus/ (accessed Jun. 24, 2023).
- [186] Y.-J. Kim and P. Verghese, "The Selectivity of Task-Dependent Attention Varies with Surrounding Context," J. Neurosci., vol. 32, no. 35, pp. 12180–12191, Aug. 2012, doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.5992-11.2012.
- [187] D. F. Sacco and M. M. Ismail, "Social belongingness satisfaction as a function of interaction medium: Face-to-face interactions facilitate greater social belonging and interaction enjoyment compared to instant messaging," *Comput. Human Behav.*, vol. 36, pp. 359–364, Jul. 2014, doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014.04.004.
- [188] M. Sabbah-Karkabi, "Education, Gender Ideology, and Housework in the Palestinian Family in Israel: Implications of Contradictory Social Change," J. Fam. Issues, vol. 42, no. 4, pp. 839–862, Apr. 2021, doi: 10.1177/0192513X20930332.
- [189] S. L. T. Hui and S. L. See, "Enhancing User Experience Through Customisation of UI Design," Procedia Manuf., vol. 3, pp. 1932–1937, 2015, doi: 10.1016/j.promfg.2015.07.237.
- [190] J. Maleshkova, M. Purver, T. Weyrich, and P. W. McOwan, "Interactivity and User Engagement in Art Presentation Interfaces," Springer Ser. Cult. Comput., pp. 107–123, 2016, doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-28722-5\_8/FIGURES/7.
- [191] L. Chlan, "Psychophysiologic responses of mechanically ventilated patients to music: a pilot study," *Am. J. Crit. Care*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 233–238, May 1995, doi: 10.4037/ajcc1995.4.3.233.
- [192] S. Feng and G. Bidelman, "Music familiarity modulates mind wandering during lexical processing," *Cogn. Sci.*, 2015.
- [193] C. H. Huang, "Exploring the continuous usage intention of online learning platforms from the perspective of social capital," *Inf.*, vol. 12, no. 4, 2021, doi: 10.3390/info12040141.
- [194] F. Drozd, T. Lehto, and H. Oinas-Kukkonen, "Exploring Perceived Persuasiveness of a Behavior Change Support System: A Structural Model," *Lect. Notes Comput. Sci. (including Subser. Lect. Notes Artif. Intell. Lect. Notes Bioinformatics)*, vol. 7284 LNCS, pp. 157–168, 2012, doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-31037-9\_14.

# **APPENDICES**

### Appendix A: Recruitment Notice

**Study Title:** SmileApp: Persuasive technology in promoting smiling and eliciting a positive mood. **Lead Researcher:** Joseph Ufiem Orji, Master of Computer Science, Faculty of Computer Science, Dalhousie University

Academic supervisor: Dr. Rita Orji, Faculty of Computer Science, Dalhousie University Contact Person: Joseph Ufiem Orji, joseph.orji@dal.ca

Hi, I am a Master's student at Dalhousie University. You are invited to participate in my study to evaluate the impact of technology on promoting people to smile more. The world of today is full of stressors, and we are seeking a solution to a ubiquitous approach in fighting off stress through technology. Hence, your participation is very much appreciated.

The study will contribute to the research area of Persuasive Technology for Healthy Behavior Change and you can help us make this happen. To participate in this study, you have to:

- 1. Be 18 years or older: This is to allow independent consent for participation.
- 2. Be proficient in the English language: The SmileApp and measurement instruments are designed in English. Hence, the ability to read and write in the English language is a criterion to be part of the study
- 3. Have access to a smartphone: The SmileApp is a mobile app. Hence, every participant should have access to a smartphone (android or iOS).
- 4. Have access to the internet: Participants should have access to the internet to respond to the surveys which will be completed online.

In this study, you will be using our newly developed app for 2 week which involves the following activities:

- Sustaining a smile for a short period (at least 20 seconds daily)
- Sharing empathic and supportive messages with other users
- Unlocking supportive messages from the app daily with a smile

• Interacting with an artificial intelligence (AI) bot and giving feedback on how happy that made you feel

After the 14<sup>th</sup> day, you will be expected to fill in questionnaires about your experience with the app. The app will not request any personal details. All data will be de-identified and handled with utmost confidentiality. You can also choose to participate in an optional interview (approximately 40 minutes) after the 2 weeks. This study is totally voluntary, and you can withdraw at any point without any form of penalty or providing an explanation to the research team.

The entire study will take a total of 203 minutes (approximately 3 hours) within two weeks as follows:

Part 1: Pre-study questionnaire -- this is the consent from and the demographics questionnaire which will take approximately 24 minutes.

Part 2: App use -- this is the 2-week study where the participants use the app as often as possible each day to meet the target (which is supporting other users who needs empathic messages and smile cumulatively for approximately 5mins). This will take a total of 90 minutes within the two weeks of this study.

Part 3: Post-study questionnaire – this will take approximately 39 minutes.

Part 4: Optional interview. This will take 50 minutes.

Each participant will be compensated whether or not they complete the study will receive a \$10.00 Amazon gift card or its equivalent (which may be Starbucks gift card, MTN card for participants in Nigeria or any \$10 worth gift that can be given to participant) as compensation for their time. This compensation is for the entire study (including the optional interviews). Participants won't incur any expenses for participation.

Please feel free to contact Joseph Orji (joseph.orji@dal.ca) if you have any questions about the study.

If you have any ethical concerns about your participation in this research, you may also contact Research Ethics, Dalhousie University at (902) 494-1462, or email: <u>ethics@dal.ca</u> and reference REB file: 2023-6481

If you are interested in participating in this study, kindly click on this link: [link to screening question].

APPENDIX B - Consent Form for the Survey



**Project title:** SmileApp: Persuasive technology in promoting smiling and eliciting a positive mood.

Lead researcher: Joseph Ufiem Orji, a graduate student at the Faculty of Computer Science, Dalhousie University.

Contact Information: Joseph Ufiem Orji, joseph.orji@dal.ca)

Supervisor: Dr. Rita Orji, Faculty of Computer Science, Dalhousie University, rita.orji@dal.ca

#### Introduction

We invite you to participate in a research project being done by Joseph Orji, a Dalhousie University master's student. Participation in this study is entirely voluntary. It's possible that participating in the study you will learn something that will help others, but it's also possible that it will not benefit you. The following information explains what the research entails, what you'll be asked to perform, and any benefits, risks, inconvenience, or discomfort you could encounter. Please contact the lead researcher (Joseph Orji, joseph.orji@dal.ca) if you have any queries afterwards.

#### Purpose and Outline of the Research Study

The purpose of this study is to design and implement a mobile application that will help fight off stress by promoting smiles and positive moods leveraging artificial intelligence (AI), gamification and social interaction. The study may contribute to the research area of Persuasive Technology for Healthy Behavior Change, health, and wellness. To achieve this, you will be asked to explore a mobile app (SmileApp) which involves the following activities for 14 days:

- Sustaining smile for a short (at least 20 seconds daily)
- Sharing empathic and supportive messages with other users
- Unlocking supportive messages from the app daily with a smile

• Interacting with an artificial intelligence (AI) bot and giving feedback on how happy that made you feel

After the 14-day period, you will be asked to respond to the post-study questionnaire (which will take approximately 39 minutes) regarding your experience with using the app. If you would like to be contacted for an interview to provide additional feedback, you can indicate by checking a box on the questionnaire provided and you will be contacted by the lead researcher with more information via the email address you provided.

The entire study will take a total time of 203 minutes (approximately 3 hours) within two weeks as broken down below:

Part 1: Pre-study questionnaire -- this is the consent from and the demographics questionnaire which will take approximately 24 minutes.

Part 2: App use -- this is the 2-week study where the participants use the app as often as possible each day to meet the target (which is supporting other users who needs empathic messages and smile cumulatively for approximately 5mins). This will take a total of 90 minutes within the two weeks of this study.

Part 3: Post-study questionnaire – this will take approximately 39 minutes.

Part 4: Optional Interview. This will take 50 minutes.

The interview is optional. You may decide to be part of the study and not participate in the interview. If you are interested in the interview and opted for it, you will be asked to fill in a separate consent form for the interview.

#### Who Can Take Part in the Research Study

To participate in this study, you must be 18 years and above, have access to an Android or iOS smartphone and access to the internet. You should also be able to read and write English, and have a device that is compatible with the Microsoft Teams app.

#### **Possible Benefits, Risks and Discomforts**

There are no known risks associated with participating in this study, as the research team will ensure all communication are empathic and not offensive before they are delivered to participants by discarding any potential offensive message.

The chatbot used in this study is trained to generate positive messages only, it is not any form of expert system for health purposes and should not be expected to give any recommendation for any health related issues. The chatbots is strictly a form of companion, just like a "friend next door". It (the chatbot) will not initiate conversation on its own but only respond to user's input, hence it is unlikely to discuss sensitive topics. You can stop the use of the chatbot at any time or decide not to use it at all and use other features as it is not mandatory to use this chatbots as a participant. Always know that you can reach out to the research team at any time.

This study does not collect personally identifiable data except email address for which will be used to invite participants who opted for the optional interview and also to give the compensation to all participants. Only the lead researcher has access to email addresses and does not have plans to share it with anyone because it is for the purpose of contacting participants who opted for the optional interview and will be used to inform participants that the results are ready if they are interested in reading about it.

You may gain new ideas about designing mHealth apps. An indirect benefit is that you would be contributing to new knowledge that would help design better mHealth apps.

The researchers will use their Dalhousie University credentials for the Microsoft Teams meeting, which will ensure that the Teams meeting recordings are securely stored in Canada. During the live Teams meeting, audio and video content is routed through the United States, and therefore may be subject to monitoring without notice, under the provisions of the US Patriot Act while the meeting is in progress. After the meeting is complete, meeting recordings made by Dalhousie are stored in Canada and are inaccessible to US authorities.

#### **Use of Quote**

In this study, your quote may be used fully de-identified, without citing you because all participants are anonymous, and participant's data are not linked to them.

#### **Compensation / Reimbursement**

Each participant will be compensated whether or not they complete the study will receive a \$10.00 Amazon gift card or its equivalent (which may be Starbucks gift card, MTN card for participants in Nigeria or any \$10 worth gift that can be given to participant) as compensation for their time. This compensation is for the entire study (including the optional interviews). Participants won't incur any expenses for participation.

#### How your information will be protected:

Your responses to the survey will be anonymous. This means that there are no questions in the study that ask for identifying details such as your name. All responses will be saved on a secure Dalhousie server and password-protected computers to be used for analysis. Only the lead researcher and supervisor (i.e., Joseph Orji and Dr. Rita Orji) will have access to the data (including your email-id). The collected data would be retained for the period until the data is analyzed, and results are shared in conferences or journal publications. The lead researcher (i.e., Joseph Orji) will destroy all the survey responses and information 5 months after reporting the results. During the study, your voice, or the information you provide might be identifiable only by the researcher and such identifiable information would not be disclosed.

All data will be store on Dalhousie Server, the app data stored in AWS Canada will be moved (and deleted from AWS) to OneDrive immediately participants completes the 14 days.

#### If You Decide to Stop Participating

If you wish to stop participating, at any point, you can do so by closing the browser. Incomplete responses will not be included in the study.

#### How to Obtain Results

We plan to disseminate this result by publications and also, aggregated data (in form of statistics) might be published in the Persuasive Computing Lab website (www.pcl.cs.dal.ca), and everyone can access it. Participants can find out by reading this publication. The lead researcher will send out an email broadcast with a link to the publication to all participants.

#### **Non-Abusive communication**

By consenting, you agree to share only empathic, supportive and none-offensive message to participants. If you send any abusive or offensive comments to other users, the research team is at liberty to remove you from the study.

### Questions

We are happy to answer any question you may have as regards to your participation in this research study. Kindly contact Joseph Orji (joseph.orji@dal.ca) at any time with questions, comments, or concerns about the research study. If you have any ethical concerns about your participation in this research, you may also contact Research Ethics, Dalhousie University at (902) 494-1462, or email: <a href="mailto:ethics@dal.ca">ethics@dal.ca</a> and reference REB file: 2023-6481

### Signature

I have read the explanation about this study. I have been given the opportunity to discuss it and my questions have been answered to my satisfaction. I understand that I have been asked to complete the survey at any time of my choice. I understand that my responses may be used for research purpose without revealing my identity.

I agree to take part in this study. My participation is voluntary, and I understand that I am free to not complete the survey if I choose. I also understand and agree that my quotes will be used fully de-identified without citing me."

I Consent 🔵 Yes 🌒 No

Email\_\_\_\_\_

### APPENDIX C: Consent Form For The Optional One-On-One Interview

# DALHOUSIE UNIVERSITY

**Project title:** SmileApp: Persuasive technology in promoting smiling and eliciting a positive mood.

Lead researcher: Joseph Ufiem Orji, a graduate student at the Faculty of Computer Science, Dalhousie University.

Contact Information: Joseph Ufiem Orji joseph.orji@dal.ca (+1-9024027821)

Supervisor: Dr. Rita Orji, Faculty of Computer Science, Dalhousie University, rita.orji@dal.ca

#### **Co-Investigator:**

#### Introduction

We invite you to participate in a research project being done by Joseph Orji, a Dalhousie University master's student. Participation in thesis study is entirely voluntary. It's possible that participating in the study will learn something that will help others, but it's also possible that it will not benefit you. The following information explains what the research entails, what you'll be asked to perform, and any benefits, risks, inconvenience, or discomfort you could encounter. You should talk to Joseph about any questions you have concerning this study, and you are welcome to ask as many questions as you like. Please contact the lead researcher or co-investigator if you have any queries afterwards.

#### Purpose and Outline of the Research Study

The purpose of this study is to design and implement a mobile application that will help fight off stress by promoting smiles and positive moods leveraging artificial intelligence (AI), gamification and social interaction. The study may contribute to the research area of Persuasive Technology for Healthy Behavior Change, health, and wellness. To achieve this, you will be asked to explore a mobile app (SmileApp) and answer a series of questions based on your perception of the app in an interview which will be conducted on Microsoft teams. This interview will last about 30 minutes and questions will be on your view about the app and how it helped improve your emotions and manage stress. You are expected to stay in a quiet place where no one can hear you for this interview to ensure the privacy of your responses. There will be no right or wrong answer, what you think about the app is all we will be interested to know and any possible recommendation.

#### Who Can Take Part in the Research Study

To participate in this study, you must be 18 years and above, have completed the app study. You should and have a device that is compatible with Microsoft Teams app

#### Possible Benefits, Risks and Discomforts

There is a possibility of feeling uncomfortable during this interview. Always know that you are at liberty to opt out of the interview at any point and participants are not under any obligation to answer any question or share any detail they are not comfortable with.

There may be a risk of data security due to the use of virtual software and security vulnerability of the networks. Participants are advised to use a secure network during the interview and stay in a quiet place where no one can eavesdrop on the interview.

You may gain new ideas about designing mHealth apps. An indirect benefit is that you would be contributing to new knowledge that would help design better mHealth apps.

The researchers will use their Dalhousie University credentials for the Microsoft Teams meeting, which will ensure that the Teams meeting recordings are securely stored in Canada. During the live Teams meeting, audio and video content is routed through the United States, and therefore may be subject to monitoring without notice, under the provisions of the US Patriot Act while the meeting is in progress. After the meeting is complete, meeting recordings made by Dalhousie are stored in Canada and are inaccessible to US authorities. If your local law does not permit this, you may want to opt out of the optional interview.

#### **Use of Quote**

In this study, your quote may be used fully de-identified, without citing you because all participants are anonymous, and participant's data are not linked to them.

#### **Compensation / Reimbursement**

There will be no additional compensation for this interview as all participants of this study will only receive a \$10.00 Amazon gift card or its equivalent as compensation for their time whether they participate in the optional interview or not.

#### How your information will be protected:

No participant's identifiable detail like name, address or telephone number will be collected, only email address will be needed to invite the participant to the interview. Only the lead researcher who will be sending out the invite will have access to participant's email addresses, and this (the email address) will be discarded immediately after the interview is conducted.

The researchers will use their Dalhousie University credentials for the Microsoft Teams meeting, which will ensure that the Teams meeting recordings are securely stored in Canada. During the live Teams meeting, audio and video content is routed through the United States, and therefore may be subject to monitoring without notice, under the provisions of the US Patriot Act while the meeting is in progress. After the meeting is complete, meeting recordings made by Dalhousie are stored in Canada and are inaccessible to US authorities.

#### If You Decide to Stop Participating

You are at liberty to stop participating at any point, however, if the analysis has started, participant may not be able to withdraw from the study at that point, which is about two weeks after the study.

#### How to Obtain Results

The lead researcher will send a broadcast email to participants informing them of the result or any publication from the study. Also, details might be published in the Persuasive Computing Lab website (<u>www.pcl.cs.dal.ca</u>) and everyone can access it. Also, if the work is published in any academic venue, participants can also access it from there.

Raw data will not be presented in the publications, except de-identified quoted texts.

#### Questions

We are happy to answer any question you may have as regards to your participation in this research study. Kindly contact Joseph Orji (joseph.orji@dal.ca) at any time with questions, comments, or concerns about the research study. If you have any ethical concerns about your participation in this research, you may also contact Research Ethics, Dalhousie University at (902) 494-1462, or email: <a href="mailto:ethics@dal.ca">ethics@dal.ca</a> and reference REB file # 2023-6481

#### Signature

"I have read the explanation about this study. I have been given the opportunity to discuss it and my questions have been answered to my satisfaction. I hereby consent to take part in the study. However, I understand that my participation is voluntary and that I am free to withdraw from the study at any time. I also understand and agree that my quotes will be used fully de-identified without citing me."

#### Participant

I Consent ; Yes ; No

Email Address:

Thank you.

# Appendix D : Demographic Questionnaire

- Choose your age group
- O 18-25 years
- O 26-35 years
- O 36-45 years
- O Over 46 years
- O Prefer not to answer
  - Choose your gender:
- O Man
- O <sub>Woman</sub>
- O Prefer to self-describe
- O Prefer not to answer
  - What is the highest level of education you have completed?
- $\bigcirc$  Less than high school
- O High school graduate
- O College diploma
- O Bachelor's degree
- O Master's degree
- O Doctorate degree
- O Prefer not to answer

Other:

**Appendix E:** Oxford Happiness Questionnaire (OHQ) [145] (Happiness measurement scale) On a scale of 1 - 6 (1 = strongly disagree, 6 = strongly agree), please indicate your level of agreement with each of the following statements.

1. I don't feel particularly pleased with the way I am

1	2	3	4	5	6
Stro	ngly				Strongly
Disa	gree				Agree

2. I am intensely interested in other people

1	2	3	4	5	6
Stro	ngly				Strongly
Disa	agree				Agree

3. I feel that life is very rewarding

1	2	3	4	5	6
Stro	ngly				Strongly
Disa	igree				Agree

4. I have very warm feelings toward almost everyone 1 2 3 4 5 6

•	-	2	•	U	0
Strong	gly				Strongly
Disag	ree				Agree

5. I find most things amusing

1	2	3	4	5	6
Stro	ngly				Strongly
Disa	agree				Agree

6. Life is good

1	2	3	4	5	6
Stron	gly				Strongly

		Disagr	ree				Agree
7.	I do no	ot think	that the	world	is a goo	d plac	ce
		1	2	3	4	5	6
		Strong	gly				Strongly
		Disagr	ee				Agree
8.	I laugh	n a lot	2	2	4	5	6
		l ~	2	3	4	3	6
		Strong	,ly				Strongly
		Disagr	ee				Agree
_							
9.	I am v	ery hap	ру 2	3	4	5	6
		Strong	- lv	5	·	5	Strongly
		Disagr	,1y				Agree
		Disagi					Agree
10	. I find l	beauty i	n some	things			
		1	2	3	4	5	6
		Strong	,ly				Strongly
		Disagr	ee				Agree
11	Lalway	vs have	a cheer	ful effe	ct on of	hers	
11.	. 1 01 11 0	1	2	3	4	5	6
		Strong	,ly				Strongly
		Disagr	ee				Agree
12	. I often	experie	ence joy	and ela	ation		
		1	2	3	4	5	6
		Strong	gly				Strongly
		Disagr	ree				Agree
						15	2

13. I feel I have a great deal of energy

1	2	3	4	5	6
Stro	ngly				Strongly
Disa	gree				Agree

# 14. I do not have fun with other people

1	2	3	4	5	6
Stror	ngly				Strongly
Disa	gree				Agree
Agre	e				

# Appendix F: Social Connectedness Scale [146]

For each of the following statements, please indicate your level of agreement, using the following scale:

1	2		3		4	5	6
Agree							Disagree
1.	I feel discor	nnected fro	om the w	vorld a	round me.		
	1 2	3	4	5	6		
	Agree				Disagree		
2.	Even around	d neonle I	know. I	don't	feel that I real	ly belong	
2.	1 2	3	4	5	6	ly oelong	
	Agree	-		-	Disagree		
3.	I feel so dist	tant from r	people		8_		
01	1 2	3	4	5	6		
	Agree				Disagree		
4.	I have no se	nse of tog	ethernes	s with	mv peers.		
	1 2	3	4	5	6		
	Agree				Disagree		
5.	I don't feel	related to a	anyone		U		
	1 2	3	4	5	6		
	Agree				Disagree		
6.	I catch myse	elf losing a	all sense	ofco	nnectedness w	ith society	
	1 2	3	4	5	6	2	
	Agree				Disagree		
7.	Even among	g my friend	ds, there	e is no	sense of broth	er/sisterhood	l.
	1 2	3	4	5	6		
	Agree				Disagree		
8.	I don't feel	I participa	te with a	anyon	e or any group		
	1 2	3	4	5	6		
	Agree				Disagree		

# Appendix G: Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS-SF) [147]

For each of the following statements, please indicate to what extent it affects you, using the following scale:

Indicate the extent you have	Very slightly or			Quite a	_
felt this way over the past	not at all	A little	Moderately	bit	Extremely
week	1	2	3	4	5
Interested					
Distressed					
Excited					
Upset					
Strong					
Guilty					
Scared					
Hostile					
Enthusiastic					
Proud					
Irritable					
Alert					
Ashamed					
Inspired					
155nervous					
Determined					
Attentive					
Jittery					
Active					
Afraid					

#### Appendix H: System Usability Scale (SUS) [139]

On a scale of 1 -5 (1 = strongly disagree, 5 = strongly agree), please indicate your level of agreement with each of the following statements.

1. I think that I would like to use this app frequently.

1	2	3	4	5
Stror	ngly			Strongly
Disag	gree			Agree

2. I found the app unnecessarily complex.

1	2	3	4	5
Stro	ngly			Strongly
Disa	gree			Agree

3. I thought the app was easy to use.

1	2	3	4	5
Stroi	ngly			Strongly
Disa	gree			Agree

4. I think that I would need the support of a technical person to be able to use this app.

1	2	3	4	5
Strong	gly			Strongly
Disag	ree			Agree

5. I found the various functions in this app were well integrated.

1	2	3	4	5
Stro	ngly			Strongly
Disa	gree			Agree

6. I thought there was too much inconsistency in this app.

1	2	3	4	5
Stro	ngly			Strongly

		Disagr	·ee			Agree
7.	7. I would imagine that most people would learn to use this app very quickly.					
		1	2	3	4	5
		Strong	;ly			Strongly
		Disagr	ee			Agree
8.	I found the ap	p very o	cumbers	some/av	vkward	to use.
		1	2	3	4	5
		Strong	;ly			Strongly
		Disagr	·ee			Agree
9.	I felt very con	fident u	ising the	e app.		
		1	2	3	4	5
		Strong	jly.			Strongly
		Disagr	ee			Agree
10.	I needed to lea	arn a lot	t of thin	gs befor	re I cou	ld get going with this app.
		1	2	3	4	5
	Strongly Strongly				Strongly	
		Disagr	ee			Agree
Please	Please share your opinion or comments below:					
11. Are the icons and labels clear? Please expand.						
12.	Is the interacti	on logi	cal? Ple	ase exp	and.	

13. Are the colours appropriate? Please expand

14. Do you have any suggestions for improving the app?

#### **Appendix I:** User Engagement Scale (UES-SF) Short form [148]

On a scale of 1-5 (1 = strongly disagree, 2 = disagree, 3 = neutral, 4 = agree, 5 = strongly agree), please indicate your level of agreement with each of the following statements.

1. I lost myself in this experience.

1	2	3	4	5
Stro	ngly			Strongly
Disa	agree			Agree

2. The time I spent using the SmileApp just slipped away.  $1 \qquad 2 \qquad 3 \qquad 4 \qquad 5$ 

1	2	5	т	5	
Stro	ngly			Strongly	

Disagree Agree

3. I was absorbed in this experience.

1	2	3	4	5
Strongly				Strongly
Disag	ree			Agree

4. I felt frustrated while using the SmileApp.

1	2	3	4	5
Stro	ngly			Strongly
Disa	agree			Agree

5. I found the SmileApp confusing to use.

1	2	3	4	5
<b>C</b> 4	1			<b>C</b> 4

Strongly	Strongly
Disagree	Agree

6. Using the SmileApp was taxing.

1	2	3	4	5	
Stro	ngly			Strongl	y

- Disagree Agree
- 7. The SmileApp was attractive.

1	2	3	4	5
Stro	ngly			Strongly
Disa	agree			Agree

8.	The Sr	nileApp	was ae	sthetica	ılly ap	ppealing.
		1	2	3	4	5
		Strong	ly			Strongly
		Disagr	ee			Agree
9.	The Sr	nileApp	o appeal	ed to m	y sen	ses.
		1	2	3	4	5
		Strong	ly			Strongly
		Disagr	ee			Agree
10.	Using	SmileA	pp was	worthw	hile.	
		1	2	3	4	5
		Strong	ly			Strongly
		Disagr	ee			Agree
11.	My exp	perience	e was re	warding	g.	
		1	2	3	4	5
		Strong	ly			Strongly
		Disagr	ee			Agree
12.	I felt ir	ntereste	d in this	experie	ence.	
		1	2	3	4	5

1	2	5	т	5
Stroi	ngly			Strongly
Disa	gree			Agree

## Appendix J: Intrinsic Motivation Inventory (Value/Usefulness) [149]

For each of the following statements, please indicate how true it is for you, using the following scale:

1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
Not at	all		somew	hat		Very		
True			True			True		
I believ	ve that u	using th	e Smile	App co	uld be o	f some value to me.		
1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
Not at	all		somew	hat		Very		
True			True			True		
I think	that usi	ng this	SmileA	pp is us	eful to	improve my mood		
1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
Not at all so			somewhat			Very		
True			True			True		
I think	the Sm	ileApp	is impo	rtant to	do beca	use it can help improve my mood		
1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
Not at	all		somew	hat		Very		
True			True			Tru		
I would	d be wil	ling to	use the	SmileA	pp agai	n because it has some value to me.		
1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
Not at	all		somew	hat		Very		
True			True			True		

I think using the SmileApp could help me to fight off stress

1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Not at	all		somev	vhat		Very
True			True			True
I belie	eve using	g the Sr	nileApp	could	be bene	ficial to me.
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Not at all			somev	vhat	Very	
True			True			True
I think	c this is	an impo	ortant A	pp.		
1	2	3	4	5	6	7
Not at	all		somev	vhat		Very
True			True			True

#### **Appendix K :** Future intention questionnaire [193]

On a scale of 1 - 5 (1 = Won't, 2 = unlikely, 3 = neutral, 4 = likely, 5 = will), please indicate your level of willingness with each of the following statements.

If there is a need for eliciting positive mood in the future, I will use the SmileApp

1 2 3 4 5 Won't Will

In addition to necessary use in the future, I will also actively increase the frequency of use of SmileApp to elicit positive mood

1 2 3 4 5 Won't Will

I would suggest to others to use the SmileApp to elicit positive mood

1 2 3 4 5 Won't Will

# Appendix L: Persuasive Scale [194]

Disagree

On a scale of 1 - 7 (1 = strongly disagree, 7 = strongly agree), please indicate your level of agreement with each of the following statements.

1.	This app v	vould in	fluence r	ne to in	nprove 1	ny moo	d.
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Str	ongly					Strongly
	Di	sagree					Agree
2.	This app v	vould co	onvince n	ne to im	prove r	ny moo	d.
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Str	ongly					Strongly
	Di	sagree					Agree
3.	This app v	vould be	e persona	lly relev	vant to 1	me.	
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	Str	ongly					Strongly
	Di	sagree					Agree
4	This app v	vill mak	e me rec	onsider	my mo	od.	
4.	<b>1</b>						
4.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Agree

## Appendix M: Interview Questions Guide

- 1. How do you feel about your experience with the app?
- 2. What do you think about the app?
  - What were the positives?
  - What were the negatives?
- 3. Are there any specific features you like about the app? Why?
- 4. Are there any specific features you do not like about the app? Why?
- 5. Did you find this SmileApp useful? Why?
- 6. Do you have any recommendations for improving the app?
  - Do you have any suggestions for improving the content?
  - How about the Functionality?
- 7. Would you recommend the app to someone else? Why or why not?
- Do you feel socially supported using the SmileApp "myTribe" feature? If yes, why?
- 9. How easier was it for you to smile with the SmileApp?
- 10. Do you see yourself using the SmileApp after this study? Why or why not?
- 11. When do you feel most stressed?
  - What makes you stressed?
  - Where do you feel most stressed?
  - What time of day do you feel most stressed?
- 12. Do you have any other thoughts you would like to share about your experience of the app?

# Appendix N: Brief Mood Introspection Scale. [150]

How do you feel after using the app today?

	definitely do not	do not		slightly	definitely
I feel	feel	feel	NA	feel	feel
Lively					
Нарру					
Sad					
Tired					
Caring					
Content					
Gloomy (feeling distressed)					
Jittery (nervous)					
Drowsy (half asleep)					
Grouchy (irritable)					
Peppy (lively)					
Nervous					
Calm					
Loving					
Fed up					
Active					

### Appendix O: Social Media recruitment Material


# Appendix P: Screening Questions

- [1] I own a smartphone
- [2] I have access to the internet
- [3] I am over 18 years old
- [4] I am proficient in the English language

## Appendix Q: MyTribe Feature





## Appendix R: SmileGram Feature





## Appendix S: PocketBuddy Feature



# Appendix T: Feature Rating



## Appendix U: Features Instructions

Below are the user instruction for SmileGram, MyTribe and PocketBuddy features.









## Appendix V: Ethics Approval



Social Sciences & Humanities Research Ethics Board Letter of Approval

February 16, 2023 Joseph Ufiem Orji Computer Science\Computer Science

Dear Joseph Ufiem,

REB #:2023-6481Project Title:SmileApp: Persuasive technology in promoting smiling and eliciting a positivemood.

Effective Date:	February 16, 2023
Expiry Date:	February 16, 2024

The Social Sciences & Humanities Research Ethics Board has reviewed your application for research involving humans and found the proposed research to be in accordance with the Tri-Council Policy Statement on *Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans*. This approval will be in effect for 12 months as indicated above. This approval is subject to the conditions listed below which constitute your on-going responsibilities with respect to the ethical conduct of this research.

Sincerely,

Dr. Megan Bailey Chair, Social Sciences and Humanities Research Ethics Board Dalhousie University

#### Post REB Approval: On-going Responsibilities of Researchers

After receiving ethical approval for the conduct of research involving humans, there are several ongoing responsibilities that researchers must meet to remain in compliance with University and Tri-Council policies.

#### 1. Additional Research Ethics approval

Prior to conducting any research, researchers must ensure that all required research ethics approvals are secured (in addition to Dalhousie approval). This includes, but is not limited to, securing appropriate research ethics approvals from: other institutions with whom the PI is affiliated; the institutions of research team members; the institution at which participants may be recruited or from which data may be collected; organizations or groups (e.g. school boards, Indigenous communities, correctional services, long-term care facilities, service agencies and community groups) and from any other responsible review body or bodies at the research site.

#### 2. Reporting adverse events

Any significant adverse events experienced by research participants must be reported **in writing** to Research Ethics **within 24 hours** of their occurrence. Examples of what might be considered "significant" include: a negative physical reaction by a participant (e.g. fainting, nausea, unexpected pain, allergic reaction), an emotional breakdown of a participant during an interview, report by a participant of some sort of negative repercussion from their participation (e.g. reaction of spouse or employer) or complaint by a participant with respect to their participation, report of neglect or abuse of a child or adult in need of protection, or a privacy breach. The above list is indicative but not all-inclusive. The written report must include details of the situation and actions taken (or proposed) by the researcher in response to the incident.

3. Seeking approval for changes to research

Prior to implementing any changes to your research plan, whether to the risk assessment, methods, analysis, study instruments or recruitment/consent material, researchers must submit them to the Research Ethics Board for review and approval. This is done by completing the amendment request process (described on the website) and submitting an updated ethics submission that includes and explains the proposed changes. Please note that reviews are not conducted in August.

### 4. Continuing ethical review - annual reports

Research involving humans is subject to continuing REB review and oversight. REB approvals are valid for up to 12 months at a time (per the Tri-Council Policy Statement (TCPS) article 6.14). Prior to the REB approval expiry date, researchers may apply to extend REB approval by completing an Annual Report (available on the website). The report should be submitted 3 weeks in advance of the REB approval expiry date to allow time for REB review and to prevent a lapse of ethics approval for the research. Researchers should note that no research involving humans may be conducted in the absence of a valid ethical approval and that allowing REB approval to lapse is a violation of the

University Scholarly Misconduct Policy, inconsistent with the TCPS and may result in the suspension of research and research funding, as required by the funding agency.

5. Final review - final reports

When the researcher is confident that all research-related interventions or interactions with participants have been completed (for prospective research) and/or that all data acquisition is complete, there will be no further access to participant records or collection of biological materials (for secondary use of information research), a Final Report (available on the website) must be submitted to Research Ethics. After review and acknowledgement of the Final Report, the Research Ethics file will be closed.

6. Retaining records in a secure manner

Researchers must ensure that records and data associated with their research are managed consistent with their approved research plans both during and after the project. Research information must be confidentially and securely retained and/or disposed of in such a manner as to comply with confidentiality provisions specified in the protocol and consent forms. This may involve destruction of the records, or continued arrangements for secure storage.

It is the researcher's responsibility to keep a copy of the REB approval letters. This can be important to demonstrate that research was undertaken with Board approval. Please note that the University will securely store your REB project file for 5 years after the REB approval end date at which point the file records may be permanently destroyed.

7. Current contact information and university affiliation

The lead researchers must inform the Research Ethics office of any changes to contact information for the PI (and supervisor, if appropriate), especially the electronic mail address, for the duration of the REB approval. The PI must inform Research Ethics if there is a termination or interruption of their affiliation with Dalhousie University.

8. Legal Counsel

The Principal Investigator agrees to comply with all legislative and regulatory requirements that apply to the project. The Principal Investigator agrees to notify the University Legal Counsel office in the event that they receive a notice of non-compliance, complaint or other proceeding relating to such requirements.

### 9. Supervision of students

Faculty must ensure that students conducting research under their supervision are aware of their responsibilities as described above and have adequate support to conduct their research in a safe and ethical manner.